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About our annual report
This report is produced in response to the NHS England requirements as published in the
Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2017-18.
The structure closely follows that outlined in the guidance and includes three core sections:
• The Performance Report - including an overview, performance analysis and
performance measures
• The Accountability Report - including the members report, corporate governance
report, annual governance statement, remuneration and staff report
• Annual Accounts
Please note that during 2017-18, NHS Leeds North, NHS Leeds South and East
and NHS Leeds West CCGs worked as a partnership in preparation for becoming a
single organisation on 1 April 2018. Each CCG annual report reflects this city wide
focus but also includes specific information and data, where relevant.
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Chair and chief executive’s foreword
When writing this foreword, three words
came to mind that summarise some of the
key developments in the last 12 months –
challenges, co-operation and change.

We are immensely proud of the relationships
that the three CCGs have been developing with
our member practices which resulted in positive
feedback on the merger, with an expectation
that we will not lose the locality level work we
have been doing. We are confident that with
their support we can continue to deliver local,
neighbourhood level services where appropriate,
as well as ensuring we commission the best
possible citywide services.

You will notice that our foreword for the
three annual reports of the Leeds clinical
commissioning groups is the same. This is
because, although we are three statutory
bodies until 31 March 2018, we have been
operating as a single entity called NHS Leeds
Clinical Commissioning Groups Partnership. This
is the only year we will be reporting back as a
partnership.

As part of this commitment we will be working
with the city’s three GP federations to ensure we
can prepare the ground for future commissioning
challenges as well as addressing the issues
around effective service delivery.

On 1 April 2018, NHS Leeds North Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG), NHS Leeds South
and East CCG and NHS Leeds West CCG will
merge to create a single CCG for Leeds. The new
organisation will be named NHS Leeds Clinical
Commissioning Group.

We would like to reflect on the work we have
been doing in partnership with our member
practices to prepare the ground for future locality
working. In north Leeds, a group of practices
in the Chapeltown area have been working
on a scheme that sees community champions
providing a link between GP practices and the
local community. In south and east Leeds we
have been setting up projects in the Beeston and
Crossgates areas to tackle issues around isolation.
And in west Leeds we continue to work on a
community wellbeing programme in the Armley
area that sees us bring care closer to people’s
homes.

In 2017-18 we have been preparing ourselves
for the move to become a single organisation
covering the city of Leeds. Before we could do
this we had to undertake a robust application
process with NHS England and, as part of their
evidence, they needed to see support from our
GP member practices for the move. The proposal
to merge was strongly supported as a logical
next step to put us in a better position to drive
forward the changes needed to deliver the
resilient and sustainable NHS services that local
people need.

These projects, which are being led by our
member GP practices and the federations, are
supported by a level of co-operation that signals
a real change in the way we work with a range of
partners. This means patients can, or will, benefit
from services coming to them, for example
physiotherapists that can be accessed through GP
practices or mental health teams attending a GP
practice to provide support.

During the change process we have been
indebted to the dedication, patience and
sheer hard work our CCG staff have been
doing to allow us to meet our duties as clinical
commissioners. This has been a period of
significant change as our merger will also result
in all staff moving to a single office. We know
that this has meant that our colleagues will
have seen, or will see, a change in working
arrangements and all change processes come
with their own challenges – for individuals as well
as the organisation. We want to acknowledge
that their support during this transition has been
recognised and valued.

Furthermore we are working with Leeds City
Council’s adult social care teams to support more
people so they can continue to live independently
and minimise the need for hospital admission.
However, as we said at the start, there are
challenges around this, not least the well
documented financial constraints that health and
care systems are faced with.
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Work continues on the West Yorkshire and
Harrogate Health and Care Partnership. In the
past twelve months we have been focusing on
developing stroke services on a regional footprint,
as well as looking at how we can provide the
best possible cancer care services for people
living in our region.

While we are on the subject of co-operation
with our partners, we wanted to reflect on the
work we have been doing with the voluntary
and community sector (also referred to as the
‘third sector’). Our social prescribing projects
provide our GP practices with an opportunity to
refer people to non-medical, or ‘social’, support
services. These are often better placed to deal
with an individual’s underlying issues that lead
them to feeling unwell, for example, stress
caused by issues around debt management.

A significant development has been securing
funding to build a new £13million child and
adolescent mental health (CAMH) unit in Leeds.
The successful bid, led by Leeds Community
Health Care NHS Trust on behalf of the West
Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and Care
Partnership, will see a new purpose-built
specialist unit to support young people with
complex mental illness, for example severe
personality and eating disorders.

We have also been working with third sector
partners as part of our efforts to alleviate
winter pressures. This has meant working with
organisations such as Age UK Leeds, the British
Red Cross and Barca-Leeds to support quicker
discharge for patients who are medically fit to
leave hospital but might not have appropriate
care or support available at home.

Other areas of work include maternity,
urgent and emergency care and specialised
commissioning. Specialised services support
people with a range of rare and complex
conditions. They often involve treatments
provided to patients with rare cancers, genetic
disorders or complex medical or surgical
conditions. You can find out more on page 53.

This year has seen significant pressure on the
health system in Leeds which reflects the national
picture. We want to thank partners at Leeds
Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust, Leeds Community
Healthcare NHS Trust, Leeds and York Partnership
Foundation NHS Trust and Leeds City Council for
their ongoing efforts to reduce the pressures.

Before we conclude our foreword, when we
talk about co-operation, this extends to the way
we work with patients and the wider public.
Occasionally we hear criticism that engagement
exercises are ‘tokenistic’ gestures. We want to
reassure people that we take engaging the public
and patients seriously, that your feedback really
can make a difference, and we wanted to provide
an example of this.

While we acknowledge that meeting the four
hour target for A&E has proved to be extremely
challenging, we would like to thank all staff who
worked exceptionally hard, often going over and
above to ensure our patients receive the best
possible care. The level of co-operation among
all healthcare providers, including GP practices
and the Yorkshire Ambulance Service NHS Trust,
in the face of unprecedented demand cannot be
underestimated.

We had a great response from the local
community about a proposed plan affecting
Swillington medical practice. As a result of the
feedback we received, we changed our original
proposal so that a solution to deliver GP services
in the village was achievable. This is just one
example of how we have worked with patients
and the public; there are many more examples in
the section on page 22.

In 2017-18 we have seen a number of challenges
but also a number of achievements in cooperation with our partners. As a result we have
demonstrably been able to deliver against the 12
priorities of the Joint Leeds Health and Wellbeing
Strategy 2016-2021. You can find out more about
this on page 44.
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The coming year is a special one for the NHS as
we celebrate the 70th anniversary. While the
NHS has seen significant change since it was
first established in 1948, these changes have
resulted in better outcomes for patients. This has
seen significant improvements made in treating
conditions that would have been seen as terminal
in older age, such as cancer or heart disease,
through to world-class maternity care to give
children the best possible start in life.
Leeds has been at the heart of some of these
ground-breaking developments, such as
colleagues at Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust
performing the first ever double hand transplant.
Keep an eye out for activity taking place in Leeds
to celebrate the 70th anniversary where you will
get to hear more about the work the NHS has
done locally and what is in store for the future.
We know that we can work with each and
every one of you to develop an NHS that is fit
for the challenges we face in the next 70 years.
Thank you for your support; we look forward to
working with you in 2018-19.
Gordon & Phil
Dr Gordon Sinclair, Clinical Chair		
Philomena Corrigan, Chief Executive.
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1. Performance report - overview
1.1 Purpose of overview section

One area where Leeds is leading the way is in
our work to tackle antimicrobial resistance. In
response to growing concerns that overuse of
antibiotics and drug-resistant bugs mean that
currently treatable infections could kill in the
future, we are working with Leeds City Council,
local NHS trusts, private providers and the
University of Leeds on a stewardship strategy that
aims to make Leeds the city that’s making the
biggest impact on antibiotic resistance. As part of
that strategy, close work between our medicines
optimisation team and GPs has seen 98% of all
GP practices achieve their prescribing targets for
broad spectrum antibiotics. A CCG-led public
awareness campaign, Seriously Resistant https://seriouslyresistant.com - has received
national recognition.

Welcome to the 2017-18 annual report for NHS
Leeds North Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG).
The overview section of this report highlights
our approach and achievements during the year
ended 31 March 2018. It gives a snapshot of who
we are, what we do, the challenges we have
faced and what we have done as a result.

1.2 Statement from the chief
executive
The past year has presented the NHS and our
partner organisations with major challenges in
terms of meeting growing demands for health
and social care and the increasing costs of
commissioning those services.

We’ve also made considerable progress in
improving access to general practice. As a result
of additional investment, more than half of GP
surgeries in the city offer evening and weekend
appointments.

These challenges are not unique to NHS Leeds
North CCG, and we have worked together locally
and regionally to achieve the best outcomes for
local people.
Leeds is one of a number of areas in England
where separate clinical commissioning groups are
coming together to form single organisations.
Although the three Leeds CCGs were separate
statutory bodies until 31 March 2018, during
2017-18 we formally operated as a single entity
called NHS Leeds Clinical Commissioning Groups
Partnership, with a shared leadership team and
shared governance arrangements.

Leeds was not immune from the intense pressure
faced by the NHS, especially during the winter.
As people are getting older and in greater need
of support to leave hospital, bed occupancy rates
and length of stay increased, which led to delays
in A&E for patients needing beds. This resulted
in us being unable to achieve the four hour A&E
target to see and treat or discharge patients. Like
many areas we failed to hit the 95% four hour
wait target and our ambulance response times
have also fallen below the expected standard.

As we were working towards becoming a single
organisation, we established a process called One
Voice (please see below for more details). In full
consultation with members and staff, we created
a new single structure, with teams realigning and
starting to work as a single function throughout
the year; that is why the three CCG annual
reports are broadly similar this year.

The increase in demand has meant that
our providers had to cancel some planned
procedures, as advised by NHS England, in order
to maintain appropriate bed availability for the
unplanned admitted patients. As a result our
referral to treatment times target of 18 weeks
has narrowly been missed although we compare
favourably with the England average.

The merger process perhaps inevitably involves
uncertainty and change, but throughout, we
have been indebted to the support of our staff,
member practices and partner organisations,
including the local authority, providers and third
sector, and want to thank them for helping
ensure our strong performance during the year.

The CCG has a legal duty to involve patients
and once again I’m pleased with our efforts to
actively involve and engage patients and the
wider public. During the past year, we carried
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out a wide range of activities and events, from
programmes designed to help individuals better
manage their health and our first citywide network
for patient representatives, to initiatives to help
us better engage with ‘seldom heard’ groups and
consultations about changes to GP practices.
One area that I want to highlight is our work with
children and young people, who traditionally aren’t
the easiest group for organisations like ours to
engage with. Working with specialists in youth work,
young people in Leeds have helped us develop a
fantastic mental health resource called MindMate
- www.mindmate.org.uk - specifically for young
people, their families and the professionals who
support them. The website helps people explore
emotional wellbeing and mental health issues and
offers information about where support is available.
Insight and feedback from children, young people
and parents has been critical to developing the
project.
We also have a legal duty to tackle health
inequalities and again we’ve shown great progress in
doing this, in particular in the diagnosis of dementia,
where as a city, we’re performing well above the
NHS England target. NHS Leeds North CCG has
been rated ‘good’ for dementia care in the CCG
Improvement and Assessment Framework and are
continuing to improve the quality of the care plan
and annual review of dementia.
Over the coming years, the NHS will face real
pressure to deliver against the demands being placed
upon us. Our performance for 2017-18 shows that
despite this, our systems and, more importantly our
people, are ready to face these challenges head on.
While being mindful that we’ve missed some targets,
our overall performance has once again been strong.
As we move forward as a new, single organisation
for the city of Leeds, I fully expect us to maintain this
position in 2018-19 and beyond.
Philomena Corrigan
Chief Executive, NHS Leeds CCG
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1.3 The nature and purpose of our
organisation

of citywide joint committees to enable greater
co-ordination and integration of commissioning,
as well as committees in common where statute
requires (CCG Audit Committee, Remuneration
and Nomination Committee, and Primary Care
Commissioning Committee). Governing bodies
have continued to have statutory accountability
and be governed by respective constitutions. The
first set of meetings under these arrangements
took place in July 2017.

NHS Leeds North Clinical Commissioning Group
(CCG) has successfully completed its fifth year of
operation as a statutory body. The CCG is one
of three clinical commissioning groups which
together cover Leeds City Council’s boundaries.
The CCG’s commissioning activities are in line
with its statutory responsibilities as outlined in
the CCG’s Constitution.

Transitional leadership arrangements have
also been put in place, including a single chief
executive, a chief officer of system integration
and a single management executive leadership
team. A structured approach to staff consultation
with the broader organisation was undertaken to
develop the future commissioning model.

NHS Leeds North CCG is made up of 26 member
GP practices with just over 211,000 registered
patients, spread across a wide geographical area
from Roundhay and Chapeltown to Wetherby
and Otley.
We share the vision of the Leeds Health and
Wellbeing Strategy (2016-2021) that the people of
north Leeds:

The leadership team considered what strategic
commissioning functions should look like and
a separate, detailed people transition plan was
drafted. This began in April 2017 and staff have
been aligned to new roles where appropriate.

• Are involved in decisions made about them;
• Will live in healthy and sustainable
communities;

The CCGs, where acting in partnership, have used
the ‘brand’ NHS Leeds Clinical Commissioning
Groups Partnership, in line with the NHS Identity
guidelines.

• Experience a better quality of life;
• Live full, active and independent lives;
• Live longer and have healthier lives – ensuring
that people in North Leeds who are the
poorest improve their health the fastest.

Prior to the partnership arrangement, the three
Leeds CCGs operated a collaborative approach
towards commissioning, with NHS Leeds
North CCG leading on behalf of the city for the
negotiation, performance management and
reporting of all of informatics, mental health,
learning disabilities and urgent care services.
Together, we commission a range of services
for adults and children including community
health services, planned care, acute services,
NHS continuing care, mental health and learning
disability services.

Until 20 December 2017, the CCG operated from
single premises at Leafield House, 107-109 King
Lane, Leeds, LS17 5BP. After that date, as part of
the move to becoming a single organisation, staff
relocated to WIRA Business Park at Units B5-B9,
WIRA House, West Park Ring Road, Leeds, LS16
6EB.
2017-18 is the last year of operation for NHS
Leeds North CCG. In March 2017, the governing
bodies of the three Leeds CCGs approved
the ‘One Voice’ transitional governance
arrangements, which were subsequently
approved by the CCGs’ member practices and
NHS England. These streamline the historic
governance structures of the CCGs and include
an overarching joint board and the establishment

We co-commission GP primary care services with
NHS England and our two neighbouring Leeds
CCGs. We do not commission other primary
care services such as dental care, pharmacy
or optometry (opticians) which is done by
NHS England through their local area team
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Each year the CCG undertakes a planning process
that provides the key mechanism for ensuring our
plans are meeting our population’s needs and will
continue to do so within available resources. This
planning process is increasingly being undertaken
within the context of the development of wider
‘place based’ plans known as Sustainability
and Transformation Plans (STPs). The following
outlines our approach to the planning process
below.

more commonly referred to as NHS England
(West Yorkshire). NHS England also has the
responsibility for commissioning specialised
services such as kidney care.
The following healthcare providers / areas of
spending cover 90% of the CCG’s commissioning
budget:
£m
Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust

98

Harrogate & District Foundation Trust

24

Spire

4

Yorkshire Ambulance Services NHS Trust

8

PTS/111 and WYUC

3

a) Development of local planning priorities
framework: Our Governing Body review:

Leeds & York Partnership NHS Foundation Trust

22

• National standard requirements (e.g. NHS
Constitution and NHS Mandate) and our
performance against those standards;

Leeds Community Healthcare

23

• Delivery of national NHS planning priorities;

Prescribing recharges from the Prescription
Pricing Authority

30

Primary Care co-commissioning

27

• The health needs of our population
identified through the Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment (JSNA) and as agreed through
the Joint Leeds Health and Wellbeing
Strategy;

Better Care Fund (Leeds City Council)

4

Continuing Healthcare

9

Funded Nursing Care

3

Mental Health Learning Disabilities

6

Main Areas of Commissioned Spend

260

Other Smaller Contracts
Total Net Commissioning Spend
(Programme Budget)

• Priorities for health and services identified by
our clinicians, patients and the public; and
• Priorities identified through working with
wider Leeds and West Yorkshire Health and
Care Partnership.

30
290

b) Review of impact of existing
transformation and service change
programmes: The CCG and partners have
a number of ongoing programmes of work.
Each year we review whether these existing
programmes and other initiatives are helping
to deliver our priorities and ensure that they
will continue to do so. If we feel this is not the
case we outline actions/changes required to
rectify this. Increasingly these transformation
plans include those developed within the
West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and
Care Partnership (formerly Sustainability
Transformation Partnership) and Leeds Plan.

A full list of contracts with providers is available
on request. There have been no significant
changes to services contracted by the CCG during
2017-18.

1.4 Our business model
The CCG is responsible for the strategic planning,
procurement (contracting), monitoring and
evaluation of the performance of a prescribed set
of services that are delivered by a range of NHS,
independent and third sector health and care
providers in order to meet the needs of our local
population.

c) Investment planning: Development of
investment proposals for new initiatives that
will support the CCGs and citywide priorities.

These services provide a range of hospital
treatments, rehabilitation services, urgent and
emergency care, community health services,
mental health and learning disability services.
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Quality of care

d) Agree investment profile: Prioritising
investments to ensure we target any available
resources at those initiatives that will have the
greatest impact on delivering our priorities.

People’s health and wellbeing needs are changing
and so the way health and care services are
delivered needs to change to meet them. People
are living for longer and with more long-term
conditions, meaning people need a wider range
of care from different sources over a longer
period of time. The traditional divide between
primary care, community services and hospitals
needs to be removed so that people can more
easily access services that care for all their needs.
We also need to focus on prevention and early
intervention.

e) Sign off: The Governing Body formally signs
off our plans on the basis that the plans
will deliver both our service and financial
objectives.
This process allows us to agree our service
development and investment programme for the
coming year and potentially over the strategic
timeframe.

1.5 Our strategy

Financial

We continue to pursue ambitious plans so that
we can help improve the health of our local
communities; our priorities reflect those of the
Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy (20162021), the Leeds Plan and the West Yorkshire and
Harrogate Health and Care Partnership.

Our system-wide challenge is that our health
services are not affordable in their current form
in the longer term. We need to work together
with our residents and patients, our local health
and social care providers and commissioning
colleagues. This will help us transform local
services so that we can maintain and improve the
quality of services, changing them to meet the
developing needs of our population.

Our collective ambition for Leeds is that:
1. People will live longer and have healthier lives
2. People will live full, active and independent
lives

To achieve our ambitions:
• We will work with people in Leeds to increase
people’s confidence to manage their own
health and wellbeing

3. People’s quality of life will be improved by
access to quality services
4. People will be actively involved in their health
and care

• We will focus our resources on improving
population health outcomes by changing the
way we work with our providers of care and
citizens of Leeds

5. People will live in healthy, safe and sustainable
communities
The three key challenges we must address reflect
those in the NHS Five Year Forward View.

• Through strategic commissioning and system
integration we will create the conditions for
health and care provision to be based around
local neighbourhoods

Health inequalities
We know that there are significant health
inequalities in our area. The life expectancy gap
between our most affluent and most deprived
areas of north Leeds is eight years. Those living in
our most deprived areas are much more likely to
develop cancer and cardiovascular diseases and
suffer from mental illness. Our challenge locally is
to close these gaps.

• We will continuously strive to reduce health
inequalities across our city
• Working with partners we will support a
greater focus on the wider determinants of
health
Throughout our annual report you’ll see examples
of how we are doing this.
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1.6 Financial performance
and outlook

the in-year required CCG surplus to £1.6m and
the total accumulated surplus to £10.2m which
equates to 3.4% of total in year resource, thus
meeting the planning requirements for 2017-18
from NHS England.

1.6.1 Financial performance during 2017-18
The financial duties of a CCG as set out by NHS
England are listed below. NHS Leeds North CCG
delivered all of these duties in 2017-18. Details of
how these were met can be found in the annual
accounts section.

Better Payment Practice Code
The Better Payment Practice Code requires that
all NHS organisations aim to pay all valid invoices
by the due date or within 30 days of receipt
of a valid invoice, whichever is later. We know
how important it is, particularly in the current
economic climate, that we pay suppliers of goods
and services promptly. Although the CCG has
not signed up to the Prompt Payments Code, our
performance in paying bills on time is excellent.

• Expenditure not to exceed the revenue
resource limit in any one year
• Expenditure not to exceed the capital resource
limit in any one year
• To remain within the cash limit in any one year
• To remain within the running costs target

Better Payment Practice Code Measure of Compliance

• To maintain a minimum of 1% recurrent
surplus
For the 2017-18 financial year, the CCG has
again contained expenditure within its in-year
resource allocation. As set out in the 2017-18
planning guidance, CCGs were required to hold
0.5% reserve (1.0% in 2016-17) from the start
of the year, created by setting aside the monies
CCGs were otherwise required to spend nonrecurrently. This was intended to be released
for investment in Five Year Forward View
transformation priorities, to the extent that
evidence emerged of risks not arising or being
effectively mitigated through other means.

2017-18

2017-18

Number

£’000

Total bills paid in the year

4,492

61,554

Total bills paid within target

4,425

61,352

% of bills paid within target

98.5%

99.7%

Total bills paid in the year

2,458

203,860

Total bills paid within target

2,452

203,854

% of bills paid within target

99.8%

100.0%

Non-NHS Creditors

NHS Creditors

In the event, the national provider sector has
been such that NHS England has been unable to
allow CCGs’ 0.5% non-recurrent monies to be
spent. Therefore to comply with this requirement,
NHS Leeds North CCG has released its 0.5%
(1.5% cumulative) reserve to the bottom line,
resulting in an additional surplus for the year of
£1.3m, taking the total cumulative contribution
to £4.0m. This additional surplus will be carried
forward for drawdown in future years

The BPPC requires the CCG to aim to pay 95% of
valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days
of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.
The CCG’s running cost envelope is set by NHS
England at £21.91 per head of the expected
population that the CCG will commission
healthcare services for. This resource is to cover
all aspects of the administration and running of
the CCG as a statutory body. The running cost
envelope for NHS Leeds North CCG for 2017-18
financial year was £4.4 million. The total actual
spend was £4.0 million.

The CCG has also released c£0.3m of resource
in connection with a national rebate related to
reductions in the reimbursement price for readily
available generic (category M) drugs. This takes
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The three Leeds CCGs have established
transitional joint management arrangements for
2017-18 ahead of the formal CCG merger which
took effect from the 1 April 2018. As a result of
these arrangements the majority of staff costs
and related non-pay expenditure have been
shared across the three CCGs.

It is therefore even more important that the CCG
continues to fully engage at strategic level in
partnership with Leeds City Council, NHS England
Specialised Commissioning and West Yorkshire
partner organisations to develop a joined up
approach to commissioning health care services
for the population of Leeds.

Better Care Fund
As part of the initial development of the
Better Care Fund (BCF) in Leeds, a partnership
agreement with Leeds City Council and the other
two Leeds CCGs (NHS Leeds West and Leeds
South and East CCGs) has been put in place that
describes the commissioning arrangements for a
range of health and social care services

The greatest challenge facing the CCG is to
continue to ensure that the population of Leeds
continue to benefit from the best and most
efficient use of the NHS resources allocated each
year.

1.7 Key issues and risks
The governing body assurance framework GBAF - is the key mechanism for identifying and
ensuring the management of risks affecting the
achievement of our strategic objectives. It draws
together the high level risks from a variety of
sources and enables the governing body to focus
on making sure that the impact of these risks
is minimised through appropriate management
action. The GBAF is supported by a risk register
that provides a local record of all potential or
actual organisational risks.

The two funds are hosted by either Leeds City
Council or one of the Leeds CCGs. The BCF
partnership agreement is based on the national
template developed by NHS England and Bevan
Brittan. All funds are overseen by a joint BCF
Partnership Board.
A summary can be found in note 15 of the annual
accounts in section 5.

1.6.2 Financial outlook

We are managing a number of risks, complete
details of which can be found in the annual
governance report on page 75. These can be
summarised as follows:

The new NHS Leeds CCG will have an allocation
of £1.2bn and has been assessed to be 1.2% over
its target financial allocation at its inception on
1 April 2018. The CCG has received total growth
of 2.8% for 2018-19. Against this, the CCG is
required to continue to make progress against
national priorities in addition to having a number
of pre-commitments, cost pressures and demand
growth pressures. This leads to a challenging
financial outlook as we move into the newly
merged Leeds CCG, highlighting the importance
of more efficient transformational service changes
for the benefit of the health and social care
system in Leeds.

• Ability to meet targets for referral to treatment
times, both generally and specifically for cancer
• Ability of Yorkshire Ambulance Service to meet
performance targets
• Ability to meet surges in demand for services
across the Leeds health care system
• Ability to achieve the Leeds Transforming Care
Partnership (Learning Disability and Autism
programme) in-patient trajectories

The CCG simultaneously operates on the Leeds
and West Yorkshire footprint, both of which are
perceived as being amongst the largest in the
country with risks and opportunities that are
commensurate with this magnitude.
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1.7.1 Emergency preparedness

1.9 Performance summary

We certify that NHS Leeds CCGs Partnership
has business continuity plans in place to comply
with NHS England’s emergency preparedness
requirements. We submit an annual emergency
preparedness self-assessment to NHS England.
In addition, as commissioners we require that all
our providers have in place robust emergency
preparedness, business continuity and major
incident plans. These are reported to the
contracts management board for our main
providers.

As previously mentioned, during the past
year, NHS Leeds North CCG has been part of
the Leeds CCGs Partnership in preparation for
becoming a single organisation in April 2018. Our
performance report reflects this citywide focus
but also includes more localised information that
highlights some of the specific areas that the
individual CCGs have traditionally led on.
Clinical commissioning groups are accountable for
how they spend public money. Reflecting upon
our overall performance over the year, we are
performing particularly well in a number of areas
of cancer care, mental health, dementia and in
patient experience of GP services, where we are
meeting or exceeding national standards.

The CCG also engages with other partners
and supports the local authority emergency
preparedness and resilience planning in Leeds.
We also attend the West Yorkshire Urgent and
Emergency care programme Board and engage
with West Yorkshire wide urgent care projects as
required.

However, increased demand for NHS services
has presented a significant challenge. Although
we had planned to meet all national planning
standards and commitments in 2017-18, this has
not been possible for some of our commissioned
services.

1.8 Adoption of going concern basis
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to
exist, it considers whether or not its services will
continue to be provided (using the same assets,
by another public sector entity) in determining
whether to use the concept of going concern for
the final set of financial statements. If services will
continue to be provided the financial statements
are prepared on the going concern basis.

We will continue to closely monitor our
performance in relation to A&E, ambulance
response times, maternity care and learning
disabilities, while working with our partners to
improve next year.
In our annual report you’ll see steps we’ve taken
to address this or mitigating circumstances.

NHS Leeds North Clinical Commissioning
Group was dissolved on 31 March 2018, having
joined with NHS Leeds South and East Clinical
Commissioning Group and NHS Leeds West
Clinical Commissioning Group to establish NHS
Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group with effect
from 1 April, 2018 as the successor organisation.
All services commissioned, including all related
contractual arrangements novated from the three
dissolving Clinical Commissioning Groups to the
newly formed NHS Leeds Clinical Commissioning
Group with effect from 1 April 2018.
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2. Performance analysis
2.1 Progress on priority areas

Leadership: assessment of the quality of the
CCG’s leadership and strength of its governance,
including the quality of its plans and how the
CCG works with its partners.

Clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) were
established on 1 April 2013 and are clinically led
organisations at the heart of the NHS system.
NHS England has a statutory duty (under the
Health and Social Care Act (2012)) to conduct
an annual assessment of every CCG. The
assurance process aims to ensure that CCGs
are commissioning safe, high quality and cost
effective services, to achieve the best possible
outcomes for patients.

For 2017-18, a small number of indicators have
been added; a number of updates have been
made to existing indicators; and some indicators
have been removed. The framework includes
a set of 51 indicators (a reduction from 60),
although data for 10 indicators is currently
unavailable.
The 2016-17 annual assessments determined each
of the three Leeds CCGs to be rated as ‘good’.
The rating for CCGs for 2017-18 will be known in
July 2018 and will be published on the My NHS
website: www.nhs.uk/mynhs.

The CCG Improvement and Assessment
Framework (CCG IAF) was introduced in 2016-17
and provides a focus on assisting improvement
alongside the statutory assessment function
of NHS England. It aligns with NHS England’s
mandate and planning guidance, with the aim
of unlocking change and improvement in a
number of key areas. This approach aims to reach
beyond CCGs, enabling local health systems and
communities to assess their own progress from
ratings published online.

2.1.2 My NHS
My NHS is a website where organisations,
professionals and the public can compare the
performance of services across health and care,
over a range of measures, and on local and
national levels. You can see performance across
a range of areas such as health outcomes or how
well-led a CCG is by visiting www.nhs.uk/mynhs

The framework draws together the NHS
Constitution, performance and finance metrics
and transformational challenges. It underpins the
delivery of the Five Year Forward View and sets
out four domains that reflected the key elements
of well-led and effective clinical commissioning
groups as listed below:

Our ratings on My NHS show that we’re rated
as being well-led and perform well in cancer
care, mental health and in patient experience
of GP services. Areas where our performance
needs improvement include A&E, elective care,
maternity care, learning disabilities and dementia.
In the following pages you’ll see steps we’ve
taken to address this or mitigating circumstances
leading to our score.

Better health: this section looks at how the CCG
is contributing towards improving the health and
wellbeing of its population.
Better care: focus on how CCGs are supporting
redesign of care, performance of constitutional
standards, and improving health outcomes with a
specific focus on six clinical areas: mental health,
dementia, learning disabilities, cancer, maternity
and diabetes.

Areas of achievement
Based on our performance to date in 2017-18,
we are expecting to achieve some of the NHS
Constitution Standards which are listed below:
Cancer waits: The waiting time standard for
receiving an outpatient appointment within two
weeks following urgent cancer care referrals
continues to be achieved. Leeds is one of the
few areas in the country where patients with
suspected cancer are consistently given an urgent

Sustainability: how the CCG is remaining in
financial balance, and is securing good value for
patients and the public from the money it spends.
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two week wait referral to diagnostic services
from their GP. In addition we continue to meet
the 31 day diagnosis to treatment cancer waiting
time standard.

quality standards such as the rate of healthcare
associated infections.
CCGs are monitored against these indicators
by NHS England. We routinely monitor our
performance against all the key standards
and where appropriate work with our partner
organisations in hospitals, ambulance services,
community health services, member practices
and with Leeds City Council to agree the support
and changes required within the health and care
systems to ensure we can achieve them.

Referral to treatment: Whilst we are expected
to narrowly miss the 92% target for the number
of patients remaining on waiting list not seen
within 18 weeks, Leeds compares favourably with
national and West Yorkshire overall performance.
As a result fewer patients in Leeds wait over 18
weeks than the average for England.
Dementia: Approximately three-quarters of the
people estimated to be living with dementia in
Leeds have been diagnosed with the condition,
which helps improve their ability to cope and
access treatment, care and support. This level of
performance exceeds the national ambition of
having at least 66.7% of the dementia prevalent
population diagnosed.

2017-18 has been a challenging year both
nationally and locally for health and care services.
The success over many years in increasing life
expectancy means that people are living longer
and an ageing population means that we have
increasing demand for primary, community, social
and hospital care.
This ageing population, along with ever
growing numbers of treatments and growing
public expectations, is increasing the demand
for services at a time when funding for public
services is not increasing to match. This has
resulted in demand outstripping capacity in our
main providers, most notably in increased use
of hospital beds and the challenges associated
with securing suitable out of hospital care so that
patients can be discharged from those beds.

Improved access to general practice: As a
result of the investment in primary care in Leeds,
we have achieved the requirement for at least
half of general practices to offer evening and
weekend appointments to patients by March
2018.

2.1.3 Healthcare in Leeds
One of our main duties is to commission efficient
and effective healthcare services that meet the
needs of the population of Leeds who require
NHS healthcare. The services we commission are
monitored locally, regionally and at a national
level through a range of performance indicators.
These indicators include performance against
NHS priorities, including the NHS Constitution
Standards along with a set of benchmark
indicators specified within the CCG Improvement
and Assessment Framework.

2.1.4 Improving our performance
It is clear that there have been a number of
performance challenges in 2017-18 and many of
these challenges are expected to continue into
2018-19. The CCG remains fully committed to
ensuring that we put plans in place to maximise
the potential to deliver all NHS Constitution
commitments, as well as making progress on
improving the quality of our services, improving
health outcomes and reducing health inequalities
for our patients.

These indicators cover many areas from access
targets, such as the time a patient has to
wait for hospital treatment, to measures of
effectiveness of our services: for example, rates
for early diagnosis of cancer and number of
beds occupied as a result in delays in hospital
discharge processes. Indicators also monitor

The key areas of priorities for action are outlined
below.
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Referral to treatment times
NHS Leeds CCGs Partnership is committed to
meeting the national standard for referral to
treatment times and at a city level, we expect
to have marginally underperformed in 201718 against the national standard. However,
achieving this target has been challenging due to
emergency admission pressures experienced over
the winter months. This resulted in a high number
of cancellations - as authorised by NHS England
at the height of the crisis - and lack of capacity
to maintain routine surgical operating capability.
Maintaining the standards is highly dependent
on the degree to which the whole health system
will be able to transform and change to reduce
demand for emergency services and reduce
need for emergency hospital beds. If emergency
demand continues to grow capacity for routine
elective surgery will be restricted.

However, ensuring patients wait no more than 62
days for urgent cancer treatment (measured from
when they were referred for treatment) has been
challenging for Leeds, although nationally this has
been difficult to achieve in 2017-18 also.
The recent pressures we have observed on the
local health and social care system has led to
cancellations for both diagnosis and treatment
of cancer, and with over half of urgent cancer
transfers to Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust
being received late (after 38 days in a 62 day
pathway), this provides additional pressure
on their ability to achieve the standard for all
patients.
Constraints around some diagnostic pathways
and theatre capacity have also been a factor
in the performance of this standard. Work is
ongoing to improve local and regional pathways
to speed diagnosis and treatments.

Surgical capacity within the following specialties
is currently at risk:

Emergency Care Standard (ECS)
The NHS Constitution states that a minimum
of 95% of patients attending Emergency
Departments must be seen or treated and then
admitted or discharged in under four hours. This
is often referred to as the four hour standard or
the Emergency Care Standard.

• General surgery
• Plastic surgery
• Trauma and orthopaedics (including spinal
surgery)
• Urology

The four hour standard is also an indicator of
how the whole health and social care system is
managing its population, especially how patients
flow through the system and access the most
appropriate service that meets their needs.
Leeds as a health system has failed to deliver
the Emergency Care Standard (4 hour target).
This is a national problem with very few health
systems now able to maintain a consistent flow
of patients through the system to consistently
deliver the standard. Nationally there are varying
factors that contribute to the failure of the
performance including increasing demand and
complexity of patients, shortages and skill mix
of health and social care staff as well as delays
in discharge and the availability of community
health and social care capacity.

• Ear, nose and throat (ENT)
Work is being undertaken through the joint
Elective Care Working Group with Leeds Teaching
Hospitals NHS Trust (LTHT) to ensure that,
where possible, risks are being managed and
mitigated. Patients are also able to access services
for certain conditions from independent sector
providers and neighbouring trusts, as part of the
patient choice agenda.
Cancer
Performance associated with cancer waiting time
standards has been, on the whole, positive for
Leeds throughout 2017-18; two week urgent
referral waiting times (to see a cancer specialist),
31 day waits from diagnosis to treatment and 31
day waits for subsequent treatment often exceed
national standards.
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The Leeds System Resilience Assurance Board
coordinates both provider and commissioner
functions to improve systems and processes to
ensure a whole systems approach to delivering
high quality resilient services all year round.
Leeds has an Urgent Care Strategy which, along
with the West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health
and Care Partnership (formerly Sustainability
Transformation Plan) and the local Leeds
Health and Care Plan, sets out the vision for
the future provision of services supporting
the transformation of the whole urgent and
emergency care system. Initiatives include:

Performance to date (September 2017
to February 2018) shows the Trust to be
underperforming against the average response
times for Category 1 and Category 2 calls. The
Trust is also underperforming against a further
three measures which assess the Trust’s ability to
respond to calls within an agreed timeframe for
90% of calls received (assessed at different call
category levels).
Mental health - Improving Access to
Psychological Therapies
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies
(IAPT) is a key element of the national strategy
to improve support for those with mental health
issues. There are a number of measures used to
assess how well CCGs are doing in supporting
access.

• Simplifying the system to improve access for
people;
• Changes to the role of ambulance services (see
below);
• Developing integrated primary, community
services and hospital services;

Local IAPT access rates still remain lower than
required and will not meet the required standard
for 2017-18. We have undertaken an assessment
of current delivery and are working with partners
to improve uptake of the service. Action taken in
2017-18 includes:

• Long term redesign of services to respond to
urgent needs in health and social care;
• Implementing the integrated discharge
services; and

• Reviewing existing ways of working within the
IAPT screening hub with a view to improving
efficiency;

• Supporting the care home sector.
Yorkshire Ambulance Service NHS Trust
Yorkshire Ambulance Service is continuing
to participate in NHS England’s Ambulance
Response Programme (ARP) pilot and moved
to the next stage, Phase 3, in September 2017.
The ARP is a new system aimed at enabling
ambulance services to get the right resource to
patients, the first time, in a timeframe appropriate
for their clinical need.

• Allocating additional resource to undertake
further telephone screenings, reducing the
number of initial face to face sessions needed;
• Developing the IAPT website to introduce the
option to self-book on to support sessions
to provide better choice and control to the
patient; and
• Introducing a tailored support group for
Muslim communities to improve upon uptake.

The ARP introduces new measures to assess
ambulance response time performance, therefore
performance is no longer comparable to previous
periods.

2.2 Sustainable development
Sustainable development is commonly described
as “...development that meets the needs of the
present, without compromising the ability of
future generations to meet their own needs...” The Brundtland Commission, United Nations; Our
Common Future, 1987

Since the introduction of these new measures
(from September 2017), Yorkshire Ambulance
Service have agreed with commissioners to
report only upon performance at Trust-wide level
- performance is not yet available for individual
CCGs.
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• Integrate social value into decision making to
create wider community benefits

The concept of sustainable development requires
organisations to focus on ‘three pillars’: social,
environmental and economic. We recognise the
great responsibility that comes with our roles as
commissioners and providers of public services.
As such, we continue to strive to offer services
that meet local demands, but do so in a way
that maximises wider positive impacts. Adding
social, economic and environmental value will
benefit our workforce, our providers, our local
communities, the Leeds economy and the natural
environment.

• Embed sustainability in care pathways
• Develop partnerships with Leeds City Council
to support improvements to healthcare delivery
• Encourage behaviour change through
encouraging staff to become green champions
• Work with partners in provider trusts to
engage in wider sustainability initiatives:
In April 2018, the three CCGs will merge into a
new single CCG for Leeds. This will provide a
great opportunity to build on our progress. In the
coming months we will be refreshing our SDMP
to reflect the fact that we will be moving all staff
onto a single site and rolling out a range of new
digital technologies. Key areas of impact will
include

In 2016-17, we worked with other commissioners
and providers to support the development of the
West Yorkshire Sustainability and Transformation
Plan (STP) and an underpinning Leeds Plan.
During 2017-18 we have continued to work with
partners to develop and deliver these plans to
ensure the transformation of services so that we
are able to improve the health outcomes and
quality of services for our population.

• Reduction of travel between CCG sites as a
result of single site working
• Reduction of business travel as a result of
introduction of new technologies e.g. Skype
for Business

These transformation plans will require significant
change to how we commission and provide
services in the future, and provide an excellent
opportunity to ensure that we embed the social,
environmental and economic value as we move
forward with our plans.

• Reduction in travel to work through new agile
working policy and improved remote working
technology
• Reduced travel between NHS and Leeds City
Council sites due to implementation of new
approach to networking (notably single wifi
across all sites)

2.2.1 Our sustainable development
management plan
The three Leeds CCGs have been building our
approach to supporting sustainable development
since our inception in 2013 and we have agreed
a shared sustainable development management
plan (SDMP) as part of the development of the
NHS Leeds CCGs Partnership. Our shared SDMP
outlines the following key priorities:

2.2.2 Our environmental impact
By monitoring our activity throughout the year
we are able to calculate our annual resource use
and our associated carbon footprint. We are
continually working to improve our environmental
data and are now able to measure the amount of
water that we consume. We adjust our energy,
water and waste impacts according to our
occupancy rates and will improve our systems to
ensure that rail mileage can be recorded in the
future.

• Reduce negative health impacts of travel and
transport emissions, while realising cost, CO2
and time efficiencies
• Implement measures to reduce the level of
resource use across CCG buildings, in an effort
to lower CO2 emissions and energy/utility bills

We recognise that the UK faces a legally binding
EU target to reduce the quantity of carbon

18

dioxide (CO2) emissions at a national level by 34%
by 2020, and then reaching 80% by 2050. This is
a reduction measured from a 1990 baseline.

Our focus on the five key elements of quality
provides the CCG with the framework, process
and mechanisms by which we assure ourselves of
the quality of care that we commission.

2.2.3 Relocation

As commissioning arrangements have developed
within the Leeds CCGs Partnership over the
past year, the quality team have ensured that
the quality elements are aligned across all our
commissioned providers. The Joint Quality and
Performance Committee is working towards
a more collaborative approach to monitoring
quality across the whole Leeds health economy.
The committee reports directly to the governing
body via a chair’s summary and integrated quality
and performance report, ensuring that quality of
care receives attention and scrutiny at the highest
level within the CCG.

As part of the move to becoming a single CCG,
by the end of May 2018, staff will have relocated
from three sites (Wira House, Thorpe Park and
Leafield House) onto a single site; as such any
benchmarking from 2018 will have to be based
on assumptions with regards to energy use as
at the last full year’s consumption prior to the
office move. We will endeavour to create a new
baseline based on prior usage with which to
benchmark the improvements achieved through
the move to a single site.

2.3 Improving quality

Key programmes undertaken in 2017-18 include:

We place quality at the core of the way we
commission and monitor services. We do this by
making our expectations clear and measurable,
and then monitoring these standards closely. The
quality team have always worked as city wide
team and so the transition to the partnership
arrangement has been seamless.

• The continued development of the Leeds
multiagency healthcare-associated infections
(HCAI) improvement group and Clostridium
difficile infection (CDI) review panel.
• Reviewing how we oversee the quality
standards in all key provider organisations. This
involves speaking to patients, managers and
staff through a scheduled programme of visits.

Five key elements drive the work of the quality
team:

• Collaborative work with partners to have an
overview of the quality of services in Leeds,
including developing a joint process with
Healthwatch and Leeds City Council to review
providers’ annual quality accounts.

• Patient safety
• Patient experience
• Clinical effectiveness
• Responsiveness

• Developing a robust quality surveillance
process to ensure partnership working
across providers to improve oversight of care
delivery. This has been especially beneficial for
partnership working with the City Council to
oversee quality of care within care homes.

• Being well-led
Organisations from which we commission
care must meet essential standards of quality
and safety, as defined by the Care Quality
Commission (CQC). In many cases we set quality
standards for our providers that are above
these essential requirements. We work closely
with our acute, mental health and community
services throughout the year to ensure that they
meet these standards, providing challenge and
requesting assurance where the care provided is
not as expected.

• Developing processes for monitoring incidents
reported in primary care, in collaboration with
the clinical governance team.
• Working much more closely with
commissioners in ensuring quality standards
are central to any new service developments to
support quality improvement.
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2.3.1 HCAI improvement

the providers quality accounts/reports. Providers
have to produce annual reports which are
commented on by the CCG, Leeds City Council
scrutiny committee and Healthwatch Leeds.
Previously each organisation has done this in
isolation, so duplicating effort. Through joining
up in the process with Healthwatch Leeds and
the scrutiny committee, the response to the
quality reports will be joint and informed by the
additional knowledge the organisations possess.

The Leeds multiagency, healthcare-associated
infection (HCAI) improvement group has
continued to achieve a consistent and united
approach across local community and
hospital care organisations. It aims to make
improvements, identify concerns relating to HCAI
and agree annual priorities to focus the work
of the group. Each quarter, the group hosts the
CDI review panel, which has representation from
CCGs, Leeds Teaching Hospital NHS Trust (LTHT),
Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust (LCH),
Leeds and York Partnership Foundation NHS Trust
(LYPFT), independent hospitals and public health.
The level of C.difficile infection in LTHT is within
the agreed trajectory at time of writing and cases
of MRSA across the health economy are reduced
by half. This is testament to the joint working
across the health economy.

2.3.4 Commissioning for Quality and
Innovation (CQUINs)
CQUINs enable a proportion of healthcare
providers’ income to be spent on innovative
schemes to enhance quality in areas of patient
care or service improvement. National CQUINs
were developed on a two year basis (2017-19)
to enable changes and service improvements
to be fully embedded within the organisations.
The quality team have been instrumental in
monitoring the providers’ achievements against
the milestones and seeking additional assurance
as required.

2.3.2 Provider monitoring visits
The quality team carry out visits to our local
care providers to observe care delivery. Visits
generally take place with the prior agreement
of the provider, unless there are significant
concerns relating to standards of quality and
safety, in which case an unannounced visit may
be appropriate. A quality review tool is used to
support consistency. If we identify any areas
of concern, the provider is asked to respond
and provide assurance that these have been
addressed. If necessary, repeat visits are arranged
to ensure that actions have been implemented.
Where we have concerns about the provider’s
ability to deliver safe, effective care, we use
the NHS England quality risk profile tool to
provide an informed view of the level of risk and
intervention required. This may include holding a
quality summit. For 2018-19 the quality team are
reviewing the system of visits with a programme
of reviewing quality across a pathway of care
rather than on an individual service in isolation.

2.3.5 Quality improvement
Members of the quality team will be supported
in 2018-19 to improve their skills in quality
improvement techniques. The central role of the
team has been focused on quality assurance,
ensuring that providers are meeting pre-agreed
quality standards. This will remain a core
function, but in addition the team will develop
their quality improvement role. This will be to
enhance their role with those services that would
benefit from such support, for example the care
home sector, primary care or after any specific
learning that has taken place where improvement
needs to be supported and embedded.

2.3.6 Incident monitoring
The quality and governance teams monitor our
partner organisations in reporting, investigating
and learning from serious incidents which occur
within a provider of NHS healthcare. A panel is
tasked with reviewing submitted reports and
action plans from our providers to gain assurance

2.3.3 Collaborative working
This year the CCG has worked with Healthwatch
Leeds to develop a process for reviewing each of
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monitoring mechanisms. The city-wide care
home focus group continues to support this
collaboration, promoting inter-organisational,
professional networking to share concerns and
best practice ideas.

that a robust investigation has been completed,
reasons for the incident occurring identified and
recommendations have been actioned to prevent
something similar from happening again. We
work with our partners to ensure learning and
actions from all investigations are embedded in
practice.

Throughout 2017-18 the quality and governance
teams have continued to work with partners to
develop and strengthen health and social care
quality and governance mechanisms, as well as to
ensure that there is appropriate oversight at each
level of the organisations.

A significant amount of work to review category
3 and 4 pressure ulcers has been undertaken by
providers over the last two years across the city.
Pressure ulcer investigation reports are shared
with the CCGs Partnership by our providers on
a regular basis, supporting transparency and
identifying learning and actions taken. We
actively monitor the progress against this at the
Joint Clinical Quality Review meetings. Leeds
Community Healthcare NHS Trust continue to
review the skills and competencies of all staff
in the neighbourhood teams to understand the
education, development and training needed
to enable safe and effective care delivery and
full participation in the investigation and review
process. Pressure ulcer management continues
to be a challenge for providers but we are
committed to supporting Trusts to improve their
outcomes.

2.3.8 Patient experience
Our patient insight group reviews and analyses
patient experience activity to ensure that this
is fed into the wider commissioning work and
informs service changes and/or improvements.
The group has undertaken a significant amount
of work to help support a better patient
experience. This has included:
• A review of the choose and book e-referral
system
• Working with NHS England to ensure patients
are supported when waiting to access gender
identity services
• Targeted patient experience work which has
included care homes and cancer services

We also review incidents reported by GP practices
to identify any key themes or trends and to
share learning across the city. This involves close
collaboration with primary care and medicines
optimisation teams to provide support where
needed. We continue to facilitate learning across
the city to help reduce the likelihood of incidents
recurring. During 2018, we will be working with
the Improvement Academy to provide training
to primary care on conducting significant event
audits to ensure learning from incidents is capture
appropriately

• Worked in partnership with Healthwatch Leeds
to review patient experience within primary
care.

2.3.9 Complaints
We take complaints seriously as they are a
genuine means of helping improve our services.
Outcomes from complaint investigations are used
to make changes where required to systems and
processes to improve the future experience for
everybody. We ensure the six principles of remedy
are applied when handling complaints and work
closely with our partner organisations to ensure
that the appropriate information is obtained in a
coordinated and timely manner.

2.3.7 Care home quality monitoring
In 2017-18 our quality and governance teams
collaborated with Leeds City Council in
the development and pilot of an enhanced
surveillance process, enabling a more
integrated approach to managing quality care
in care homes; building on the existing routine

We have a Patient Advice and Liaison Service
which aims to answer queries, resolve concerns
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or signpost people to appropriate services as well
as providing ‘on the spot’ non-medical advice to
patients.

• share and build on best practice across Leeds
and ensure our involvement work is consistent
with all our partners.
We recognise that people want to get involved
at different levels and in different ways. Most
of us lead very busy lives and have a limited
amount of time to get involved in decisions that
perhaps don’t directly or immediately affect us.
We communicate with, and involve patients and
the public, in a variety of ways and use their
feedback to help shape our commissioning plans
and priorities. This includes:

2.4 Engaging people and communities
“…the health service needs to change, arguing for
a more engaged relationship with patients, carers
and citizens so that we can promote wellbeing
and prevent ill-health. We need to ensure that
patients and the public are an integral part of
our governance, decision making forums, service
improvement, re-design and assurance. It is vital
that the patient and public voice is embedded in
all of our commissioning process.”

• working with the wider public to seek views
on our strategy and commissioning plans;

Five Year Forward View, NHS England,
October 2014

• sharing information with patients, carers
and the wider public so that they are aware
of service changes and are able to make
informed choices;

Under the Health and Social Care Act (2012) we
have a legal duty to engage and involve our local
population in decisions that affect them; to involve
patients and carers in decisions relating to their
care and treatment; and to involve the public in
the planning and buying of healthcare services.

• asking people for their views about local
services through surveys and events;
• involving patient champions in commissioning
projects to provide assurance that our
engagement is robust; and

In addition to being a statutory duty we believe
that meaningful patient and public participation
can help us to develop and deliver services that are
safe, effective and efficient.

• feeding back to local people so that they can
see how their experiences and feedback have
helped to shape services.

In early 2017 communications and engagement
staff from each of the three CCGs in Leeds began
working as a single team, as part of the Leeds
CCGs partnership.

We have organised this section of the report to
reflect the three categories in the NHS England
‘Transforming Participation in Health and Care’
document www.england.nhs.uk/participation/
involvement
It outlines the structures and processes we have
put in place to support meaningful involvement,
gives examples of good practice and outlines
how we are working with our partners to
ensure that we are reaching diverse, potentially
excluded and disadvantaged groups. As well
as the information in this annual report, each
year, we also produce an annual review of all
our engagement work. This is co-produced with
patients and is available on our website www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/publications

Our aims for patient and public involvement are to:
• put patients at the heart of everything we do;
• commission high quality services by consistently
involving people in their planning, evaluation
and improvement;
• introduce clear and accountable functions for
patient and public involvement (PPI);
• support the development of local patient
participation groups (PPGs);
• ensure that involvement is representative of all
our communities; and
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2.4.1 Involving our patients: individual
participation

“You listened to me and gave me the right help
and advice.” Service user

‘Patients and carers are involved in managing
their own health, care and treatment. This means
being involved in decisions about their care and
having choice and control over the NHS services
they receive.’ NHS England, 2017

“She took the time out to learn about me and
to actually help me and look for things that I
needed and not just in general, if that makes
sense? I just felt like I could trust her so much.
And I knew that she was working for me instead
of telling me what was best telling me what I
should be doing. There wasn’t any of that she
just made suggestions and then asked me how I
felt about it.” Service user

Social prescribing
Social prescribing is a way of enabling GPs,
nurses or other primary care professionals to refer
patients with social, emotional or practical needs
to a range of local, non-clinical services, often
provided by the voluntary and community sector,
such as walking groups, healthy lifestyle classes,
debt management support, support groups and
so on. In Leeds, there are currently three social
prescribing schemes, receiving over 4000 referrals
each year.

More information on each scheme can be
accessed here:
• Connect Well www.commlinks.co.uk/services/
leeds/connect-well
• Connect for Health www.
connectforhealthleeds.org.uk
• Patient Empowerment Project https://barcaleeds.org/health-and-wellbeing/west-leedspep-patient-empowerment-project

The schemes provide people an opportunity
to identify their social and health needs and
coproduce solutions with a link worker. Social
prescribing enables people to have more control
over their health and provides a range of choices
not previously available within the NHS.

Self-management and skills development
programmes for people with diabetes
All people found to have diabetes are strongly
recommended to attend a self-management and
skills development programme which in Leeds
consists of:

Service user experience has been key to
developing the current social prescribing services,
which have evaluated well and been successful in
improving people’s wellbeing and quality of life in
terms of their health, management of long term
conditions and patient experience. The scheme is
also highly regarded by staff who refer into the
service.

• DAFNE (dose adjustment for normal eating)
programme for people with Type 1 diabetes
• LEEDS programme for people with Type 2
diabetes
Both programmes aim to reduce people’s risk
of developing complications by improving their
ability to self-manage their condition through
improved knowledge and confidence. These
programmes are advocated as an integral part of
an individual’s treatment.

Engagement continues to be an important
part in the re-procurement and development
of the future single citywide social prescribing
service, with patient champions being part of the
operational group and ensuring service users’
voices help shape the new service.

Recent NHS England funding has enabled us to
increase the number of courses on offer from 33
to 125 per year for people with Type 2 diabetes,
with a focus on those newly diagnosed within 12
months, people from deprived communities, from
BME groups and men over 40 years of age.

‘’Compassion and listening to my doubts,
whenever I have been unsure about anything I
can give PEP (patient empowerment project) a
call. I hope they carry on the excellent work they
provide.’’ Service user
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Over the eight-week period, we received 317
completed CCSP surveys.

Service user experience is an integral part of the
delivery and development of these programmes.
The LEEDS programme continues to evaluate well
both in terms of patient outcomes and experience.
For example, people report improvement in
both their confidence to self-manage after
attending the programme alongside an increased
importance in managing their condition.

Many of the people who responded did attend
their review and further engagement is required
to understand the reasons why people might not
attend.
Those who filled in the survey gave us some ideas
about how we might promote the review better
with patients:

“I have found the group sessions very helpful.
Would like to meet up at regular intervals to help
keep me motivated.” Service user

“The review reminder date is constantly written
on our prescriptions.” Patient

“Helpful in affirming the changes I have made
to my lifestyle are going to help manage my
diabetes long-term.” Service user

“Sometimes it’s easier for me to speak to doctor
by telephone as I’m often feeling poorly.” Patient

“I have found course very helpful and I feel more
enlightened about my condition.” Service user

2.4.2 Involving our patients: public
participation

“I found this very helpful as newly diagnosed and
found it scary. I was ill informed by things I read.
I feel more in control.” Service user

‘Every part of our health and care system is
shaped and improved by involving those who use
and care about our services. Everyone contributes
their distinctive perspective, especially those who
face the greatest health disadvantage and the
poorest health outcomes.’ NHS England, 2017

Engagement continues to play a crucial role
in shaping diabetes services. In addition to
service user feedback from our providers, we
have representation from patient groups on our
steering group, including Diabetes UK, Juvenile
Diabetes Research Foundation (JDRF) and a
diabetes patient champion.

Patient assurance group (PAG)
We established our patient assurance group (PAG)
in 2012. This is a group of local people who look
at commissioning plans and proposals and offer
advice and comments to say whether we are
doing enough to involve and engage patients
and the public. We actively look to recruit new
members to bring new perspectives to the group.

Collaborative care and support planning
The collaborative care and support planning
(CCSP) review offers patients with long-term
health conditions the opportunity to have an
annual review at their GP practice. The aim of the
review is to offer ongoing support and coaching
to enable patients to look after their own health.

We have worked with our PAG members and
commissioners to develop an engagement plan
template. This template supports commissioners
to develop their engagement plans in a way that
meets our statutory duty to ensure the effective
participation of the public in the commissioning
process, so that services provided most closely
reflect the needs of local people. The planning
template also supports our PAG by providing
information in a clear and coherent manner.

“I find review of help - keeps me on track for
managing my diabetes and not putting any
weight back on.” Patient
We know many patients do attend the first
appointment and have their results sent to them.
However, many patients do not attend for the
follow-up appointment a year later, so we carried
out engagement to understand why this might be.
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Patient champion programme
We recognise the challenges in understanding the
needs and preferences of the diverse population
of Leeds. Rather than focus on the tokenistic
approach of developing ‘representative’ groups,
we have worked hard to develop a group
of people who, while not representative, do
recognise, understand and embrace equality
and difference. We have trained our patient
champions to provide assurance throughout the
commissioning cycle by asking for evidence that
we have engaged thoroughly and are using the
feedback to develop our services.

We have invested in our PPGs by:
• Offering visits to support our PPGs
• Developing a range of tools and resources to
support PPGs
• Promoting engagement events and activities
with our PPGs
• Developing and delivering regular training for
PPG members and practice staff
• Holding a citywide PPG event
You can see all the tools, resources and reports
on our PPG page here: www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/getinvolved/how/patient-participation-group

The programme trains and supports local people
so that they can champion the views of the wider
public throughout the commissioning process.
This is done through:

Case study: PPG event - October 2017
You said: “we need a citywide PPG network to
facilitate ongoing sharing of best practice in
Leeds”

• Providing a comprehensive suite of bespoke codesigned training for both patients and staff;

We did: we set up a citywide network for PPG
members which is now held every two months

• Facilitating a monthly peer support group for
patient champions;

There are currently 104 GP surgeries throughout
the city of Leeds. From April 2016, it has been a
contractual requirement for each practice to have
a PPG, a group of volunteer patients that work
collaboratively with the practice and its staff
to improve the experience of the wider patient
population of that practice.

• Providing individual support; and
• Providing tools and resources to patient
champions and staff.
We currently have 38 patient champions in the
programme who are actively involved in 22
different commissioning steering groups.

Patient feedback suggested that a citywide PPG
network could help improve PPGs across the city.
A group of interested patients formed a project
group which met regularly through the summer
of 2017 to coproduce a citywide PPG event.

Patient participation groups (PPGs)
We believe that our member GP practices’ PPGs
should be the bedrock of healthcare engagement
in our communities. This place-based approach
offers an opportunity to support PPG members
to champion the views of local people. While
running a PPG is now a contractual obligation for
our practices, we recognise the challenges and
pressures faced by primary care.

The first annual citywide event took place in
October 2017. 148 people attended the event
including patients, members of the public, GP
practice staff, NHS professionals and third sector
organisations.
The event focused on barriers and opportunities
to effective and meaningful PPGs and was
presented by patients, clinicians, practice
managers and CCG staff.
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Case study: Engage magazine 2017-18

There were opportunities for PPG members and
staff to share good practice and visit over 20
different stalls from various organisations.

You said: “we want more involvement in the
engage magazine”

The event was well received, with 100% of the
people completing the evaluation recommending
the event to others.

We did: we involved local people and
organisations in writing articles for our magazine
Local people told us that they wanted more
involvement in the development of the magazine
and over the last 12 months we have featured a
number of articles written by patients.

“You do an amazing job - you have to provide
one of the best patient engagement teams and
support in the country - well done!” Participant
“Thank you for all the effort and planning
involved - much appreciated and very
interesting.” Participant

Engage has given the chance for three local PPGs
to share the challenges and opportunities of
working with their local practice. The magazine
also featured a creative competition for young
people to capture their local community in
photographs. We have also worked with local
organisations such as Bramley Elderly Action and
the Junk-tion Café to promote the excellent work
of our colleagues in the voluntary sector.

“Q&A panel was really good. Really well
organised event and there has been a real
buzz over lunchtime. The PPG’s in practice were
excellent - they really brought ‘alive’ the impact
that PPG’s can have.” Participant
As a result of patient feedback, we have now set
up a citywide network for PPG members, which
meets every two months.

Working with our partners
We are committed to working with the voluntary,
community and faith sector to ensure that we
hear from and respond to the most vulnerable
members of our community. So that we can truly
receive feedback and views from the wide range
of ‘hidden’ communities in Leeds, in 2017 we
re-commissioned the voluntary sector to support
our engagement work.

You can read more about the PPG event
here: www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/content/
uploads/2014/07/1st-Citywide-PPG-Event-2017Evaluation-FINAL.pdf
Patient, carer and public network
We recognise the importance of developing a
diverse and engaged group of local people to
support our commissioning decisions. We have
invested in a searchable database which allows
us to promote engagement activities in a more
coordinated and targeted manner. Working
in this way has reduced correspondence and
increased participation. Our network members
also receive a copy of our quarterly magazine and
a monthly e-newsletter.

Voluntary Action Leeds (VAL) runs projects to
help us better understand the views of ‘seldomheard’ groups in Leeds:
• Engaging Voices is an asset based
engagement project that allows us to
understand the views of the most ‘seldom
heard’ communities in our city.
• Working Voices is an asset based
engagement project which develops links
with employers in the city and supports
engagement with working people.

Engage magazine
Our community magazine has proved very
popular with local people. The quarterly
magazine features articles written by patients
and voluntary organisations from across the city.
Contributions from local people include features
on PPGs, a dementia garden and The Real Junk
Food Project.

We have also developed links with key
stakeholders in Leeds to ensure that our
engagement activities are promoted widely. At
the end of 2016, we started a partnership with
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Case study: Engagement Hub

Leeds and York Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust and Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust to
support involvement in the city. This engagement
hub brings together patients, professionals
and other stakeholders by offering a range of
training and peer support. Involving our partners
has enabled us to expand the range of training
we can offer. We also attend the Healthwatch
Leeds ‘People’s Voice’ meeting which provides
a platform for senior engagement staff from
the public and voluntary sector to share good
practice.

You said: “We want to see NHS organisations in
Leeds working better together”
We did: We developed an engagement hub
which offers patients opportunities to develop
their skills and knowledge and get involved in
citywide engagement activities.
By working with our partners in Leeds through
the engagement hub, we have been able to offer
a range of free activities to support local people
to get involved and influence local healthcare
services, including:

Case study: Engaging ‘seldom-heard’ groups
You said: “we need to understand the voice
of working people who don’t always attend
engagement events and activities”

• Training

We did: we commissioned the third sector to
develop links with local organisations in order to
engage with employees.

• A quarterly magazine

• Peer support
• Information, advice and guidance
We are now in the third year of this programme
and during 2017-18 we have:

The Working Voices project delivers public
sector consultations through private sector
organisations to give working people a voice
in the development of services. Employees
will also have the opportunity to access health
messages, updates about NHS services and take
part in health promotions. The project engages
employees in consultation and engagement
activities, which helps to ensure that health
services meet the needs of all the people of
Leeds.

• Delivered 25 sessions of training attended by
216 patients, members of the public and health
professionals.
• Provided eight peer support sessions attended
by 67 patients, members of the public and
health professionals.
• Fed back on 12 different documents,
publications and animations for healthcare
organisations throughout Leeds through our
patient reader group.

Voluntary Action Leeds provides support,
administration and training to enable private
sector organisations to deliver engagements
effectively with their employees. Participating
organisations receive feedback about the
consultations they take part in and resulting
developments within services, so that employees
can see how their feedback is being used to
improve health services.

2.4.3 Involving our patients: insight and
feedback
‘The NHS Constitution is clear that every
individual deserves to have as good an experience
of the NHS as we can possibly provide. To ensure
this happens, we need to listen to people in
order to understand what they need and what
works for them. This is what we mean by insight
and feedback. Any service industry listens to
the people it serves and the NHS should be
no different. Insight is an important way of
understanding the need and experiences of all
communities and a key tool in tackling health
inequalities.’

You can find out more about Working Voices
here: www.doinggoodleeds.org.uk/workingvoices.html
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Listening to local young people
We want to give children living in Leeds the best
start in life - this means having the right services
in place to support children and their carers from
when they are born through to when they leave
school.

• Young people have given feedback on the
relaxation scripts on the website. They decided
where they should sit on the site, which
voices we should use and the accompanying
information.
Over the next six months, parents and carers will
be helping to write new content and approve
the newly developed pages aimed at parents of
primary school children. Young people will be
helping to develop a strategy for young parents
in Leeds and writing web content aimed at young
parents about how to look after their mental
health. Young people who are engaged with
the ‘Common Room’ and Future in Mind will be
working alongside two commissioned companies
to support the agreed marketing strategy for the
city. MindMate ambassadors will continue to
attend events, set up information stalls and raise
awareness.

Over the last year we have invested in a number
of initiatives to improve healthcare access for
children and young people in our city.
Case study: MindMate
MindMate is a Leeds-based website for young
people, their families and the professionals who
support them. The website helps people explore
emotional wellbeing and mental health issues
and offers information about where support is
available. It has been developed with insight and
feedback gathered using a variety of engagement
exercises with children, young people and parents
who have a range of experiences accessing
mental health services in Leeds. This is just a
flavour of the engagement that has taken place
over the last six months:

You can visit the MindMate website here:
www.mindmate.org.uk
Listening to people with cancer
We want to deliver the best cancer outcomes for
Leeds patients. We will achieve this by working
together across the range of health and social
care organisations to ensure we provide quality
care to the people of Leeds.

• Building on an initial suggestion that the
website should have information on sleep,
the young people initially scoped what that
could be and then influenced the writing of
the content, choosing links and eventually
approving all the content.

Case study: Leeds Cancer Strategy

• Young people have made several suggestions
about improving the MindMate pages to
simplify and break down the information.
Suggestions have been taken on board and
implemented.

You said: “We want to get involved in developing
the strategy”
We did: We set up a Leeds Cancer Strategy public
steering group which oversees the programme
and ensure that we are engaging robustly on
individual projects in the programme.

• The young people asked that the staying safe
page include more about online safety and that
this and the urgent help page needed to be
more prominent. The changes were made.

We want to involve local people as we continue
to develop the Leeds Cancer Strategy.
We held a public event to raise awareness of the
Leeds Cancer Strategy and explore opportunities
to involve patients, carers and the public in its
development and delivery. People attending
identified a number of areas that they thought
were important:

• Young people contributed to the pages on
the real life stories page. They decided the
content of the film and what kind of interactive
information should accompany it. They also
decided the location of the film.
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• Involve local organisations and groups that
have established links in the community

specific media such as a Polish news portal as
well as social media supported by educational
videos all translated to the four languages. All of
this information is hosted on a dedicated website
www.healthinleeds.org.uk

• ‘Reach-out’ to communities such as seldom
heard and employed people
• Use different ways to promote activities - it
should be easy and fun to get involved

Listening to patients registered at GP
practices
There is arguably no more important job in
modern Britain than that of the family doctor.
GPs are by far the largest branch of British
medicine. A growing and ageing population, with
complex multiple health conditions, means that
personal and population-orientated primary care
is central to any country’s health system.

• There should be opportunities for volunteers to
learn and develop their skills.
21 of the 47 participants evaluated the event
and told us that they were very satisfied with the
event.
Listening to people from Eastern Europe
Knowing the most appropriate settings to access
healthcare is important for all our communities
to ensure they can access the right care, at
the right time and from the right place. For a
number of years the NHS, locally and nationally,
has been running campaigns to support this
with a particular focus on reducing unnecessary
attendances at A&E. While challenges remain
in getting this information across to the wider
population there has been significant progress in
this area although less so for some of the newer
communities in Leeds.

The engagement team have been working
closely with the primary care team throughout
2017-18 to support changes which support the
vision set out in the General Practice Forward
view (GPFV) www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/
uploads/2016/04/gpfv.pdf
This work has involved coproducing engagement
plans with PPGs and our PAG so that we
understand the impact of proposed changes on
local people and can use their feedback to make
decisions about service change.

Leeds has become home to a number of
new migrant communities including those
from Eastern Europe. Our anecdotal evidence
suggested that awareness of healthcare services
as well as registration with GP practices was
relatively low. In an effort to address this we
have undertaken insight work with people living
in Leeds who have come from Poland, Romania,
Lithuania and the Czech Republic.

2.5 Reducing health inequalities
Reducing health inequalities is a priority for NHS
Leeds CCGs Partnership. Health inequalities are
the unjust and avoidable differences in people’s
health across the population and between
specific population groups. There are differences
in life expectancy years between the least
deprived and most deprived areas of Leeds of
11.5 years. In the male population there is a life
expectancy difference of 12 years between the
most and least affluent areas and just over 11
years in our female population. Residents in some
wards covered by NHS Leeds North CCG have
the highest life expectancy in the city, but even
in this area, there is a 10 year difference for men,
depending on where they live.

Using the information they gave us we found out
more about any gaps they had in understanding
how to access health services in Leeds. We
then used this to develop an awareness
campaign which was supported by community
ambassadors who shared information within their
respective communities through talks and leaflet
distribution. Talks took place at venues including
churches, Sunday schools and community
centres. We publicised information on language-

The Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy
(2016-21) and the Leeds Health and Care Plan
set out a clear vision that ‘Leeds will be a healthy
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and caring city for all ages, where people who
are the poorest improve their health the fastest’.
Aligned with the West Yorkshire and Harrogate
Health and Care Partnership, the Leeds CCGs
have set out a clear priority to improve health and
care services with an emphasis on prevention,
supported self-care and joined up services in
communities.

Around 46,452 people live in neighbourhoods
with high levels of deprivation, and there is a
wide range of educational attainment in schools.
On average 71% of pupils achieve Key Stage 4
English and 67.1% Key Stage 4 Maths, against
Leeds average of 67.6% and 63.9% respectively.
We know that if we are to make a real difference
to the lives of people in our communities we have
a number of health issues to tackle. For example,
in our GP registered population, we have the
following recorded prevalence of long term
conditions, cancer and smoking:

As part of the move to becoming a single
organisation, during 2017-18 the three Leeds
CCGs have begun to streamline the way we work
and have started to commission health and care
services together, including how we help to
tackle health inequalities in the city.

• Prevalence of smoking (18+) in our area is
15.8% - Leeds average of 19.5%

Our aim has been to commission health services
to achieve strategic objectives, seeking to
address the life expectancy gap in some of
our neighbourhoods and address the wider
determinants of health. We are supported
by strong public health input through the
memorandum of understanding with Leeds City
Council.

• Prevalence of diagnosed chronic obstructive
pulmonary disease (COPD) is 1.5% - Leeds
average of 2%

Strong clinical leadership combined with
dedicated commissioning resource has
resulted in a broad holistic programme of local
commissioning and service development. In 201718 this commissioning activity has focused on
specific population groups or geographies, taking
an asset based approach to working with people
and communities, aiming to improve health,
reduce inequalities and support delivery of the
NHS Five Year Forward View.

• Prevalence of hypertension is 12.9% - Leeds
average of 12.1%

• Prevalence of cancer is 3.44% - Leeds average
of 3.14%
• Prevalence of obesity (16+) is 20.3% - Leeds
average of 22.4%

• 33% of our GP registered population (18+)
have one or more long term condition – Leeds
average of 32.2%
• There were 815 alcohol-specific admissions to
hospital from our area in 2016-17
Key statistics from Leeds Health and
Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021
Over the next 25 years the number of people
who live in Leeds is predicted to grow by over
15 per cent. The number of people aged over
65 is estimated to rise by almost a third to over
150,000 by 2030

2.5.1 Demographics
NHS Leeds North CCG covers a population of
around 217,404. By 2021 we expect a 2.1%
increase in our local population, with the number
of people aged 65 and over set to increase by
4%. As the number and proportion of older
people increases, so does need and service use.

164,000 people in Leeds live in areas ranked
amongst the most deprived 10 per cent
nationally. One in five children in Leeds live in
poverty. There is a strong association between
deprivation and poor health.

Our local area has a diverse population, with
around 25.64% of our local population from
Black, Asian and minority ethnic communities.
Wards such as Chapel Allerton, Roundhay,
Moortown and Alwoodley represent areas with
high ethnic diversity.

• 12% of households in Leeds are in fuel poverty
• 34% of children aged 11 in Leeds have an
unhealthy weight
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• It is estimated around 37,000 older people
experience social isolation or loneliness

Evaluation highlights statistically significant
improvements in service users’ health and
well-being, with service users having improved
confidence in self-care management of long term
conditions; service users have also engaged with
the service as volunteers. Nationally validated
measurement tools have been used such as
the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing
Scale (WEMWBS); mental wellbeing scores
have improved and this finding was statistically
significant.

• Physical inactivity is our fourth largest cause
of disease and disability. Figures show that
around one in five adults in Leeds is inactive
• Cancer deaths account for over 30% of the life
expectancy gap between Leeds and the rest of
England
• People with severe mental illness die on
average 15-20 years earlier than the rest of the
population

The social prescribing service has enabled people
to have a more positive and optimistic view of
their life often through opportunities to engage
in a range of hobbies and activities in the local
community. A key element of success is the
sustained and flexible relationship between
participants, the link worker and a strong and
vibrant local voluntary and community sector.
There is emerging evidence of a positive impact
on GP appointments and reductions in length
of hospital stay, potentially due to more support
being available. Alongside improvements in
people’s health and wellbeing, social prescribing
offers a way to support primary care resilience
and to tackle unmet needs.

• 105,000 people in the city suffer from anxiety
and depression
We have invested in a number of local projects
that closely link with the key objectives set out in
the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy. These
projects look to address some of the issues that
affect people’s quality of life and impact on their
overall health and wellbeing, aiming to tackle the
biggest health challenges in Leeds and reduce
health inequalities that affect people in our area.
Examples of these projects follow.

2.5.2 Improving overall health and
wellbeing
Social prescribing
Connect Well is delivered by a local third sector
partnership, Community Links ( lead provider),
Age UK, Feel Good Factor and One Medical
Group. This service covers all GP practices in the
area, providing primary care with a non-medical
referral option that can operate alongside
existing treatments to improve health and wellbeing. The model also includes a number of
social prescribing wellbeing coordinators directly
employed by primary care.

Third sector health grants programme
This innovative third sector health grants
programme has helped to deliver the Five Year
Forward View aim of creating a ‘new relationship
with people and communities’ by developing the
third sector’s strengths, skills, capacities, interests
and networks and by testing new approaches to
key strategic commissioning questions.
The grants programme was developed by NHS
Leeds South and East and NHS Leeds North
CCGs in collaboration with Leeds Community
Foundation (LCF), with the first round of
grants distributed in June 2015. In total, over
£2million has been made available to third sector
organisations in Leeds, enabling them to run
innovative projects in support of local health and
wellbeing priorities.

The scheme links patients to local third sector
and community organisations to address wider
determinants of health such as housing, debt,
and social isolation; enabling patients and
communities to actively self-manage health issues
through peer support and access to local third
sector groups and services.
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The Market Place: This project offered fast
access to short-term crisis counselling for
young people aged 13-25 as an alternative to,
or to complement, the longer wait for general
counselling and support, improving the emotional
wellbeing and mental health of young people
who presented in crisis.

The grants programme aimed to
• better meet the needs of local communities
• deliver and link with non-medical activities
which promote health and wellbeing
• support the CCG’s strategic aims, particularly in
relation to potential years of life lost (PYLL) and
health-related quality of life

Northpoint Wellbeing Limited: Working
with GP practices in Chapeltown this project
has supported those patients with complex
needs, multiple conditions and severe functional
impairment, providing a new approach for
patients and bridging the gap between primary
and secondary mental health services.

• increase third sector capacity
• test a new approach to funding by using
flexible grants, as opposed to commissioning
• develop new relationships with third sector
organisations
33 grant programmes, totalling £910,000 have
been implemented in Leeds in our area, reaching
over 3000 direct beneficiaries over the life of the
programme; 14 schemes continued into 2017-18.

Moor Allerton Elderly Care: This project has
developed new ‘Circles of Support,’ which has
improved the wellbeing of people with dementia
by increasing their social network.

Projects were wide-ranging both in their nature
and in their target population, aiming to improve
the health and wellbeing of a wide range of
beneficiaries, including carers, adults with
long term conditions, adults with disabilities,
adults with mental health problems, parents
(including teenage parents and parents-to-be),
children, teenage mothers, older people, sex
workers, victims of domestic violence, people
with dementia, refugees and asylum seekers
and people from black and ethnic minority
communities.

Neighbourhood Elders Team: This project
has delivered an outreach approach to identify
older people at increased risk of loneliness and
isolation and has worked to improve wellbeing
of participants through partnership working with
healthcare teams.
The grant programme has gathered a large body
of evidence and learning to inform future strategy
and commissioning of services. In addition, the
CCG has gained a better understanding of the
valuable contribution third sector organisations
make in delivering health and care outcomes,
including

Many projects gave 1:1 support to people from
vulnerable or disadvantaged groups; others
provided advice or raised community awareness
about services through drop in or outreach
sessions, and group learning around themes such
as parenting or healthy eating.

• focusing on all aspects of what makes a person
well including their family and carers
• supporting an asset based approach with
communities and within people themselves
promoting confidence and self-management

Evaluation from the schemes demonstrated
positive health and wellbeing outcomes for the
people and communities they worked with, and
have helped third sector organisations build
their experience and strengthen evaluation
approaches. Some of the outcomes include:

• understanding the needs of very local areas
and natural communities as opposed to those
defined by health and care boundaries
Targeted funding
We contribute funding to Leeds City Council
contracts for health trainers, Warmth for
Wellbeing and Leeds Citizens Advice, which
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existed prior to the programme. After the second
year programme is complete, the aim is that the
groups will be self-sustaining.

secures enhanced local provision for our area
and contributes to reducing health inequalities.
The Warmth for Wellbeing scheme helps make
sure older people on low incomes have access
to the benefits they are entitled to. We have
also commissioned Forward Leeds to provide
additional alcohol services.

2.5.3 Children and maternity
Future In Mind: Leeds Strategy
The Leeds Local Transformation Plan (LTP) is a
five-year strategic plan to deliver whole system
change to children and young people’s emotional
and mental health support and service provision
in the city. The plan incorporates priorities from
primary prevention through to specialist provision
and focuses on improving both children and young
people’s experience and outcomes.

We believe that good mental health is key to
reducing health inequalities and have enhanced
mental health liaison in primary care with
dedicated liaison roles. This pilot has created
a more multi-disciplinary approach which
includes pharmacist advice and guidance, and
has increased capacity for brief interventions
and assessment for people with mental health
problems.

There has been significant progress during 201718, building on the focus and momentum of the
previous two years. Leeds has a unified strategy
and plan in response to the Future in Mind
publication and requirements to respond to the
social emotional and mental health component of
the special educational needs and disability (SEND)
agenda.

Aiming to reduce social isolation in older people,
we have supported the Supporting Wellbeing
and Independent Living for Frailty (SWIFt) project;
this project provides one to one support to older
people identified as socially isolated or in need of
additional support.
The British Lung Foundation was funded by the
three Leeds CCGs with contract management led
by Leeds City Council’s public health service, to
establish 11 integrated Breathe Easy monthly peer
support groups with weekly exercise classes over
a two year period. This programme was funded
in response to insight work which demonstrated
a real gap in peer support provision for people
living with COPD and their carers.

This joint strategy - Future in Mind: Leeds and the
underpinning refreshed Local Transformation Plan has been approved by the Leeds Health and
Wellbeing Board and is published on CCG and
council websites.

The aim of the Breathe Easy groups is to
empower people living with COPD to access
support to promote both their physical and
mental health and to increase their confidence
and skills to effectively self-manage their
condition. The groups have been established
in specific geographical localities where COPD
prevalence is highest so as to make them
accessible for people who live nearby to attend.
In year 1 of the programme (2017), five groups
were established in Middleton, Bramley, Gipton,
Hunslet and Yeadon. A further six groups will
be established in 2018. This is in addition to the
Breathe Easy East Leeds group which already

• Delivering MindMate lessons across Leeds
schools

Key developments during 2017-18 include:
• Embedding the MindMate Champion programme
across children centre and school settings

• Establishing a brief intervention offer at
MindMate single point of access
• Developing a MindMate website young people
ambassadors
• Creating a dedicated children and young person’s
mental health crisis response
• Continuing to reduce waiting times across the
whole system of support
• Developing a workforce strategy and plan
• Adopting digital technology to enhance service
access
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Children’s complex needs
Work continues across health, education and
social care to respond to the findings of the
Joint CQC/Ofsted special educational needs and
disability (SEND) inspection. Work has focused on
reducing speech and language therapy waiting
times and improving the quality and supporting
processes of the health contribution to education
health and care plans (EHCPs). A joint review,
with Leeds City Council, of support to children,
young people and families following a diagnosis
of autism is underway.

The structure of the Leeds Cancer Programme
brings together key areas of work from
prevention, awareness and screening leading to
early diagnosis and to supporting people living
with and beyond cancer. In addition there is a
work stream which focuses on ensuring ongoing
development of high quality services across
service providers. Working across these work
streams are colleagues from Leeds CCGs, LTHT,
Leeds City Council Public Health and primary care,
in collaboration with cancer charities, voluntary
and third sector organisations.

Delivery, in partnership with Leeds City Council,
of the children and young people aspects of
the transforming care programme continues,
including coordination of care, education and
treatment reviews (CETR) and development of a
community support register. The CCG and adult
social care have agreed to fund the development
of an intensive positive behaviour service which
will be ongoing over the next two years.

Addressing inequalities
Cancer incidence rates in Leeds are likely to
increase as the population grows and ages, so
cancer must continue to be a local strategic
priority for prevention, early intervention,
treatment and recovery. Cancer is a significant
cause of health inequalities, and risk factors for
cancer incidence and mortality include smoking;
alcohol use; obesity; and a lack of awareness of
and/or uptake of cancer screening programmes
and cancer symptoms and signs. Inequalities
also exist within cancer treatment itself. These
risks are linked to poverty and deprivation, and
to cultural and language barriers to accessing
prevention, screening and treatment.

A joint review of health and specialist short
breaks has been initiated in partnership with
Leeds City Council. The aim of the review is to
develop an equitable and transparent short break
offer.

2.5.4 Cancer

As the population demographic changes we have
to ensure that delivery of cancer services changes
to reflect the complex and varied needs of our
population. Across the Leeds Cancer Programme,
interventions are focused on the hard to reach
communities, ensuring they are given every
opportunity to access cancer services local to
them, to help them access services as early as
possible to aid early diagnosis.

Working with partners
The Leeds Integrated Cancer Services
Programme Board (LICS) has representation
from organisations across the health and care
sector of Leeds working together with the shared
ambition of transforming cancer outcomes for
local residents. This group is responsible for
overseeing the Leeds Cancer Programme, which
includes projects that call for the integration
and re-design of services at a system level rather
than within individual organisations. In 2017 the
focus on cancer across the city was boosted with
additional funding received by Macmillan which
enabled a programme infrastructure to be set up
and dedicated resources to deliver this work. This
funding is in place until mid-2019 with a possible
extension to 2020.

Leeds is one of five pilot sites for the Accelerate,
Coordinate, Evaluate (ACE) Programme, which
aims to ensure a rapid referral and diagnosis for
those patients presenting with non-specific but
concerning symptoms where the GP suspects
cancer. This service is now available to over 40
practices across Leeds and is targeted towards
those practices in higher deprivation areas.
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There are inequalities in cancer outcomes. At
the heart of the national cancer strategy is an
ambition to drive out variation in outcomes for
all patients, irrespective of status or disability.
The Leeds Cancer Programme has embedded this
principle at its core, and the development of a
robust patient/ public engagement strategy for
the programme will ensure external assurance in
terms of addressing inequalities and improving
population cancer outcomes.

Through our cancer care review (CCR) project,
which is part of our living with and beyond
cancer work stream, we have been able to offer
focused support to patients following a cancer
diagnosis within their local community. We have
been running a small pilot in Aire Valley Medical
Group practices where a cancer nurse specialist
has been inviting patients for a CCR, which is
person-centred and tailored to individual needs.
With an extension of funding from Macmillan,
we will be trialling this project within the LS9
locality of practices during 2018 with a view to
developing a sustainable model for rolling out
this approach across the city.

Cancer screening champion programme
During 2017, a cancer screening champion
programme focused in north, south and east
Leeds has aimed to increase cancer screening
rates and reduce health inequalities.

2.5.5 Learning disability
We have been developing and implementing
the Leeds Transforming Care Partnership (TCP)
and local plan to deliver the national three year
plan “building the right support”. Our aim is
to develop more effective community services
for people with learning disability and / or
autism with complex behaviour. This helps to
support discharge from, and prevent admission
to, specialised assessment and treatment or
continuing rehabilitation and recovery hospitals.

Concentrating on bowel screening, we targeted
areas of highest need – those with the lowest
uptake and highest deprivation levels – where
specially trained champions based in GP practices
engaged with patients who did not attend
their screening appointments. As part of the
programme, a successful cancer champion peer
support network was established and support
was also provided by colleagues in public health,
the CCG and Cancer Research UK. The scheme
will be rolled out across the city during 2018.

The TCP is a partnership consisting of
commissioners and providers working in adult
health and social care and children and young
people’s health and social care. A three year
plan has been published including an easy read
version.

Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy
2016-2021
The Leeds Cancer programme supports the
delivery of the priorities within the Leeds Health
and Wellbeing Strategy. Within the cancer
prevention, awareness and increasing screening
uptake work stream, Leeds CCGs are working
very closely with colleagues from across public
health to embed a focus on prevention and
awareness of risk factors/ signs and symptoms of
cancer. The focus on smoking cessation is a key
priority within the cancer programme as well as
the Leeds Plan, and the city wide cancer group
has focused on ensuring joined up consistent
messaging is provided to patients and primary
care colleagues in terms of smoking cessation
advice and support.

To help make sure that people with a learning
disability and/or autism are able to lead active
lives in the community and live in their own
homes, we are working with Leeds City Council
on an accommodation strategy to ensure their
housing needs are met. This includes developing
a specialist facility that will help residents build
skills and become more independent so they are
able to move into supported housing or their
own home in the community.
A key principle is ensuring that service users and
families are at the centre of the programme of
work. People with lived experience, including
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those with a learning disability, autism and their
families or carers have been involved in coproduction in a number of ways:

• Accurately identifying people who have a
learning disability
• Increasing uptake of annual health checks and
health action plans

• They have been fully involved in choosing the
site currently under development

• Increasing uptake of national health screening
programmes

• They have helped us produce materials to
support staff with the care planning process

• Avoiding unplanned care admissions

• The Transforming Care Board is seeking
someone with lived experience to become a
board member to offer challenge and insight,
resulting in a better service and decision
making.

• Implementing reasonable adjustments

We continue to work closely with Leeds City
Council’s children and young people’s service
to make sure staff know when to ask us to
undertake a care and education treatment review
and we will be carrying out more awareness
raising in the future.

• Ensuring application of the Mental Capacity
Act and that, when required, decisions made
on the person’s behalf are in their best interest

• Improving healthcare co-ordination
• Delivering equitable care for people who have
a learning disability and a long term condition

This strategy is supported by the health
facilitation team who work with local services
to promote the implementation of reasonable
adjustments.

To ensure service quality and improvement, we
have developed a learning disability mortality
review so that we can identify positive practice
and learn lessons following the death of anyone
who has a learning disability.

2.5.6 Diabetes
In 2017-18 Leeds CCG Partnership received
NHS England Transformation funding totalling
£629,000 to support three specific projects.
Whilst all of these projects are to benefit people
with diabetes generally, the first specifically
address groups who have been evidenced to have
poorer health outcomes:

We have supported the refresh of the Leeds
Learning Disability Partnership Board Strategy for
2018-2020 and are working with local agencies
to implement it. The main themes are
• Being well

1. Self-management and skills development
programme - to improve uptake for Type
2 Diabetes with an emphasis on targeted
groups (men over 40, BME and people from
areas of deprivation) and those who are newly
diagnosed within 12 months. The overall
outcome is that people feel well supported
and confident to manage their condition. The
funding is enabling us to increase the number
of courses on offer from 33 to 125 per year.

• Being safe
• Being connected
• Social
• Travel
• Employment
A strategic framework for learning disability that
takes a whole system approach to improving
physical health has been developed to highlight
health inequalities and ensure that the health
needs of people with a learning disability are
given due consideration and included in our
strategy, commissioning plans and intentions. Key
areas are:

2. Improved diabetes foot pathway - to reduce
amputations by improving the timeliness
of referrals from primary care to a multidisciplinary foot team (MDFT) for people with
diabetic foot disease. This includes developing
an expanded foot protection service with a
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to information about local services and common
problems like anxiety and stress.

focus on high and moderate risk patients and
ulcer prevention.
3. Diabetes inpatient specialist nurses - to
increase the number of specialist nurses and
dieticians within LTHT, to improve health
professionals knowledge, reduce length of
hospital stays and improve patient care and
treatment, reducing the risks of readmission

MindWell won national recognition in 2017,
winning the Patient Engagement Award at the
Medilink Yorkshire and Humber Healthcare
Business Awards, a plain English award for
‘clarity, accessibility and commitment to clear,
useful information’ and was awarded a place on
the Digital Leaders 100 list in the Cross Sector
Collaboration category.

2.5.7 Mental health
Leeds in Mind
Leeds in Mind (the city’s adult mental health
needs assessment) was published in September
2017. This report shows that we are providing
excellent mental healthcare to the population
of Leeds. It also highlights, however, that there
remain significant inequalities in terms of access
and outcomes for some groups and that there
are further steps to be taken to ensure service
design and provision meets need. As a result of
the recommendations in Leeds in Mind, one of
the first pieces of work to be developed is a new
citywide programme to address the mental health
inequalities experienced by BME communities.

You can visit the MindWell website here:
www.mindwell-leeds.org.uk
Community based mental health
The pilot of new “liaison” roles in primary care
to improve the routes to assessment and brief
interventions has proved to be successful and
will continue to be evaluated in 2018 -19. The
model has now been adopted by three GP
localities with mental health workers supporting
a more multi-disciplinary approach to mental
health within primary care. Additional workers
are now focussing on people with longer term
mental health needs helping them transition from
secondary care services back to local primary care
team support.

MindWell
MindWell, the mental health website for people
in Leeds, has grown and developed from the
early version which went live on World Mental
Health Day 2016 to being fully operational in
2017. The service has been well received locally
with an average of over 5500 sessions per month.

Perinatal mental health
The Leeds perinatal mental health pathway was
approved in February 2017; this sets out the
full pathway from the universal midwife and
health visiting service responses, through to
specialist services, including the Leeds Mother
and Baby Unit. Significant work is underway
to implement this, including improved data
collection and reporting, the development of a
shared workforce development plan and an antistigma campaign. A key ambition is to enhance
the community specialist perinatal mental health
teams that do not meet the Royal College of
Psychiatrists workforce standards. The CCG
will be applying to the perinatal mental health
community service development fund wave 2 to
improve this position.

The site producers continued to work
collaboratively with teams and organisations
across Leeds including NHS111, Mindful Employer
Leeds, public health and Leeds Bereavement
Service in order to produce new content and
forge new working partnerships.
We are committed to making MindWell accessible
to everyone in Leeds. The website is easy-touse, written in plain English and uses software
called Browsealoud which translates content into
almost 200 languages and can make it easier to
read. British Sign Language (BSL) videos are also
being developed to give BSL users better access

37

Crisis and urgent care
We have continued to deliver on our Mental
Health Leeds Crisis Care Concordat action plans
and have had a particular focus on developing
more choices and alternative means of support
for people in mental health crisis.

The team is working collaboratively with
individuals and services to reduce risk factors
associated with offending by providing shortterm support and signposting service users to
longer term support, focusing on the causes
of individual behaviours, identifying needs,
providing holistic person-centred support and
supporting individuals to move into education
and employment opportunities.

Through our strong partnership approach with
the voluntary sector, blue light, mental health
crisis and A & E services we have been able to
work together to refine our crisis café and urgent
care outreach support services to help people
engage with non-clinical support.

Dementia
Dementia diagnosis rate improved to 68.4% (end
January 2018); the first time NHS Leeds North
CCG has met the 67% target set by NHS England.
The ambition remains to improve beyond this, by
reviewing the diagnosis pathway and reducing
waiting times.

We are testing a multi-agency care planning
approach for those people who are high volume
users of emergency services so that the person
and all of the services they may be in contact
with share information and a common plan of
care. This approach will assist in decision making
and help services to make the best offer at times
of crisis.

We were rated “Good” for dementia care in the
CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework,
compared to the “Requires Improvement” rating
a year ago. This rating is based on diagnosis rate,
and whether patients receive an annual review.
Work is continuing to improve the quality of
the care plan and annual review of dementia,
alongside other long-term conditions, so we can
be confident that the review means something to
people living with dementia and carers.

The test of a CORE 24 mental health liaison
model within the general hospital has proved
valuable and has highlighted the need for mental
health acute alternatives to admission service for
children and young people.
Liaison and diversion
Along with Together Women Project, West
Yorkshire Police and Leeds Youth Offending
Service, we are expanding the already successful
Wakefield Touchstone service into Leeds. Funded
by NHS England, this will be an innovative
support service for people who have contact
with the criminal justice system; the team are
based at Elland Road Police Station. The Liaison
and Diversion Service is a multi-disciplinary team
that works with people of all ages, including
children and young people. The service supports
individuals who have contact with police stations,
the courts, prisons and probation who are
experiencing vulnerabilities such as mental health
and learning disabilities, substance misuse and
other complex needs. Touchstone is providing
mental health nurses, support workers, peer
and volunteer support as well as management
support to the service.

We continue to work with partners to improve
day-to-day support for people and carers living
with dementia. Leeds Older People’s Forum
has worked locally in Chapeltown, Harehills
and Roundhay to develop dementia-friendly
communities. This is funded by a health grant
from NHS Leeds North CCG, with the aim that
people feel included in day-to-day life, and to
reduce the risks of feeling isolated. The project
evaluation will be available in summer 2018. A
small example of success is a local hairdresser
that has signed up to be dementia-friendly,
training its staff and planning to organise a
coffee-morning to raise awareness.
www.dementiaaction.org.uk/members_and_
action_plans/7931-hair_gildas
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2.6 Performance in primary care

Targeted primary care inequalities funding has
also been used to develop practice champions;
increase uptake of the NHS health check and
cervical screening; provide an increased specialist
resource for patient education sessions on
diabetes, hypertension and stroke – the first
session attracted 60 people and 100% of them
said they had learnt something that would ‘help
them better understand their health or manage
their condition.

2.6.1 Targeted locality inequalities work
During 2017-18, we commissioned increased
targeted support for vulnerable groups and
specific communities and jointly funded a post
with Leeds City Council based in a community
hub to help bridge the gap between clinical and
community settings. The aim was to improve
access to GPs, increase healthy lifestyles,
engage with the community and increase use of
community services for those from deprived or
marginalised communities.

2.6.2 COPD programme
Working with the British Lung Foundation, we
have commissioned 11 integrated Breathe Easy
groups in areas of high need to provide peer
support and exercise programmes for people
with COPD. It is early days to understand the
impact but this is a targeted area of work being
developed late in 2017-18.

This new approach resulted in 10 practice health
champions groups with 336 participants. One
of these is ‘more than a coffee morning’ at the
Polish Centre which has close to 50 regular
attenders. This is one member of the coffee
morning’s thoughts on its impact:
“I have gone from being reluctant to attend
the coffee morning and being dragged here by
my neighbour to filling my week with groups
and activities and making genuine friends. I am
really starting to get involved with Inkwell and
enjoying it so much. I would not have been able
to do this without ‘more than a coffee morning’
in my background. Even though I have periods
of time where things are difficult, I am able
to manage it better and know that things will
improve sooner or later.”

2.6.3 Mental health project

The jointly funded post also worked closely with
colleagues across the area to deliver a range
of activities, including support and awareness
around debt and financial management,
affordable exercise classes, a weekly youth group,
monthly cinema club and Tai chi classes.

2.6.4 Enhanced care home scheme

In north Leeds, a small team of mental health
liaison workers have worked across six practices
in the Chapeltown area. During the year, the team
saw 458 patients, offering short term support
to help them understand and manage their
needs, identify ways to improve their wellbeing
or support them to access other services. Many
of the patients have struggled to access other
services and the liaison workers work closely with
the GPs to support them in primary care.
Staff from GP practices make regular visits to care
homes to offer a proactive approach to health
care and help prevent any health problems from
worsening. The approach helps build better
working relationships between practice and care
home staff team and helps ensure joined up care
for residents. Around 860 care home residents are
supported by this initiative, which is resulting in
patients having regular reviews of care plans and
their medication; assessments to understand the
risk of falls and issues with mobility; and enables
conversations with residents and their families
about plans for end of life care so their wishes can
be carried out.

Another group, Caring Hands, is a befriending
service run by patients at North Leeds Medical
Practice for fellow patients and aims to link
people to non-medical services that complement
clinical care. So far, they have recruited 25
volunteers, and have had 54 patient referrals
from the GPs, nurses, social prescribers and
patients themselves. Reasons for referral include
social isolation, anxiety, need for support at home
or when out and need for mental health support.
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2.6.5 General practice engagement scheme

collaboration and partnership between the health
care professional and patient. This is also known
as patient centred care, and personalisation.

Long term conditions
Continuing the prevention work from last year,
practices in north Leeds offered smoking advice
to 1863 patients and nicotine replacement to
500. They reviewed 3,000 patients who were at
high risk of diabetes, 20% of whom were referred
to the National Diabetes Prevention Programme.
A further 1,200 were offered lifestyle advice in
the practice. Practices also offered 2000 diabetic
patients a new style of appointment with an
opportunity to discuss their goals and review
their progress in longer appointments. Part of
the initiative was aimed at early diagnoses of
hypertension and atrial fibrillation; our practices
diagnosed 308 new hypertensives this year and
reviewed the blood pressure of 6,000 patients
who had not recently had theirs checked .They
found 108 new patients with atrial fibrillation
– offering pulse checks to a total of 16,000
patients.

We incentivised and supported practices to
offer CCSP reviews for people with long-term
conditions. This style of consultation can take up
to three years to embed within the practice and
with patients to engage, but the ultimate aim is
to review patients holistically for their long-term
condition, rather than offering single disease
reviews. Since April 2017 8,000 patients have
undertaken a CCSP review, setting over 3,000
personal goals for improving their well-being.

2.6.6 Medicines optimisation
As part of the move to becoming a single CCG,
the medicines optimisation teams (MOT) from
the three Leeds CCGs merged in September
2017. The MOT has now split the functions
into commissioning and provider roles and
thus now functions as medicines optimisation
commissioning team and medicines optimisation
provider development. Prior to the merger,
the teams worked in different ways, so since
September, much has been done to align work
streams and ways of working. The teams across
all CCG footprints have worked to improve
quality, efficiency and innovation in the use of
medicines by health and care providers across
Leeds, as the following examples show.

Working with the frail elderly population
Three practices within our Otley locality jointly
employed dedicated nursing and health care
assistant support to develop a frail elderly visiting
service. The team carried out interventions such
as frailty assessments care plans and reviews,
long-term condition reviews and one off
interventions, which in some instances supported
patients from avoiding an unnecessary hospital
admission.

Proactive management of long term
conditions
The team have ensured improved treatment
in line with The National Institute for Health
and Care Excellence (NICE) and local guidance
by carrying out clinical medication reviews
e.g. atrial fibrillation, diabetes, respiratory and
polypharmacy. Some of our pharmacists run face
to face medication review clinics in practices as
well as completing paper based reviews. The
reviews help reduce the risk of patient harm
from medicines, for example through incorrect
use or prescribing errors. In total 779 patients
with a long-term condition received a medicines
review in 2017-18, resulting in an estimated

Other practices in the area also reviewed 733 frail
elderly patients offering a holistic assessment,
including looking at social isolation, risk of falls,
medication, and supporting carers.
Collaborative care and support planning
(CCSP)
The increasing cost and complexity of caring
for patients with long-term conditions means
that historical health care systems are not
sustainable. We have to support people to be
the experts in their condition, moving away from
a clinical expert model of care to one based on
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Ensuring cost effective prescribing
We have continued to optimise the prescribing
of medicines, which has resulted in safer, more
effective prescribing and improved outcomes
for patients while minimising the amount of
medicines wasted. This has been re-invested
into providing new medicines and optimising
treatment of long-term conditions.

saving of £299,836 by the end of March 2018. In
2018-19, one mental health pharmacist and two
new technicians will be working with practices
to ensure reduced inappropriate antipsychotic
prescribing and appropriate monitoring is being
conducted.
Care home medication reviews contributing
to admissions avoidance
Integrated care home clinical medication reviews
have contributed to admissions avoidance. The
majority of reviews have been completed at the
point of admission or discharge to the care home,
contributing to better transfers of care. Working
with GP practices and care homes, the team
reviewed 1548 patients from April to September
2017, which resulted in 1915 interventions
and projected savings of £359,258. These
interventions have included recommendations
to consider stopping or taking a break from a
medication and adding or increasing treatment
for conditions considered as undertreated.

In the first three quarters of the year, the team
made savings in excess of £1.7m. By using
Optimise Rx to optimise medicines use at the
point of prescribing, we have saved £1,544,774 to
date for 2017-18. Whilst cost savings have been
impressive, it is the safety messages that are of
the utmost importance.
The medicines management facilitator (MMF)
programme runs across the previous NHS Leeds
West and NHS Leeds South and East CCG
footprints and is aimed at improving the quality
of prescribing, with net savings of £196,940 up
to January 2018. The MMF programme has also
improved the quality of prescribing in Leeds, for
example, ensuring all patients issued with sharps
have a sharps bin prescribed on repeat following
needle stick injuries reported by Leeds City
Council.

Improving antimicrobial prescribing
Antimicrobial resistance is one of the biggest
threats facing healthcare in the coming years.
Concern is growing that overuse of antibiotics
and drug-resistant bugs mean that currently
treatable infections could kill in the future. As
a result, the three CCGs have committed to
working with prescribers to achieve a reduction in
the number of preventable community C.difficile
and MRSA cases and improved concordance
with Leeds antibiotic prescribing guidelines. We
review all cases of C.difficile within primary care
to determine whether these could have been
prevented. All cases that could potentially have
been avoidable are discussed with practices and
at prescribing meetings. In 2017-18, 98% of all
GP practices achieved their antibiotic prescribing
targets for co-amoxiclav, cephalosporins and
quinolones of broad spectrum antibiotics by
working closely with the medicines optimisation
team.

Optimising treatment of atrial fibrillation,
asthma and diabetes
There have been different priorities across Leeds
in relation to optimising treatment. There has
been a focus on ensuring those with a high risk
of having a stroke are started on an anticoagulant
to reduce this risk, including 33 more patients
in north Leeds. All patients with asthma should
have an asthma management plan in place to
reduce the risk of asthma attacks and emergency
admissions; in 2017-18, an additional 2894
patients have received an asthma management
plan as a result of continued work with GP
practices. There have been 3647 referrals to
the National Diabetes Prevention Programme in
2017-18 which educates and encourages patients
to maintain a healthy weight and be more active.
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2.7 Equality and diversity

Improved patient safety in relation to
medicines related incidences
Reporting incidents helps ensure improvements
are made to the way healthcare is provided;
this includes medicines-related incidents. The
latest figures show that 2034 medicines related
incidents were reported by practices, which
demonstrates that an effective safety culture is
being developed to reduce the risk of medicinesrelated harm. Learning from medicines-related
DATIX incidents has been fed back to practices at
prescribing meetings.

The Equality Act 2010 introduced a Public
Sector Equality Duty, which requires us to
pay due regard to the need to eliminate
discrimination, harassment and victimisation;
advance equality of opportunity; and foster
good relations between people with one or
more protected characteristics, both in relation
to our commissioning responsibilities and our
workforce. The protected characteristics are age,
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and
civil partnership (only with regards to eliminate
discrimination), pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. In
addition we have to publish equality information
annually, demonstrating how we have met the
general Public Sector Equality Duty with regard
to both our workforce (organisations with 150+
staff) and the population we serve; and prepare
and publish one or more equality objectives at
least every four years.

Practice dressing project
The cost of dressings account for a significant
portion of the prescribing budget spent in GP
practices and we identified the need to decrease
the number of dressings wasted, improve
compliance with the Leeds wound care product
list and improve overall cost-effective dressing
prescribing. Practices which stock dressings,
rather than writing prescriptions, showed a more
efficient service for the patients and practice
staff, better waste reduction and a cost benefit
for their prescribing budget. By ordering dressings
this way, the CCGs were able to access nationally
negotiated dressings prices, ensuring value for
money. This approach has been rolled out across
the city with excellent uptake. Assessing the
impact of the scheme in terms of GP and practice
time saved is notoriously difficult but feedback so
far has been positive.

We recognise the diversity of our communities,
both citywide and within our CCG’s geographical
area. We are committed to eliminating unlawful
discrimination and promoting equality of
opportunity in the way we commission healthcare
services and to creating a workforce that is
broadly representative of the population we
serve. We value and respect our staff and aspire
to be an inclusive employer of choice. We make
sure that equality and diversity is a priority when
designing, planning and commissioning local
healthcare and respect the voices of the diverse
communities we serve.

Pharmacists within GP practices
We have continued to work with practices to
expand the roles of pharmacists within GP
practices as part of new models of care outlined
in the Five Year Forward View. Our practice
pharmacists work in GP practices across Leeds
and are involved with face to face long-term
condition management, medication reviews and
dealing with a broad range of medication queries
to enable patients to get the best out of their
medication.

2.7.1 NHS Equality Delivery System 2
The NHS Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2)
is a performance framework that helps
NHS organisations improve the services
they commission or provide for their local
communities; consider health inequalities
in their locality; and provide better working
environments, free of discrimination, for those
who work in the NHS.
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NHS organisations are required to assess and
grade their equality progress using the NHS EDS2.
The involvement of key stakeholders, representing
the interests of our diverse communities, is an
essential element of this. Following initial selfassessment, the role of stakeholders is to agree,
through constructive discussion, one of four
grades for each outcome and to identify key areas
for improvement.

Goal two ‘improved patient access and
experience’ - September 2017

We continue to work in partnership across all
NHS organisations in Leeds. We held a citywide
EDS2 engagement and assessment workshop
for goal one, ‘better health outcomes for all’ in
June 2017; the second workshop for goal two,
‘improved patient access and experience’ was
held in September 2017; with a third workshop
for goal three ‘empowered, engaged and
well-supported staff’ and goal four ‘inclusive
leadership at all levels’ being held in February
2018.

• Improving access and experience of maternity
services for women with learning difficulties/
disabilities and autism;

At the second workshop, we showcased:
• Improving access and experience of NHS
services for the Gypsy and Traveller community
living at Cottingley Springs;
• Chapeltown mental health pilot;
• Chapeltown project development worker;

• Patient insight working group;
• Work undertaken by the quality and complaints
teams.
Goal three ‘empowered, engaged and wellsupported staff” and goal four “inclusive
leadership at all levels’ - February 2018
In February, we highlighted the new people and
organisational development strategy that we will
launch following our merger on 1 April 2018. One
of the strategy’s six delivery themes is inclusion,
and an associated implementation plan will
include specific outcomes / indicators linked to
equality. These measures, derived from EDS work,
will make it easier to measure and report on
progress and should ensure that improvements in
workforce equality are better owned across the
organisation.

All workshops were attended by representatives
from each of the local NHS organisations, as
well as representatives from Voluntary Action
Leeds, Leeds Involving People, Forum Central,
Healthwatch Leeds and Leeds City Council.
At these workshops each of the NHS
organisations showcased one or more examples
of good practice and presented evidence of
performance against each of the EDS2 outcomes
along with self-assessed grades. The panel of
trusted partners provided feedback and asked
questions so that grades could be agreed and
areas for improvement identified.

2.7.2 Equality objectives
Working jointly with our NHS provider trusts in
Leeds we reviewed progress in implementing our
equality objectives for 2013 to 2017 and agreed
a new set of equality objectives for 2017 to 2020.
All NHS organisations in Leeds will continue to
work in partnership on these objectives:

Goal one ‘better health outcomes for all’ June 2017
Our showcase included the MindWell project;
the mental health crisis service for Deaf people
provided by Sign for Health; the patient
empowerment project; bowel cancer screening
and the bowel cancer champions project.

• To improve the collection, analysis and use of
equality data and monitoring for protected
groups
• To improve access to NHS services for
protected groups.
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In addition, the CCG will work to ensure
implementation of the accessible information
standard across all commissioned healthcare
providers.

accessible information standard. Each provider
organisation is subject to the Public Sector
Equality Duty and has published its own data.

Each year we provide a performance update on
our progress in relation to these objectives and
identify priorities for the following year. This
update report forms part of our Public Sector
Equality Duty Report and is published on our
website www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/about/policies/
equality-diversity

When procuring new services, we ensure that
service specifications include the requirement
to have robust policies in place to ensure that
the needs of the nine protected characteristics
and other vulnerable groups are adopted.
These policies are examined and approved by
procurement teams and our equality lead prior to
any contract being awarded.

2.7.3 NHS Workforce Race Equality
Standard

2.7.5 Accessible information standard
working group

In April 2015, the NHS Workforce Race
Equality Standard (WRES) became a mandatory
requirement and now forms part of the
CCG assurance framework. It requires NHS
organisations to demonstrate progress against
nine indicators.

The group continues to meet bi-monthly to
ensure that we have a consistent approach
implementing the standard across all GP practices
and all commissioned healthcare in Leeds.
Membership of the group includes
representatives from primary care teams, contract
managers and quality managers, in addition to
a patient representative and representative from
adult social care.

Our third WRES reports (2017) were produced
during July and detail performance for 20162017 against each of the nine indicators, enabling
us to identify specific areas for improvement. The
reports and proposed actions were presented to
the senior management team and published on
our websites at the end of July.

The good practice checklist produced by the
working group, has already been included in the
annual performance reports the NHS provider
trusts produce and is used during quality visits to
providers.

The key inequality identified in these reports is
that BME staff are under-represented at senior
levels within the organisation. We will take action
to reduce this inequality and use WRES data to
measure progress on an annual basis.

A draft directory of potential providers who
can help produce accessible information and
communication has been developed and
circulated to members of the working group.

2.7.4 Monitoring NHS provider
organisations

2.8 Delivering the Leeds Health and
Wellbeing Strategy

As a commissioner of healthcare, we have a duty
to ensure that all our local service providers are
meeting their statutory duties under the Equality
Act 2010 Public Sector Equality Duty. As well
as regularly monitoring performance, patient
experience and service access, we work with
them to consider their progress on their equality
objectives. This includes the NHS Equality Delivery
System (EDS2), the NHS Workforce Race Equality
Standard (WRES) and the implementation of the

We have consulted with members of the Health
and Wellbeing Board before completing and
submitting this section of our annual report.
This included an agenda item at the Health and
Wellbeing Board meeting on 19 February 2018 as
well as additional consultation with members on
the draft text before final submission.
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Evidence of our attendance at the meeting
is available online (item 58): http://
democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.
aspx?CId=965&MId=7965&Ver=4

Priority 1: a child friendly city and the best start
in life
We continue to work on the Future in Mind
strategy. The strategy has a strong emphasis
on prevention and developing the emotional
resilience of children, young people and their
families, alongside strengthening access to local
early help services We are making real progress,
benefitting children and young people in Leeds.
Partners include child and adolescent mental
health service (CAMHS) providers, school cluster
representatives, Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS
Trust service representatives and therapeutic
social workers. One of the key developments has
been MindMate (www.mindmate.org.uk), a selfmanagement tool for children, young adults and
families, and the introduction of a single point
of access ensuring ‘no wrong door’ for those in
need of support.

We have a seat on the Leeds Health and
Wellbeing Board, a statutory committee of Leeds
City Council. We actively supported the Joint
Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) using a range
of information and local and national statistics to
identify the current health and wellbeing needs
of our communities and highlighting health
inequalities that can lead to some people dying
prematurely in some parts of Leeds compared to
other people in the city.
The findings from the JSNA fed into the Leeds
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021:
www.leeds.gov.uk/docs/Health%20and%20
Wellbeing%202016-2021.pdf
The Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 20162021 has 12 priority areas:

In some of our communities infant mortality
rates are higher than the average which sadly
means children dying before they reach their first
birthday. We have invested resources to increase
knowledge of infant mortality risk factors. We
have invested in Home Start Leeds, helping young
mums have a better bond with baby, grow in
confidence, improve self-esteem and self-worth.

• A child friendly city and the best start in life;
• An age friendly city where people age well;
• Strong, engaged and well-connected
communities;
• Housing and the environment enable all people
of Leeds to be healthy;

The citywide maternity strategy has achieved the
following in 2017-18:

• A strong economy, with local jobs;
• Get more people, more physically active, more
often;

• Perinatal mental health problems are those
which occur during pregnancy or in the first
year following the birth of a child. Perinatal
mental illness affects up to 20% of women,
and covers a wide range of conditions. If left
untreated, it can have significant and long
lasting effects on the woman and her family.
To support mums a perinatal mental health
pathway has been agreed and published. This
covers a range of services from midwives and
health visiting/children centres through to the
specialist mother and baby unit.

• Maximise the benefits from information and
technology;
• A stronger focus on prevention;
• Support self-care, with more people managing
their condition;
• Promote mental and physical health equally;
• A valued, well trained and supported
workforce; and
• The best care, in the right place, at the right
time.
We have provided evidence demonstrating how
we have contributed to the 12 priority areas.
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• We have worked with local women to find
out more about the emotional difficulties
they experienced in pregnancy. This helped
us develop animations that say it’s ok to ask
for help - available on Leeds-based websites
MindWell (www.mindwell-leeds.org.uk) and
MindMate (www.mindmate.org.uk).

More older people cite loneliness as part of
their lives; more surveys indicate the scale of its
incidence. Loneliness is a serious health hazard,
and is closely linked to depression, self-neglect
and mental illness. We have worked in partnership
with Leeds City Council to support Time to Shine
(https://timetoshineleeds.org), which is delivering
local projects across Leeds that engage socially
isolated people.

• Parents with a learning disability are often
affected by poverty, social isolation, stress,
mental health problems, low literacy and
communication difficulties. To address this we
have worked with the third sector to produce
communication materials for women with
learning disabilities

Our health grants programme provided 10 health
grants supporting this priority. For example
we have worked Black Health Initiative to raise
awareness of dementia and memory loss among
people within black and minority ethnic (BME)
communities.

• Films of Leeds women and babies and our
Infant Mental Health Service demonstrating
baby cues and bonding commissioned are now
an integral part of the national award winning
Baby Buddy app

Cancer Research UK (2015 estimates that one
in two people in the UK will develop cancer at
some point in their lives. We have used additional
earmarked investment to improve earlier diagnosis
and test out different models of care for people
living with and beyond cancer. By improving
early diagnosis rates we can achieve three things
- improve health outcomes for those diagnosed
with cancer, reduce inequalities by targeting
investment to people in specific population
groups and communities who tend not to access
screening and diagnostic services, and reduce the
costs associated with treating later-stage cancer
by shifting activity away from invasive treatments
to outpatient-based treatments. By investing in
services to help people live with and beyond
cancer we are addressing the social, emotional and
economic impacts of cancer for individuals and
families - supporting people to get back into work
and get back to living a full and active life.

• Feedback across a range of health areas shows
us that patients have concerns about continuity
of care. As a result community midwifery
teams have been aligned with health visiting
and children centre teams.
Priority 2: an age friendly city where people
age well
We want to give young people in the city the
best start in life and as people progress through
to becoming adults, we want to make Leeds the
best city to grow old in. As our population ages
and Leeds gets bigger, we want to make sure we
take into account the health and quality of life for
older adults.
Falls are a common problem and, as we get older,
we can be more likely to fall. Whilst there are
many reasons that make falls more likely as we
age, there are also many different things we can
do to prevent them. We have invested in a falls
prevention programme targeting older people
at risk through a combination of physical and
emotional therapy, home improvements and
peer support. By doing this we can help maintain
independence and prevent hospital admissions.

We commissioned additional activities within three
of the neighbourhood networks in Leeds and are
currently supporting the recommissioning of the
neighbourhood networks
Working in partnership with Leeds City Council
we have continued to strengthen our range of
community-based initiatives to support people
and families living with dementia. We now have
45 memory cafes and 13 singing groups and
our memory support workers (MSW) are well
integrated into GP practices.
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Priority 3: strong, engaged and well-connected
communities

cornerstone of out-of-hospital (community)
planned and urgent care provision. The LCP
model aims to address key Leeds Health and
Wellbeing Strategy objectives by:

We have invested and improved patient and
public engagement structures this year, for
example:

- Focusing on the prevention of ill health and
supporting people of all ages to remain fit,
well and active

• Promoting and growing members of our
citywide network to provide opportunities for
anyone living in Leeds to get involved and have
their say.

- Giving children the best possible start
- Safeguarding vulnerable people

• Developing the patient champion programme
which recognises equality and diversity and
provides assurance that our commissioning
activities fully-engage with the communities
and people we represent.

- Supporting people in the management of
their long term conditions
- Avoiding unnecessary admission to hospital
and reducing the time people spend in
hospital after a necessary admission

• Investing in the Engaging Voices project which
enables engagement with the hard to reach
community and supports local community
groups

- Supporting people to live in their own
homes as long as possible
• We have been testing new models of care
in Armley through the community wellbeing
programme and in Beeston and Crossgates
through the ‘Live Well’ service. The new
models of care pilots are moving towards
proactive care and working jointly with local
agencies and communities.

• Our Future in Mind strategy, in partnership
with Leeds City Council, has introduced five
young MindMate champions to help spread the
word online and with peer groups in schools
and community youth centres. They have had
a fantastic impact already in reaching out to
communities and supporting our ongoing
work.

• In Chapeltown, a jointly funded health and
local authority community development role
has supported three patient-led groups and
trained 26 community champions, linking
GP practices with the local community.
The champions run nine regular health and
wellbeing sessions, including exercise classes,
long term conditions groups and chess clubs.
On a weekly average they have 85 participants
attending.

• We have established a citywide GP practice
patient participation group network and held
the first networking event in October attended
by almost 200 people.
We have been working with our primary care
partners and member GP practices to connect
them with local communities as highlighted
below.

2017 also saw two rounds of engagement with
the 10 Community Committees (local public
meetings led by elected members) where a local
GP, alongside a senior health and care leader,
presented on the Leeds Health and Care Plan
and local health issues. These sessions aimed
to prompt conversations, raise awareness, seek
feedback and encourage local communities to
take action to improve health outcomes. The
success of these sessions has been held up as a
best practice example across the region of the

• Leadership roles in general practice have
increased. These roles are helping bring local
partners and communities together to work on
new models of care. 18 Local Care Partnerships
are emerging that will help support integrated
care for their local population. The term ‘Local
Care Partnership’ (LCP) describes a way of
different organisations working together to
provide integrated local care, recognising
general practice and the registered list as the
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apprenticeships. The apprenticeships levy paid
by businesses can be accessed by those same
businesses to fund apprenticeship training in their
business.

value of working ‘with’ elected members and our
local communities.
These conversations have played a significant
role in shaping the future of health and care
in the city through the development of the
draft Leeds Health and Care Plan and supports
our commitment in the city to progress the
conversation with the public further.

In March 2018 the CCG recruited its first
apprentice who has joined the communications
and engagement team. This is part of our
commitment to be an employer of choice and
to increase the diversity of our workforce using
a range of demographic metrics from age,
ethnicity, disability, sexuality and so on.

The Leeds CCGs’ third sector health grants
programme funded 77 grants across 50 third
sector organisations reaching 20,000 people
living in Leeds over the last two years with 50%
focused on specific areas of deprivation within
Leeds. The remaining 50% focused on meeting
the priorities of the Leeds Health and Wellbeing
Strategy.

The CCG is a key partner in the Leeds Academic
Health Partnership and has been actively involved
in work to establish the Leeds Health and Care
Academy. Over the coming 12 months we will
look at:

Priority 4: housing and the environment enable
all people of Leeds to be healthy

• Collaborating on delivering learning
management systems

Our citywide social prescribing schemes
continue to support people with issues that
are contributing to them feeling unwell where
the primary reason is not a medical one. Social
prescribing is the term used when you are
referred to a service (usually non-medical) that
allows a GP or GP practice staff to refer an
individual to community groups and activities that
could help them.

• Developing effective use of estates and
buildings for learning and development
• Consolidating our assets around learning and
development to support the city’s 57,000
health and care staff
Priority 6: get more people, more physically
active, more often
Public Health England estimates that obesity is
responsible for more than 30,000 deaths each
year. On average, obesity deprives an individual
of an extra nine years of life, preventing many
individuals from reaching retirement age. In the
future, obesity could overtake tobacco smoking
as the biggest cause of preventable death.

Sometimes people come to see their GP about
an issue which is actually caused by things that
are not medical. This could be stress caused
by housing concerns, money worries or issues
relating to loneliness. By being referred to a social
prescribing scheme a skilled advisor will find out
what’s affecting an individual and the services
in the community that could be better placed to
help them.

We have worked with Leeds City Council
to support the relaunch of One You Leeds
(www.oneyouleeds.co.uk) - the lifestyle service
for people in the city. One You Leeds provides
online support as well as links to local services
including those that help people lead more
active lifestyles with information eating well and
managing weight.

Priority 5: a strong economy with quality, local
jobs
From 1 April 2017, the CCG is required to pay the
apprenticeship levy. The purpose of the levy is to
encourage employers to invest in apprenticeship
programmes and to raise additional funds
to improve the quality and quantity of
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Priority 7: maximise the benefits of information
and technology

As part of this drive we are looking at how we
can use our resources - including staff, equipment
and our estate - towards proactive primary and
secondary care prevention services. We have
been focussing on long-term conditions such as
diabetes, respiratory and heart failure; in child,
adolescent and adult mental health services
(CAMHS); and for vulnerable groups such as
homeless, gypsy and travellers. For example, we
were successful in obtaining national funding
to increase access to foot protection services
and foot awareness for people with diabetes to
reduce risks of deterioration and amputation.

We have achieved a number of digital milestones
this year; including:
• integrating the CCG and public health
analytical service providing a broader and
deeper skill base and a more holistic analytical
picture
• 5000 active users of the Leeds Care Record
(www.leedscarerecord.org) showing a 25%
increase on last year. Leeds Care Record is a
joined-up digital care record which enables
clinical and care staff to view real-time health
and care information across care providers and
between different systems.

The CCG health grants programme invested in 20
projects that support this priority. For example,
Purple Patch Arts increased knowledge of health
and wellbeing amongst people with learning
disabilities and the people that support them.

• We have seen a reduction in 800,000 printed
outpatient letters to GP practices as we have
supported Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust
to send these letters electronically - saving
money and time.

We have invested in various prevention
strategies delivered to local populations in the
last 12 months (within specific communities
and/or population groups). This includes
cancer awareness, winter warmth schemes,
debt advice, first aid for families and HIV and
hepatitis B and C screening. We have also been
proactively screening at risk people against latent
tuberculosis (TB).

• We have been encouraging take up of online
GP services supporting patients with repeat
prescriptions and allowing them to book/cancel
GP appointments without the need to call or
visit their practice. Free Wi-Fi is now available
at all GP practices in Leeds
• Templates within electronic patient records
have been developed for use by primary care
to record any concerns relating to safeguarding
adults, domestic violence and abuse and
mental capacity. This enables practitioners
to easily identify any concerns and ensure
an appropriate assessment and response.
They also allow practices to understand their
practice population in terms of risks and needs.

We, alongside partners Leeds City Council, West
Yorkshire Police, Leeds Community Healthcare
NHS Trust and Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS
Trust, signed a pledge to support victims of
honour based violence and abuse.
The CCGs Partnership safeguarding team have
been successful in obtaining funding from
NHS England to develop an e-learning training
package as part of the Government’s Prevent
programme tackling violent extremism.

Priority 8: a stronger focus on prevention
We know that prevention, self-management and
self-care offer benefits to patients as well as to
the health service. This is by reducing the need
for intense health-setting based care for any longterm health conditions or preventing them from
developing in the first place.

Healthcare providers and advocates around
the world are increasingly recognising that all
forms of domestic violence can have devastating
physical and emotional health effects. Since
August 2016 the CCG’s safeguarding team has
introduced a process of notifying individual GP
practices of high risk victims of domestic violence
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and abuse which have been discussed at the daily
risk and coordination meeting. This ensures that
GPs are aware of the social situation and risks to
individual patients and can provide a timely and
coordinator response to support victims and their
children who are experiencing domestic violence
and abuse.

Twelve health grants supported this priority. For
example, Holbeck Elderly Aid encouraged more
people to manage their healthcare and long-term
conditions better and Advonet increased the
confidence of 400 adults with autism to manage
their long-term conditions more effectively,
reducing avoidable contact with health services.

Priority 9: support self-care, with more people
managing their own conditions

Priority 10: promote mental and physical health
equally

Empowering people with the confidence and
information to look after themselves when they
can, and visit the GP when they need to, gives
people greater control of their own health and
encourages healthy behaviours that help prevent
ill health in the long-term.

The CCG is committed to working with members
of the Board to ensuring parity of esteem which
means valuing mental health equally with physical
health.
We have continued to invest the equivalent of our
growth in resource allocation in mental health
services.

People living with respiratory have been provided
access to breathe easy support groups delivered
by the British Lung Foundation: www.blf.org.uk/
support-for-you/breathe-easy

This has enabled us to invest and achieve very
good outcomes in early intervention in psychosis
and liaison psychiatry services based within A&E
and hospital wards. We have also invested in
community-based memory support workers to
provide ongoing support for people diagnosed
with dementia and their families.

Structured education programmes help people
with diabetes to improve their knowledge and
skills and also help to motivate them to take
control of their condition and self-manage
it effectively. We were successful in gaining
national funding to deliver a structured education
programme, with a particular focus on people
from black and ethnic minority backgrounds.

We are addressing health inequalities for
people with serious mental illness through a
series of initiatives. This includes improving the
quality of physical health monitoring within
inpatient and community mental health services,
developing pathways to address nutritional
needs and supporting people to manage multiple
medications and their side effects.

Looking after mental health is just as important
as looking after physical health. To support this
we have launched two websites in the city:
• MindMate - for children and young people up
to the age of 25. MindMate is aimed at young
people in Leeds to help support mental health
and wellbeing. It includes some useful selfhelp tools like mindfulness videos, apps and
information on support services in Leeds, plus
details on coping with university life.

We have developed enhanced primary mental
health care to offer early intervention, relapse
prevention, and reduce the number of referrals
into more specialist care, which is not always
appropriate.
Seventeen health grants supported this priority.
People who are victims of domestic violence or
those who witness it can be affected by mental
ill-health. One of our grants supported local
charity, Behind Closed Doors, help victims of
domestic violence and abuse with co-presenting
mental health issues with signposting and
referrals into services, plus immediate support
intervention.

• MindWell - for adults over the age of 18
MindWell is the single ‘go to’ place for
information about mental health in Leeds. The
website includes lots of resources that allow
people to try self-help techniques as well as
links to services that could help.
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• New workforce roles are being introduced
into general practice to ease some of the
pressure on the GP workforce. This includes
physiotherapists working across three localities
in GP practices; pharmacists working across 37
practices and 12 mental health posts working
across 29 general practice teams.

As part of our Future in Mind Strategy and our
work to improve emotional health in children and
young people we launched MindMate lessons.
This provides teachers and pupils at key stage 2
(children aged 7-11) and 3 (children aged 11-14)
with high quality, evidence-based content to
reduce stigma and raise awareness of mental
health.

• Chapeltown and Harehills have brought their
local health and social care workforce together
to build relationships, provide peer support and
understand each other roles to support better
working relationships.

Our maternity strategy has had a strong focus
on promoting mental as well as physical health;
achievements this year include:
• To support mums a perinatal mental health
pathway has been agreed and published. This
covers a range of services from midwives and
health visiting/children centres through to the
specialist mother and baby unit.

Seventeen health grants supported this priority
- supporting unpaid carers of all ages and
recruiting an additional 822 volunteers to support
peers and/or people in their local communities.
Our safeguarding team deliver training to GPs
across the city as well as CCG staff to ensure that
they have the knowledge to safeguard children
and adults within the city. In the last year this has
included training in relation to human trafficking,
Prevent (tackling extremism), the child protection
process, safeguarding adults and female genital
mutilation (FGM) The safeguarding team continue
to offer support and advice to primary care and
CCG staff in all issues related to safeguarding.

• We have worked with local women to find
out more about the emotional difficulties
they experienced in pregnancy. This helped
us develop animations that say it’s ok to ask
for help - available on Leeds-based websites
MindWell (www.mindwell-leeds.org.uk) and
MindMate (www.mindmate.org.uk).
Priority 11: a valued, well trained and
supported workforce
Our nursing and quality team have worked in
partnership with Leeds City Council’s adult social
care team to develop a ‘One City’ approach to
delivering high quality care in care homes. They
have begun implementing a plan that improves
the care people experience in our care home
settings.

Priority 12: the best care, in the right place, at
the right time
We have led on developing the A&E delivery
plan through a combination of new funding,
service improvement, new system-wide processes
and new care models to focus on achieving the
A&E 4-hour standard. The system now has one
approach to identifying, reporting and mitigating
system pressures. The plan is about so much
more than just A&E and is a true reflection of
whole-system working. For example the system
has introduced a number of new care models
such as the multi-disciplinary frailty unit within
the hospital and a GP streaming service so that
people with minor conditions can be treated
quickly without needing A&E.

Over the past year we have invested significantly
in developing the primary care workforce; for
example:
• Coaching and mindfulness offered to general
practice and wider staff groups. 42 staff have
completed a mindfulness course in the last
three months, 150 more mindfulness course
places will be available in 2018.
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from mental health services - for general support
and specialist such as eating disorders and
autism.

We understand that pressures on the system also
come from delayed discharges and therefore we
have established the Leeds Integrated Discharge
Service and community-based discharge to
assess. This allows patients to go home when
they are medically fit to do so and an assessment
of their ongoing care needs - such as social
care - is done within their home. We have set
up the ‘well bean’ crisis café - which provides
an appropriate non-clinical safe space to access
support and early intervention for people with
complex lives and multiple needs - often the
underlying cause of them using A&E in the first
place.

We have supported Leeds and York NHS
Partnership Foundation Trust in their preparation
to launch new mental health and dementia
services to older people in spring 2018. They
will use the existing local care footprints already
established for primary and community health
care to enhance support available in communities
and care homes.
Suggested priorities for our work against
the priorities in 2018-19
We will continue to develop our approach to
commissioning and delivering positive and
enduring health and wellbeing outcomes for
the people of Leeds. This includes sharing
responsibility for outcomes and inequalities as
a result of our health, care and support services
and to work together to integrate care around
population and community needs. In 2018-2019
we will be testing this approach, alongside our
commissioner and provider partners in Leeds, for
people living with frailty and older people at the
end of life.

We invested to increase community bed capacity
by 26%. The additional 48 beds will be fully open
in March 2018 and will increase opportunities
for GPs and district nurses to avoid admissions
to hospital. This will promote earlier discharge
from hospital for those who no longer need to
be in hospital but cannot return to their own
home. The Leeds CCGs have supported many
other innovations through the integrated better
care fund (iBCF) year which will support this
priority for the remainder of the Leeds Health and
Wellbeing Strategy term.

Work will continue to support proactive care so
that we can contribute to the future health and
wellbeing for our city. This in turn supports the
future resilience and sustainability of our health
and social care economy. This means continuing
our focus on:

Leeds became one of first cities in England to
commission a social prescribing service for its
citizens, with local service offers based on local
population needs. All local offers have been
evaluated in readiness for future commissioning
opportunities. The service is a recognition that
many service users of primary care, ambulance,
hospital and mental health care could have
benefitted from a non-medical response - often
linked to a social determinant of health (e.g. debt,
poor housing, domestic violence, loneliness,
poor-quality employment). The services not only
improved health outcomes but also reduced the
burden on health services.

• Supporting children, young people and their
families to prevent longer term problems and
proactively manage crisis care
• Mental health and wellbeing across our
big strategic areas (e.g. maternity, cancer,
dementia, long term condition management),
and the needs of vulnerable population groups
such as gypsy and travellers, the homeless,
people with learning disabilities

We have supported Leeds Community Healthcare
NHS Trust through a combination of incentives,
service improvement and monitoring to
significantly reduce waiting times for children
and young people requiring access and treatment

• Investing in secondary prevention, selfmanagement and proactive care delivered or
supported by local care partnerships that grow
from strength to strength
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2.9 Working with our partners

hospital stays unless needed is a priority. We also
know that not only hospitals and doctors keep
people well; a person’s life choices and where
they live are also important. Working alongside
our communities is therefore essential and we are
attracting support from community and unpaid
carers organisations to help us to think about our
next steps.

2.9.1 West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health
and Care Partnership
West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and Care
Partnership (WY&H HCP) was formed in 2016
as one of 44 Sustainability and Transformation
Partnerships (STPs). It brings together all health
and care organisations in our six places: Bradford
District and Craven; Calderdale, Harrogate,
Kirklees, Leeds and Wakefield.

We have now developed our programmes of
work into clear plans for delivery and begun to
deliver in these important areas. Our aim includes
better access to GP services at weekends and
evenings; reducing the number of people who
take their own life; a reduction in waiting times
for autism assessment; tackling alcohol related
harm; reducing the number of people at risk of
diabetes; and delivering programmes to support
people to lose weight. A key part of our plans is
rethinking the way urgent and emergency care
is provided to ensure more options are available
away from hospital, ensuring our A&Es are
supported by better primary and social care.

In November 2016 the partnership published
draft high level proposals. Since then the way the
partnership works has been further strengthened
by a shared commitment to deliver the best
healthcare possible for the 2.6 million people
living across our area. This is priority to us all.
In February 2018, the partnership published
‘Our Next Steps to Better Health and Care
for Everyone’. The document describes the
progress made since the publication of the
initial plan in November 2016 and sets out the
next 12 months and beyond. You can read it at
www.wyhpartnership.co.uk/next-steps

Our partnership has attracted over £45m of
national funding to further improve healthcare
so we can move quickly on our priorities. This
includes £12.4 million of national funding to
support work to improve early diagnosis and
make more cancers curable, and funds to build a
new mental health unit in Leeds for children and
young people. We have also recently agreed an
ambition to improve detection and management
of atrial fibrillation (irregular heartbeat) and
we estimate that this will prevent 190 strokes
over three years. In addition, we continue to
have meaningful conversations and effective
engagement with staff and the public, a very
important part of the way we work.

WY&H HCP includes 11 CCGs, eight local
councils, and services provided by a number of
health and social care organisations, including
hospitals, mental health care providers, the
ambulance service, Healthwatch, and community
organisations.
The partnership is built on organisations working
together in the West Yorkshire and Harrogate
six local areas to meet the needs of people.
Partners also work together on nine priority
programmes for the whole of West Yorkshire
and Harrogate, including mental health; hospitals
working together; maternity; stroke; urgent
and emergency care; and improving people’s
wellbeing.

This is just a snap shot of some of the work
the Partnership are doing - find out more at
www.wyhpartnership.co.uk or follow them on
Twitter @wyhpartnership.

We know that more needs to be done to prevent
ill health. People’s life chances are shaped in their
early years of life and with an ageing population,
helping frail and older people stay healthy and
independent, tackling loneliness, and avoiding
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2.9.2 Scrutiny Board (Adult Social Services,
Public Health, NHS)

2.9.3 Our NHS providers
We are pleased to be able to commission services
from three NHS trusts in Leeds alongside other
service providers. The three NHS providers in
Leeds are Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust,
Leeds and York Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
and Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust. Our
ambulance services are provided by Yorkshire
Ambulance NHS Trust who also are the provider
of NHS 111 for our region. In addition to this we
fund services from a number of neighbouring
providers so that we can uphold the rights of our
patients to choose where they go for treatment
where it is appropriate to do so.

The Scrutiny Board (Adult Social Services,
Public Health, NHS) reviews and scrutinises the
performance of Adult Social Services, Public Health
and the local NHS. The Scrutiny Board also reviews
and scrutinises decisions taken by the Executive
Board relating to Adult Social Care. Throughout
2017-18 we have continued to keep the Scrutiny
Board informed of our key decisions and plans to
assure we meet our duties to consult as outlined in
the NHS Act (2006) and Health and Social Care Act
(2012).
As part of our commitment to ensure that the
Scrutiny Board is kept up-to-date with any
developments relating to the work we do, we
provided regular briefings on our proposed
merger to form a single CCG for Leeds. This
included assuring the Board on progress and any
feedback we received from NHS England who
had responsibility for assessing and approving the
application to merge.

Some of the highlights from the year include.
• Establishing a new pilot programme with Leeds
Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust to help speedier
diagnosis for patients with ‘non-specific but
concerning symptoms in an effort to either
identify cancer sooner or to exclude it as the
cause for any health issues. The ACE project,
as it is known, worked with 40 GP practices
in 2017-18 with an ambition to take the pilot
citywide.

In 2017-18 we also updated the Scrutiny Board on
the following areas.
• Our proposals and subsequent consultation on
proposed changes to prescribing covering gluten
free foods, over the counter medicines and
branded medicines
• Our work on system integration to develop a
neighbourhood team approach to delivering
health and care services.
• Changes in the provision of primary care (GP)
services due to practices closing branch sites,
retirement of GPs or contracts ending. The areas
affected were Meanwood, Seacroft, Kippax,
Cottingley, Middleton, Rothwell and Swillington.

• We worked with Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS
Trust and Leeds Community Healthcare NHS
Trust to establish a frailty unit at St James’s
Hospital. This multidisciplinary approach meant
that we could deliver the best possible care
to frail patients in an effort to discharge them
from hospital sooner. This came at a time
when hospital services were stretched due to
the unprecedented demand over winter.
• Leeds and York Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust has been working on proactive adult
mental health services support for the most
vulnerable people - including those that are
homeless - in an effort to reduce their risk of
admission to hospital.

• Regular information on a GP practice that
was rated as inadequate by the Care Quality
Commission.

• We have worked with all our NHS providers to
look at how we can deliver integrated services
at a community level so that more people can
be treated closer to home rather than being
referred to hospital.

• Issues relating to delayed transfers of care
for patients who were medically fit to leave
hospital but could not do so as appropriate care
provision was not available at their normal place
of residence.
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2.9.4 Leeds City Council

provide us with an opportunity to engage with
some community groups who are sometimes
referred to as ‘seldom heard groups.’ Over the
past 12 months we have been working with
local community groups to run a number of
engagement events and activities so that we
can continue to develop services that meet local
needs - see more in our section on working with
patients in section 2.4.

Leeds City Council commissions care and support
services and is responsible for public health,
which seeks to protect and improve health and
wellbeing. The future direction of health and care
services set out in the NHS Five Year Forward
View is around closer integration of health and
social care services. These services would be
delivered at a locality or neighbourhood level by
care teams working together rather than working
to their own organisation’s boundaries.

We continue to fund third sector organisations
to provide our social prescribing schemes. Social
prescribing looks at wider issues that can affect
a person’s health that are not medical reasons
- things such as debt or bereavement. A social
prescription then links a patient in with services
that can help tackle the root cause of their ill
health.

Our community wellbeing project in Armley
continues to deliver results that demonstrate
the value of health and council services working
together within a community. For example this
gives GPs a referral route through to council
support services such as housing or welfare
advice. We have also worked with Leeds City
Council to deliver community-based services
to help people with dementia such as through
memory cafes and singing groups.

We have worked with a range of third sector
partners to help patients leave hospital sooner
especially over the winter months when demand
was exceptionally high.

This winter has proved to be one of the most
challenging ones in recent times for the NHS and
we have had to work closely with the council’s
adult social care teams to look at how we can
improve the discharge process for patients who
are medically fit to leave hospital. This is an
ongoing piece of work that is recognised by all as
being an area of particular concern especially in
light of the tighter financial environment we are
working in.

This included support from Age UK, the British
Red Cross and Barca-Leeds.
We are committed to tackling health inequalities.
One of the community groups we have been
looking to help access health care is those
belonging to the city’s gypsy and traveller
community. To help us with this we have worked
closely with the Gyspy and Traveller Exchange
(GATE) to provide quicker access to services
including primary care and health screening.

We have also been working closely with
Leeds City Council to deliver key public health
campaigns. In the last year we have been
promoting a campaign encouraging people to
take up the offer of a free flu jab, consider their
end of life wishes as part of the dying matters
initiative and to take up the offer of free NHS
Health Check if eligible for one.

In addition we worked with Leeds City Council
and local community ambassadors to encourage
people from at risk communities to get screened
for latent tuberculosis (TB).
Our community grants programme came to
a close this year. Over the past two years we
have awarded 77 grants across 50 organisations
reaching 20,000 people in Leeds. As well as
offering financial support, the grants programme
gave some third sector organisations an
opportunity to work with the public sector for
the first time.

2.9.5 Community and voluntary sector
organisations
The role of the community and voluntary sector
(often referred to as the third sector) is crucial
not only for the delivery of services but also to

55

2.9.6 Healthwatch Leeds

We also received reports for two of our NHS
provider organisations. Although the inspections
took place in a previous financial year we did
not have the results available at the time of last
year’s annual report. We were pleased that Leeds
Community Healthcare NHS Trust received a good
rating but were disappointed to hear that Leeds
and York Partnership NHS Foundation Trust was
rated as requires improvement, although we are
confident this position will change by the time of
the next inspection.

Healthwatch Leeds is represented on the Leeds
Health and Wellbeing Board, giving patients
and communities a voice in decisions that affect
them. We have worked with Healthwatch Leeds
to gather patient insight on local health services
including the health visiting service. We continue
to attend the Healthwatch Leeds People Voices
group. The meeting is a strategic partnership
group of involvement and engagement leads
across the city.

2.9.8 Leeds Academic Health Partnership

Healthwatch Leeds have also undertaken a
number of reviews of services and published
subsequent reports with recommendations.
We’ll be looking at how we can use the
recommendations from these reports to influence
how services are provided in the future.

We are a founding member of the citywide Leeds
Academic Health Partnership (LAHP).
One of the biggest partnerships of its kind
in the UK, the LAHP aims to improve the
health and wellbeing of the people of Leeds
by driving innovation in healthcare through
collaboration between health, academic and
other organisations. Other LAHP partners include
three universities, all the NHS Trusts in Leeds and
Leeds City Council. Since it was established in
late 2015, the LAHP’s membership has grown to
include associate member, Yorkshire and Humber
Academic Health Science Network, and affiliate
members, St Gemma’s Hospice, Yorkshire Cancer
Research and Leeds City College.

The reports are for the following:
• A review of patient participation groups in
north Leeds
• Review of health services for prisoners
• End of life care

2.9.7 Care Quality Commission
The Care Quality Commission (CQC) is the
registration body responsible for monitoring
standards of care, and undertakes announced
and unannounced inspections to providers either
as a matter of routine or in response to concerns
raised by patients and staff. To support sharing
of information and intelligence on quality and
standards of care, the Leeds Quality Surveillance
Group also includes a representative from the
CQC.

The LAHP works to
• improve the quality and of healthcare services
while also improving their efficiency
• reduce health inequalities - narrowing the gap
in health outcomes between poorer and more
affluent communities
• drive inclusive economic growth to create
wealth and jobs.

While we have been pleased with the overall
inspection results for GP practices in Leeds with
many rated as either good or outstanding, we
were disappointed that one of our practices
continued to be rated inadequate after a followup inspection.

The LAHP strategy to 2021 prioritises
preventing ill health and helping people to care
for themselves better. The strategy focuses
specifically on:
• Childhood obesity
• Mental ill health in children and young people
• Heart and circulatory health
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including a cross-city Information Governance
Steering Group and City Informatics Clinical
Group.

• The links between physical and mental ill
health
• Frailty

Through collaborative working the CCG has
created strong partnerships across the public
sector, business sector and the city universities.
This includes close working with Leeds-based
national organisations that have an important
strategic digital role such as NHS Digital and NHS
England.

• End-of-life care.
In an unprecedented approach, the LAHP is also
driving the establishment of a pioneering initiative
- the Leeds Health and Care Academy. With a
curriculum based on world-leading evidence
and research, it will provide the highest quality
training and development for the 57,000 health
and care professionals so that they can provide
the very best care for the people of Leeds.

During the year a wide range of achievements
have been developed under the leadership of LIB
including:

The new Leeds Centre for Personalised Medicine
and Health is accelerating the research,
evaluation and adoption of new treatments and
technologies based on better understanding of
how to prevent ill health and offer more tailored
care for individual patients.

Leeds Care Record: Integrated care in Leeds
has been nationally revered during the last four
years with Leeds Care Record being quoted as an
exemplar in many articles. This patient record is
now actively used by over 5,300 clinical and care
staff to support integrated care across the city.
It contains data contributions from all five key
organisational groups - GPs, hospital, community,
mental health and social care. During the last 12
months, the two main hospices in Leeds started
using the Leeds Care Record.

The Leeds City Region is known for its worldleading strengths in medical technology, as
recently referenced in the Life Sciences Industrial
Strategy Sector Deal - www.gov.uk/government/
publications/life-sciences-sector-deal The LAHP
is working across health, care, academia and
industry, and with the Office for Life Sciences, to
establish Leeds as the UK centre of excellence in
medtech.

Leeds Health and Care Intelligence Hub:
Our ambition is to create a comprehensive and
linked data set for health and care. We have
expertise in linking data sets that create insight
and information that has not been seen before,
helping the city understand its key health and
care priorities going forward. We also ensure that
all data used is secure and meets the stringent
information governance rules and data protection
regulation.

For more information, please visit
www.leedsacademichealthpartnership.org

2.9.9 Leeds Informatics Board
The NHS Leeds CCGs Partnership continues to
lead the development of the city-wide informatics
agenda. This involves coordinating the delivery
of the city health and care informatics strategy
through a formal delivery programme, ensuring
strong linkages to our health and care providers,
as well as regional and national developments.

Free WiFi in GP surgeries: 100% of GPs
surgeries in Leeds now offer patients and visiting
healthcare professionals access to the internet
using free WiFi.
Patient access to online GP facilities: In
Leeds nearly 170,000 registered patients in GP
surgeries are using and benefitting from online
facilities offered by their practice. Patients can
order repeat prescriptions and book/cancel GP
appointments without the need to call or visit

The Leeds Informatics Board (LIB) is chaired by
the clinical chair of NHS Leeds North CCG and
supported by the CCG director of informatics,
with input from senior officers and clinicians
from each partner organisation across the city.
LIB is supported by a number of sub-committees,
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their practice, which makes it easier for patients
and more efficient for GPs. The rate of take up
exceeds what is happening elsewhere in country.

This model fully integrates and reflects the ‘think
family, work family’ approach adopted in Leeds.
Our Safeguarding Children and Adults at Risk
Committee leads work on behalf of the three
CCGs through an agreed action plan and
monitors compliance of agreed safeguarding
standards through a performance framework
and audit programme. The committee includes
commissioners, head of quality, designated
nurses, designated doctors, the director of
nursing and quality and her deputy.

IT refresh: IT equipment in all 103 GP surgeries
across Leeds is being refreshed in a programme
of work that started in the summer 2017. The
work includes replacing and installing 740 desktop
PCs and securely disposing of the old obsolete
desktop PCs. It also provides each GP surgery with
two new laptops that will help to enable mobile
working and home visits. In total 270 new laptops
will be made available across the city and will be
allow for greater flexibility in accessing and storing
information whilst working in the community and
with patients in their own home.

During 2017-18, the CCG safeguarding policy
was revised and additional investment helped
ensure that the team had the capacity to
support GP practices in understanding and
meeting their safeguarding duties, revising GP
standards and offering support to any practice
that was not fully compliant. They produced a
level 3 e-learning package to raise awareness
of the Prevent programme across primary care
and wider health services and an increased
number of health staff accessed Prevent training
during the year. They also expanded an annual
training programme available to GP practice
staff to cover subjects such as modern slavery,
human trafficking, the MCA and female genital
mutilation. The team have continued to raise the
profile of safeguarding issues in primary care and
work closely with the lead safeguarding GPs,
facilitating quarterly peer support meetings which
meet level 3 competencies.

Increased efficiency: Over the last year over
600,000 letters that would previously have been
posted to a GP from the two main hospitals in
Leeds, now flow electronically, saving time and
money.
West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and
Care Partnership: We continue to build strong
long lasting relationships with our colleagues
across the region. This is achieved by strong
governance and leadership at the regional West
Yorkshire and Harrogate strategic partnership.

2.10 Safeguarding
The CCG’s strategic lead for safeguarding is the
director of nursing and quality. During 2017-18
the safeguarding team was hosted by NHS Leeds
South and East CCG but worked across all three
CCG areas.

There has been a strong commitment to
improving GP engagement with the child
protection process, including the launch of an
electronic child protection conference report
template and an audit plan to evaluate their
effectiveness and identify any additional support
that the safeguarding team can provide. They
have also launched a template to help flag patient
records if the person is at risk or a victim of
domestic abuse, as well as a MCA self-assessment
tool for use by GP practices.

The team includes a head of safeguarding /
designated nurse for safeguarding children and
adults at risk, who provides strategic leadership
and advice across the health economy, supported
by a deputy who is also the lead for the Mental
Capacity Act (MCA) and Deprivation of Liberty
Safeguards. There are also two designated
doctors for safeguarding children; two named
nurses for safeguarding children and adults at
risk; a specialist safeguarding practitioner; and a
named GP for safeguarding children who provides
leadership and support within primary care.

As you will have seen in the section on our
work with partners, the CCG has an excellent
track record of working across organisational
boundaries and this is especially important in
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safeguarding. We support the work of the Leeds
safeguarding children and adults boards and the
development of the ‘front door safeguarding
hub,’ to ensure streamlined and integrated
safeguarding processes across Leeds. Improved
working between CCG safeguarding leads and
their counterparts in adult social care has helped
identify patients who receive care in their own
homes and need Court of Protection orders.
Looking ahead, there will be a number of
challenges, especially when it comes to
supporting and managing the expanding field
of safeguarding and the particular demands
of serious case reviews; continuing to work
with GPs to embed learning into practice from
national and local reviews; and meeting our new
statutory responsibilities as a full partner, along
with the council and the police, to ensure that
the new local arrangements for safeguarding
children in Leeds are robust and have appropriate
independent oversight.

FOI requests
received

Requests
responded to
within 20 days

April

19

18

May

22

20

June

17

17

July

18

18

August

21

20

September

10

10

October

23

23

November

23

23

December

15

14

January

16

16

February

15

15

March

18

18

Totals

217

212

Philomena Corrigan
Accountable Officer
23 May 2018

2.11 Requests for information
The CCG is committed to being open and
transparent. This includes meeting the statutory
requirements of the Freedom of Information
(FOI) Act. The FOI requires every public body to
produce and regularly maintain a publication
scheme. We have adopted the Information
Commissioners Office’s model publication scheme
for health bodies Our aim is to increase openness
and transparency about what we do, what we
spend, our priorities, decisions and policies.
We also aim to make it easier for members of
the public to find the information they require
without having to make a written request. Our
publication scheme can be found here:
www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/foi/publication-scheme
In 2017-18 we received 217 requests under the
Freedom of Information Act – compared to
208 in 2016-17. We responded to 212 of these
requests within the mandatory 20 working days,
one response was sent late and four requests
were later withdrawn:

59

3. The Accountability Report
3.1 Corporate Governance Report

Visseh Pejhan-Sykes, Chief Finance Officer
After qualifying as a Chartered Accountant with
Grant Thornton in Sheffield, Visseh started her
NHS career at the Royal Hallamshire Hospital
in Sheffield (now part of the Sheffield Teaching
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust) in a dual
role as Financial Accountant and Directorate
Accountant. Since then she has held a number of
senior finance roles at both deputy director and
board level across a range of NHS organisations,
including mental health, ambulance service,
primary care trust and the NHS Executive regional
office in Trent.

3.1.1 Members Report
From 1 April 2013, NHS Leeds North CCG became
a statutory NHS body.

3.1.2 Member profiles
Dr Jason Broch, Clinical Chair
Jason is a GP at Oakwood Lane Medical Practice
and has been Chair of NHS Leeds North CCG
since 2013. As clinical lead, he chairs not only the
board, but the Council of Members. As part of
work on behalf of the whole Leeds health and
social care economy, Jason has acted as Chief
Clinical Information Officer, overseeing successful
projects such as the integrated Leeds Care Record
and award winning integrated business analytics.

In addition to her professional qualifications,
Visseh has a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics and
a Master’s Degree in Computer Studies.
Dr Simon Stockill - Joint Medical Director
Dr Simon Stockill grew up in Yorkshire, before
studying medicine at St. Mary’s Hospital Medical
School, Imperial College London and University
College London. After qualifying as a GP he
worked as a lecturer in general practice at
Imperial College London, served on the board
of Westminster Primary Care Trust and was an
elected member of Westminster City Council.

Jason has lived in the north Leeds area all his
life, except for receiving his medical training at
the University of Manchester. Jason lives with
his wife and two children He spends some of his
spare time in lay leadership positions in two local
schools.
Philomena Corrigan, Chief Executive
Phil started her nursing career in 1982 and
worked in a range of clinical areas such as
intensive care, surgical services and older people’s
services in Leeds. She then moved into a research,
audit and educational role, co-writing two books
on improving the quality of care in the NHS.
She was Director of Nursing in an acute trust
and then moved to a primary care trust (PCT) in
Bradford as Director of Community Services and
Nursing.

He has a post-graduate degree in population
health from the University of York, was Clinical
Chair of NHS Leeds Primary Care Trust before
becoming Medical Director of NHS Leeds West
CCG, and subsequently joint Medical Director for
NHS Leeds CCGs Partnership. He was a founder
of the Leeds Institute of Quality Healthcare and
takes a specialist interest in quality improvement
and clinical leadership. Simon spent over 10 years
as a GP in Leeds. In April 2016 he moved to a
new practice near Whitby in order to remove
any conflicts of interest, as the CCG took over
responsibility for commissioning primary care
medical services.

She joined Leeds PCT in 2006 and in 2009 was
appointed as Director of Commissioning/Director
of Nursing and has led on transformation,
performance and improving quality of care for
three years. She was appointed Chief Executive
of NHS Leeds West CCG in April 2012 and
subsequently NHS Leeds North and NHS South
and East CCGs in April 2017, and remains
committed to ensuring patient services in Leeds
are first class and deliver the best outcomes for
those who use them.

Outside medicine he is a Trustee of the National
Youth Theatre and enjoys running and walking on
the beaches and moors of Yorkshire.
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Dr Manjit Purewal, Joint Medical Director
Manjit qualified from Dundee University in 1993
and initially entered a career in psychiatry. He
undertook his GP training in 1997 and moved
to Leeds two years later where he has been
a practicing GP ever since. Manjit has been a
partner at the North Leeds Medical Practice since
2003 and more recently as senior partner since
2014. He has been involved in practice based
commissioning since its inception and was the
finance lead for Calibre Commissioning Group.
Manjit has held the role as Clinical Director for
NHS Leeds North CCG since its formation and has
shared the role of Medical Director for NHS Leeds
CCGs Partnership since May 2017.

effective leadership at every level of the
healthcare system. She joined NHS Leeds West
CCG in summer 2015 and was subsequently
appointed as Director of Nursing and Quality for
NHS Leeds CCGs Partnership. Jo is passionate
about improving the quality of services for
the residents of Leeds with an emphasis on
transforming the whole NHS system to a model
of high quality integrated health and social care.
Christopher Schofield - Lay Member
(Governance)
Chris was educated at Bradford Grammar
School and Cambridge University. He trained
at Hammond Suddards and was an Associate
Partner at Dibb Lupton Broomhead (specialising
in corporate finance) before being appointed
General Counsel, Company Secretary and a
Director of Filtronic PLC. Chris is the Senior
Partner of Schofield Sweeney LLP, an award
winning law firm which he founded in 1998.
The firm has offices in Leeds, Huddersfield and
Bradford and has approximately 160 staff. His
practice includes advising businesses and other
organisations on Mergers and Acquisitions,
Corporate Finance and Corporate Governance
issues. Chris is a recipient of the Yorkshire Lawyer
of the Year (Corporate) award at the Yorkshire
Legal Awards.

Sue Robins, Director of Commissioning,
Strategy and Performance
Sue qualified as a nurse in 1983 and subsequently
gained experience and qualifications in child and
adolescent mental health services (CAMHS) and
health visiting, and has worked in a wide range
of community services as a practitioner and as
a manager. She also spent time abroad working
with the British Red Cross.
Sue has over 23 years management experience in
both community and hospital services and adults
and children’s healthcare in West Yorkshire and
has held a wide range of roles across Bradford/
Airedale and for the last four years in Leeds. Her
strengths are in operational delivery and Sue is
delighted to continue to be a part of the new
NHS Leeds CCG. She will be using all her varied
clinical and management experience to develop
our commissioning agenda and in improving care
for the people of Leeds.

In his role as Lay Member (Governance), Chris
chairs the Audit Committee and is the CCG’s
Conflicts of Interest Guardian.
Chris is married with three daughters and lives
in Guiseley. His interests outside of work include
sailing, keep fit, walking, reading and theatre.
Peter Myers, Lay Member (Governance)
Peter is a chartered banker, and former
building society Chief Executive, who has broad
international financial services experience. This
has been gained in the UK (Beverley Building
Society, Yorkshire and Clydesdale Banks),
Australia (National Australia Bank), New Zealand
(Bank of New Zealand) and the USA (Michigan
National Bank).

Jo Harding, Director of Nursing and Quality
Jo qualified as a registered nurse in 1992 and
subsequently as a registered health visitor
practising clinically in Leeds and York. She
strategically and operationally managed a full
range of acute and community-based services
for 15 years across North Yorkshire and York. Jo
has a Master’s Degree in Leading Innovation and
Change and seeks to develop and encourage
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Petra Morgan,
Practice Manager Representative
Petra has been general manager at Street Lane
Practice since 2000, following a number of years
working in the leisure industry. Petra has always
been involved with service improvement and
innovation at practice level. Her work at the CCG
has been operationally focused to ensure that the
organisation can facilitate and support primary
care in delivering better care for patients.

Peter has been a director on nine boards (two
as an Executive Director and seven as a NonExecutive Director). As well as being on the
governing body of Leeds CCG, he is chairman of
the Equine and Livestock Insurance Group, and a
non-executive director of Finance Yorkshire.
Graham Prestwich, Lay Member
Graham is a member of the patient reference
group at Chevin Medical Practice and having a
long term health condition, is a regular user of
local services. His sales and marketing, strategic
planning and partnership working career was
in the pharmaceutical industry, and since 2007
has developed further interests in healthcare
associated with improving health and wellbeing.
He has experience of the development of
novel services to support those with long term
conditions become more involved in their own
health, and growing the use of technology to
improve health outcomes.

Dr Mark Freeman,
Secondary Care Consultant
Mark is a consultant in general medicine, diabetes
and endocrinology based at Mid Yorkshire
Hospitals NHS Trust where he was appointed in
2002. He was born in Leeds and lives in north
Leeds with his wife and daughters. He qualified
at University College Hospital in London before
moving back to Leeds where he completed his
basic and specialist training.

More recently he joined the Board of CHANGE,
a local charity dedicated to involving people
with learning disabilities. Graham and his wife
have been Leeds residents all their lives and their
grown-up children and grandchildren also live in
the area.

Diane Hampshire,
Non-Executive Board Nurse
Diane qualified as a nurse at Dewsbury Hospital
in 1981, working in the acute sector of the NHS
before qualifying as a midwife and later a health
visitor. She managed a community nursing team
for a number of years whilst completing a Master
of Arts degree in Child Welfare and Law.

Dr Nick Ibbotson, GP Non-Executive Director
Nick qualified in 1981 and worked as a doctor in
Cambridge and Northwick Park before taking a
five year break as a singer in the close harmony
quartet Cantabile working in the West End and
touring Europe. He then joined the BBC and
worked for two years on Tomorrow’s World
followed by six years as features producer for BBC
Scotland and then six years jointly setting up an
independent production company working for
ITV BBC and Channel 4. In 2001 Nick returned to
the NHS, firstly as a doctor at St James Hospital,
and then training as a GP in Northumbria. In
2006 he took up his current post as lead GP at
Wetherby, from which he has recently retired.

Diane has worked in the NHS in Leeds from
2004 in a senior role in safeguarding children
and adults and more recently as Director of
Nursing and Quality at NHS Leeds West CCG,
before retiring in 2015. Diane has joined our
board with a wealth of experience and a keen
interest in improving the quality and experience
of care people receive from the NHS. She is
also a member of NHS Wakefield CCG as the
independent board nurse and also works as a
consultant around safeguarding issues.
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Dr Ian Cameron, Public Health Consultant
Dr Ian Cameron is the Director of Public Health at
Leeds City Council. As part of his role he provides
public health leadership and advice to the CCG on
health improvement, health protection and public
health. Ian has been Director of Public Health for
Leeds since 2006 and is a member of the Leeds
Health and Wellbeing Board and Chair of the
Leeds Health Protection Board.

The CCG’s member practices in 2017-18 were
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Ian qualified from Liverpool University and
became Consultant in Public Health in Leeds in
1992 with a focus on mental health, physical
disabilities and learning disabilities. In 2002 Ian
became Director of Public Health for North West
Leeds Primary Care Trust. Ian has significant
experience of working within public health
nationally, and internationally and in 2008 was
made visiting Professor at the Institute of Public
Health, Lahore, Pakistan for his work on tobacco
control.

3.1.3 Member practices
The CCG is a membership organisation comprised
of 26 GP member practices across north Leeds.
The CCG is formed around a council of members
as its core decision-making body. The Council
consists of representatives from each of its
member GP practices. It meets formally every two
months to enable practices to discuss and agree
how to tackle health issues affecting their local
patients and communities.
This union of GP practices ensures that
participation is at the heart of everything NHS
Leeds North CCG does. Matters reserved for the
council include amendments to the constitution
and approval of the CCG’s annual plan.

Aireborough Family Practice
Allerton Medical Centre
Alwoodley Medical Centre
Bramham Medical Centre
Chapeltown Family Surgery
Chevin Medical Practice
Collingham Church View Surgery
Crossley Street Surgery
Foundry Lane Surgery
Leeds Private Doctors
Meanwood Group Practice
Newton Surgery
North Leeds Medical Practice
Oakwood Surgery
Oakwood Lane Medical Practice
One Medicare (The Light)
Rutland Lodge Medical Centre
Shadwell Medical Centre
Spa Surgery
St Martin’s Practice
Street Lane Practice
The Avenue Surgery
Westfield Medical Centre
Westgate Surgery
Wetherby Surgery
Woodhouse Medical Practice

The CCG’s member practices are grouped into
localities which meet together on a bi-monthly
basis. These meetings are chaired by elected GP
Locality Leads and attended by representatives
from all member practices within those localities.
The GP Locality Leads are members of our
Governing Body and these meetings constitute
the formal route by which member practices
engage in the work of the CCG.
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Composition of Governing Body
Members of the Governing Body are as follows:

(“the Board”). The Board is a joint committee of
NHS Leeds North CCG, NHS Leeds South and
East CCG and NHS Leeds West CCG. A number
of committees have been established to support
the Board. Further information is included in the
Governance Statement.

• Clinical Chair - Dr Jason Broch
• Two GP Non-Executive Directors
Dr Nick Ibbotson (one vacancy)
• Practice Manager Representative
Petra Morgan

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee provides the board with
an independent and objective view of the
CCG’s system of internal control for financial
governance, corporate governance and clinical
governance.

• Three Lay Members: (two lead on governance
matters; and one to lead on patient and public
participation matters) - Christopher Schofield,
Peter Myers and Graham Prestwich
• Secondary Care Consultant - Dr Mark Freeman

The Audit Committee is chaired by the lay
member of the board with a lead role in
overseeing key elements of audit and governance;
the other members are the second governance
lay member and a GP representative. Each
member of the Audit Committee is also a
member of the board. In attendance at each
meeting is the CCG chief finance officer as well as
representatives from internal audit, external audit
and counter fraud.

• Non-Executive Board Nurse - Diane Hampshire
• Chief Officer - Philomena Corrigan
• Chief Finance Officer - Visseh Pejhan-Sykes
• Director of Quality and Nursing - Jo Harding
• Medical Director - Dr Simon Stockill,
Dr Manjit Purewal (joint appointment)
• Director of Commissioning - Susan Robins
• The Public Health representative of the Director
of Public Health in Leeds - Dr Ian Cameron

The work of the Audit Committee includes
ensuring that there is an effective internal audit
function; reviewing the work and findings of
the external auditors; ensuring that the CCG has
adequate arrangements in place for countering
fraud; monitoring the integrity of the financial
statements of the CCG; and overseeing risk
management and information governance
arrangements.

The Governing Body has responsibility for
ensuring that the group has appropriate
arrangements in place to exercise its functions
effectively, efficiently and economically and
in accordance with the principles of good
governance.
In anticipation of merging from 1 April 2018, the
three CCGs in Leeds have established transitional
governance arrangements during 2017-18
to support joined-up, speedy and effective
decision-making. To oversee some functions,
joint committees have been established to
enable greater co-ordination and integration
of commissioning, whilst at the same time
overseeing leadership of system integration
to develop provider relationships and new
commercial relationships.

Details of the membership of all committees are
included in the governance statement. Details of
the membership of the Remuneration Committee
are also included in the remuneration report.
Register of Interests
NHS Leeds North CCG wishes to ensure that
decisions made by the CCG are taken and
seen to be taken without any possibility of the
influence of external or private interest. The
CCG has therefore put arrangements in place to
ensure that conflicts of interest are appropriately
managed with transparency and proportionality.

To oversee this transitional phase, the three
CCGs in Leeds have set up the Leeds Health
Commissioning and System Integration Board

64

3.2 Statement of Accountable Officer’s
Responsibilities

We have established a register of interests which
is outlined within the CCG’s policy on managing
conflicts of interest. This register is reviewed by
the CCG Board and Audit Committee. All board
members, committee members, employees
and member practices are asked to complete
a declarations of interest form to identify
any potential conflicts of interest. CCG Board
members are also asked to declare any conflicts
of interest with regards to agenda items at each
board and committee meeting. The CCG register
of interests can be viewed at www.leedsccg.nhs.
uk/about/governing-body/declaration-of-interest

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)
states that each Clinical Commissioning Group
shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer
shall be appointed by the NHS Commissioning
Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed
the Chief Officer (Philomena Corrigan) to be the
Accountable Officer of NHS Leeds North CCG.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are
set out under the National Health Service Act 2006
(as amended), Managing Public Money and in the
Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer
Appointment Letter. They include responsibilities
for:

Personal data related incidents
The CCG has not reported any personal
data related incidents to the Information
Commissioner’s Office during 2017-18.

• The propriety and regularity of the public
finances for which the Accountable Officer is
answerable,

Statement of disclosure to auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG
at the time the members’ report is approved
confirms:

• For keeping proper accounting records (which
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the CCG and enable
them to ensure that the accounts comply with
the requirements of the Accounts Direction),

• so far as the member is aware, there is no
relevant audit information of which the CCG’s
auditor is unaware that would be relevant for
the purposes of their audit report

• Such internal control as they determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;

• the member has taken all the steps that they
ought to have taken in order to make him or
herself aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the CCG’s auditor is aware
of it.

• Safeguarding the CCG’s assets (and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities).
• The relevant responsibilities of accounting
officers under Managing Public Money,

Modern Slavery Act
NHS Leeds North CCG fully supports the
Government’s objectives to eradicate modern
slavery and human trafficking but does not meet
the requirements for producing an annual slavery
and human trafficking statement as set out in the
Modern Slavery Act 2015.

• Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions
effectively, efficiently and economically (in
accordance with Section 14Q of the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)) and with
a view to securing continuous improvement
in the quality of services (in accordance with
Section14R of the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended)),
• Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial
duties under Sections 223H to 223J of the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
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Under the National Health Service Act 2006
(as amended), NHS England has directed each
clinical commissioning group to prepare for
each financial year financial statements in the
form and on the basis set out in the Accounts
Direction. The financial statements are prepared
on an accruals basis and must give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the clinical
commissioning group and of its net expenditure,
changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for
the financial year.

• Assess the CCG’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern; and
• Use the going concern basis of accounting
unless they have been informed by the relevant
national body of the intention to dissolve the
CCG without the transfer of its services to
another public sector entity.
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have
properly discharged the responsibilities set out
under the National Health Service Act 2006
(as amended), Managing Public Money and in
my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable
Officer Appointment Letter.

In preparing the financial statements, the
Accountable Officer is required to comply with
the requirements of the Group Accounting
Manual issued by the Department of Health &
Social Care and in particular to:

I also confirm that:

• Make judgements and estimates on a
reasonable basis;

• as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the CCG’s auditors are
unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I
have taken all the steps that I ought to have
taken to make myself aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the
CCG’s auditors are aware of that information.

• State whether applicable accounting standards
as set out in the Group Accounting Manual
issued by the Department of Health & Social
Care have been followed, and disclose and
explain any material departures in the financial
statements; and,

• that the annual report and accounts as a
whole is fair, balanced and understandable
and that I take personal responsibility for the
annual report and accounts and the judgments
required for determining that it is fair, balanced
and understandable.

• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS
England, including the relevant accounting and
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable
accounting policies on a consistent basis;

• Prepare the financial statements on a going
concern basis.

Philomena Corrigan
Accountable Officer
23 May 2018
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3.3 Annual governance statement

3.3.3 Governance arrangements and
effectiveness

3.3.1 Introduction and context

The main function of the governing body is to
ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its
functions effectively, efficiently and economically
and complies with such generally accepted
principles of good governance as are relevant
to it.

NHS Leeds North CCG is a body corporate
established by NHS England on 1 April 2013
under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended).
The clinical commissioning group’s statutory
functions are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s
general function is arranging the provision
of services for persons for the purposes of
the health service in England. The CCG is, in
particular, required to arrange for the provision
of certain health services to such extent as it
considers necessary to meet the reasonable
requirements of its local population.

Our constitution has been formally agreed by our
member practices and sets out our arrangements
for discharging our statutory responsibilities for
commissioning care on behalf of our population.
It describes our governing principles, rules and
procedures that ensure probity and accountability
in the day to day running of our CCG, clarifying
how decisions are made in an open and
transparent way and in the interest of patients
and the public.

As at 1 April 2017, the clinical commissioning
group is not subject to any directions from NHS
England issued under Section 14Z21 of the
National Health Service Act 2006.

More specifically, our constitution includes:
• our membership;

3.3.2 Scope of responsibility

• the area we cover;

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility
for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the
clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims and
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds
and assets for which I am personally responsible,
in accordance with the responsibilities assigned
to me in Managing Public Money. I also
acknowledge my responsibilities as set out
under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning
Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.

• the arrangements for the discharge of our
functions and those of our Governing Body
(including roles and responsibilities of members
of the Governing Body);
• the procedures we follow in making decisions
and to secure transparency in decision making;
• arrangements for discharging our duties in
relation to managing conflicts of interest; and
• arrangements for securing the involvement of
persons who are, or may be, provided with
services commissioned by the CCG in certain
aspects of those commissioning arrangements
and the principles that underpin these.

I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical
commissioning group is administered prudently
and economically and that resources are applied
efficiently and effectively, safeguarding financial
propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility
for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control within the clinical commissioning
group as set out in this governance statement.

Our constitution is a living document and
was updated once during 2017-18 following
consultation and sign up by our membership. The
amendments were to enable the CCG to work in
partnership with NHS Leeds West and NHS Leeds
South and East CCGs, and introduce joined up
governance arrangements.
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We have ensured that our constitution continues
to correlate to our Detailed Financial Procedures.
The Council of Members
The CCG is a membership organisation
comprising all of the GP member practices across
north Leeds. The Council of Members consists of
two representatives from each practice, a clinical
and a non- clinical/management representative,
to ensure that the CCG reflects all GP practices in
the area. Matters reserved for the council include
amendments to the constitution and approval of
the CCG’s annual plan.

Member Name

Members attend bi-monthly meetings, where
they reflect the health needs of their population
and the views of their GP practice. Council
meetings consist of workshop sessions, at which
members have the opportunity to discuss key
issues affecting their localities and patients, and
formal agenda items, when key decisions are
made, for example the approval of changes to the
constitution. The minutes are made available on
the CCG website. The effectiveness of council in
engaging with clinicians is shown by consistently
high attendance by member practices.
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Attendance
(eligible to
attend)

Aireborough Family Practice

6(6)

Allerton Medical Centre

6(6)

Alwoodley Medical Centre

6(6)

Bramham Medical Centre

6(6)

Chapeltown Family Surgery

6(6)

Chevin Medical Practice

6(6)

Collingham Church View Surgery

6(6)

Crossley Street Surgery

6(6)

Foundry Lane Surgery

6(6)

Meanwood Group Practice

6(6)

Newton Surgery

6(6)

North Leeds Medical Practice

5(6)

Oakwood Surgery

6(6)

Oakwood Lane Medical Practice

6(6)

One Medicare (The Light)

6(6)

Rutland Lodge Medical Centre

6(6)

Shadwell Medical Centre

3(6)

Spa Surgery

6(6)

St Martin’s Practice

6(6)

Street Lane Practice

6(6)

The Avenue Surgery

6(6)

Westfield Medical Centre

6(6)

Westgate Surgery

6(6)

Wetherby Surgery

6(6)

Woodhouse Medical Practice

6(6)

The board
Our governance structure is headed by the board
to which our 26 member practices have formally
delegated their statutory responsibilities within
our constitution.

Member Name

Attendance
(eligible to
attend)

Dr Jason Broch - Clinical Chair

2(3)

Dr Nick Ibbotson - GP representative

3(3)

• Clinical Chair – Dr Jason Broch

Petra Morgan - Practice Manager
representative

3(3)

• Two GP Non-Executive Directors – Dr Nick
Ibbotson (one vacancy)

Christopher Schofield - Lay member;
Governance

1(2)

• Practice Manager Representative – Petra
Morgan

Peter Myers - Lay member; Governance

1(3)

Graham Prestwich - Lay member; PPI

3(3)

Dr Mark Freeman - Secondary Care
Consultant

2(3)

Diane Hampshire - Non-Executive Board
Nurse

3(3)

Philomena Corrigan - Chief Officer

3(3)

Visseh Pejhan-Sykes - Chief Finance
Officer

3(3)

Jo Harding - Director of Nursing and
Quality

1(3)

Dr Manjit Purewal - Joint Medical Director

2(3)

Dr Simon Stockill - Joint Medical Director

2(3)

Susan Robins - Director of Commissioning,
Strategy and Performance

3(3)

Ian Cameron - Director of Public Health

3(3)

Members of the board are as follows:

• Three Lay Members: (two lead on governance
matters; and one to lead on patient and public
participation matters) – Christopher Schofield,
Peter Myers and Graham Prestwich
• Secondary Care Consultant – Dr Mark Freeman
• Non-Executive Board Nurse – Diane Hampshire
• Chief Officer – Philomena Corrigan
• Chief Finance Officer – Visseh Pejhan-Sykes
• Director of Quality and Nursing – Jo Harding
• Medical Director – Dr Simon Stockill, Dr Manjit
Purewal (joint appointment)
• Director of Commissioning – Susan Robins
• The Public Health representative of the Director
of Public Health in Leeds – Dr Ian Cameron
The board has responsibility for ensuring that
the group has appropriate arrangements in place
to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently
and economically and in accordance with the
principles of good governance.

There are two committees that report into the
board. Both committees meet ‘in common’ with
the corresponding committees from NHS Leeds
South and East and NHS Leeds West CCGs.
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee provides the board with
an independent and objective view of the CCG’s
system of internal control for financial governance,
corporate governance and clinical governance.

The board met three times during 2017-18 (twice
in common with NHS Leeds South and East and
NHS Leeds West CCGs)

The Audit Committee is chaired by the lay member
of the CCG board with a lead role in overseeing
key elements of audit and governance; the other
members are the second governance lay member
and a GP representative. Each member of the
Audit Committee is also a member of the board.
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board members and setting the terms of office
for these members.

In attendance at each meeting is the CCG chief
finance officer as well as representatives from
internal audit, external audit and counter fraud.

The committee is chaired by the PPI lay member;
the other members are the clinical chair,
audit and governance lay member and a GP
representative.

The work of the Audit Committee includes
ensuring that there is an effective internal audit
function; reviewing the work and findings of
the external auditors; ensuring that the clinical
commissioning group has adequate arrangements
in place for countering fraud; monitoring the
integrity of the financial statements of the
clinical commissioning group; and overseeing
risk management and information governance
arrangements.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee
met four times during 2017-18 (in common with
NHS Leeds West and NHS Leeds South and East
CCGs):

Member Name

The Audit Committee met five times during 201718 (three times in common with NHS Leeds South
and East and NHS Leeds West CCGs):

Member Name

Attendance
(eligible to
attend)

Dr Nick Ibbotson – GP representative

4(5)

Christopher Schofield – Lay member;
Governance

3(3)

Peter Myers – Lay member; Governance

5(5)

Graham Prestwich – Lay member; PPI

2(2)

Attendance
(eligible to
attend)

Dr Jason Broch - Clinical Chair

3(4)

Dr Nick Ibbotson – GP representative

0(4)

Peter Myers - Lay member; Governance

4(4)

Graham Prestwich – Lay member; PPI

4(4)

Joined up governance arrangements across
Leeds
In anticipation of merging from 1 April 2018, the
three CCGs in Leeds have established transitional
governance arrangements during 2017-18
to support joined-up, speedy and effective
decision-making. To oversee some functions,
joint committees have been established to
enable greater co-ordination and integration
of commissioning, whilst at the same time
overseeing leadership of system integration
to develop provider relationships and new
commercial relationships.

Remuneration and Nomination Committee
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee
determines the terms and conditions,
remuneration and travelling or other allowances
to board members, executive directors and
clinical leads, including pensions and gratuities.
The committee also makes recommendations to
the board on determinations about the terms and
conditions, remuneration, and travelling or other
allowances for employees and for people who
provide services to the group, and determinations
about allowances under any pension scheme that
the group may establish as an alternative to the
NHS pension scheme.

To oversee this transitional phase, the three
CCGs in Leeds have set up the Leeds Health
Commissioning and System Integration Board
(LHCSIB). The Board is a joint committee of NHS
Leeds North Clinical Commissioning Group, NHS
Leeds South and East Clinical Commissioning
Group and NHS Leeds West Clinical
Commissioning Group. A number of committees
have been established to support the LHCSIB.
Further information is included below.

In respect of nomination, the committee ensures
that there is balance of skills, experience and
knowledge of the board, undertaking succession
planning, overseeing the appointment process for
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Leeds Health Commissioning and System
Integration Board (LHCSIB)

Members of the LHCSIB are as follows:
• The Chairs of each of the CCGs, one of which is
appointed as Chair and one as deputy Chair of
the Board.

Established as a joint committee of the three
Leeds CCGs, the Board is responsible for ensuring
that the three Leeds CCGs work together
effectively to deliver the following functions:

• CCG Accountable Officer
• Chief Officer for System Integration

a. the strategic commissioning of health and care
services;

• CCG Chief Finance Officer
• CCG Director of Nursing and Quality

b. agreeing and monitoring the annual work
programme to support the delivery of the
Leeds Plan, shared CCG objectives and
operational plans;

• CCG Medical Director
• CCG Director of Commissioning
• Four CCG Lay Members

c. reducing health inequalities, by identifying high
risk, high priority populations and targeting
resources, prevention and care;

• Four CCG GP Representatives
In attendance (non-voting):

d. making efficient and effective use of our
collective resources by developing new
financial flows, monitoring the CCGs’ financial
plans and targets;

• Director of Adults and Health, Leeds City
Council

e. ensuring continuous improvement in the
quality of services commissioned on behalf of
the CCGs;

• Public Health representative

• Director of Children and Families, Leeds City
Council
• Chief Information Officer
• Healthwatch Representative

f. ensuring that arrangements are in place to
secure public involvement in the operation of
commissioning arrangements;

The LHCSIB met five times during 2017-18:

g. supporting organisational development;

Attendance
(eligible to
attend)

h. promoting the integration of health and care
services;

Member Name
Dr Jason Broch - Clinical Chair

4(5)

i. monitoring provider performance and taking
remedial action where necessary;

Dr Nick Ibbotson - GP representative

2(5)

Peter Myers - Lay member; Governance

3(5)

Graham Prestwich - Lay member; PPI

3(5)

Philomena Corrigan - Chief Officer

5(5)

Visseh Pejhan-Sykes - Chief Finance
Officer

5(5)

Jo Harding - Director of Nursing and
Quality

4(5)

Dr Manjit Purewal - Joint Medical Director

1(5)

Dr Simon Stockill - Joint Medical Director

4(5)

Susan Robins - Director of Commissioning,
Strategy and Performance

4(5)

Nigel Gray - Chief Officer System
Integration

4(5)

j. driving a consistent approach to understanding
the needs of our population;
k. establishing a single risk management and
Board Assurance Framework; and
l. setting up and overseeing the effectiveness of
sub committees.
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Four committees have been established to
support the LHCSIB:

Finance and Commissioning for Value
Committee

Quality and Performance Committee

The role of the committee is to ensure the
efficient and effective use of the CCGs’ collective
resources by developing new financial flows,
monitoring the CCGs’ financial plans and the
delivery of financial targets set by NHS England.

The membership includes at least two nonexecutive or lay board members from each CCG,
the director of nursing and quality, director of
commissioning and medical director.

The committee advises and supports the Board in
scrutinising and tracking delivery of key financial
and service priorities, outcomes and targets as
specified in each CCG’s strategic and operational
plans.

The committee receives the integrated quality
and performance report at each meeting as well
as regular updates on providers under enhanced
quality surveillance, risks relating to quality and
performance and patient experience.

The membership comprises at least two nonexecutive or lay Governing Body members from
each CCG, the Chief Finance Officer, Director of
Commissioning, Director of Nursing & Quality and
Medical Director.

In fulfilling its role the committee seeks
reasonable assurance relating to the quality
and performance of commissioned services.
The committee defines reasonable assurance as
evidence that performance / quality is in line with
agreed targets or trajectories, or where it is not,
there is reasonable mitigation and an action plan
to rectify any issues (the committee agrees on a
case by case basis what constitutes reasonable
mitigation).

The Finance and Commissioning for Value
Committee met five times during 2017-18:

Member Name

Where the committee receives insufficient
assurance, it challenges, assesses risks and
escalates to the board or Primary Care
Commissioning Committee if necessary.
The Quality and Performance Committee met five
times during 2017-18:

Member Name

Attendance
(eligible to
attend)

Attendance
(eligible to
attend)

Peter Myers - Lay Member; Governance

2(5)

Dr Mark Freeman - Secondary Care
Consultant

0(5)

Visseh Pejhan-Sykes - Chief Finance
Officer

5(5)

Jo Harding - Director of Nursing and
Quality

3(5)

Dr Manjit Purewal - Joint Medical Director

0(5)

Dr Simon Stockill - Joint Medical Director

3(5)

Dr Nick Ibbotson – GP representative

4(5)

Graham Prestwich – Lay member; PPI

5(5)

Susan Robins - Director of Commissioning,
Strategy and Performance

5(5)

Diane Hampshire – Non-Executive Board
Nurse

4(5)

Ian Cameron - Director of Public Health

2(5)

Jo Harding – Director of Nursing and
Quality

4(5)

Dr Manjit Purewal, Joint Medical Director

1(5)

Dr Simon Stockill – Joint Medical Director

1(5)

Susan Robins – Director of
Commissioning, Strategy and Performance

5(5)

Susan Robins - Director of Commissioning,
Strategy and Performance

5 (5)

Patient Assurance Group
The role of the group is to provide assurance to
the Leeds Health Commissioning and System
Integration Board (“the Board”) that the voices of
patients, public and carers are heard and taken
into account in the development of an integrated
health and social care system.
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Clinical Commissioning Forum

The group exists to ensure that all phases of
the commissioning/decommissioning cycle (see
below) are developed with appropriate and
sufficient public engagement plans and activities,
and are reviewed from a patient and public
perspective.

The Forum advises the Board with regards to the
strategic direction of the Leeds CCGs through:
• Reviewing population outcomes on an ongoing
basis in order to continually refine the Clinical
Commissioning Strategy.

The membership includes the patient and
public involvement lay member from each CCG
governing body, up to 12 patient representatives,
the director with responsibility for engagement
and a Healthwatch Leeds representative.

• Acting as a clinical consultation body in the
development of Business Cases.
• Providing clinical advice and opinion into CCG
organisational development, strategy and
management decisions.

The Patient Assurance Group met six times during
2017-18:

Member Name

• Acting as a forum for clinical input to the
development of strategy.

Attendance
(eligible to
attend)

• Within the parameters of the scheme of
delegation and the strategic objectives of
the organisation, agreeing priorities for
commissioning or decommissioning on behalf
of the Leeds Health Commissioning & System
Integration Board.

Graham Prestwich - Lay member

3(6)

Dawn Jarvis - (Interim) Associate Director
of Corporate Services

2(3)

Jo Harding - Director of Nursing and
Quality

1(2)

Pat Newdall - Patient Representative

4(6)

Carol Stevens - Patient Representative

3(6)

Margaret Wilkinson - Patient
Representative

3(6)

Dick Killington - Patient Representative

6(6)

David Tomkins - Patient Representative

4(6)

Ansa Ahmed - Patient Representative

1(6)

Ed Whalley - Patient Representative

5(6)

Member Name

Roy Wilson - Patient Representative

4(6)

Dr Nick Ibbotson – GP representative

4(4)

Trevor Thewlis - Patient Representative

4(6)

Dr Mark Freeman – Secondary Care
Consultant

3(4)

Robert Turner - Patient Representative

6(6)

Philomena Corrigan – Chief Officer

2(4)

Suzie Shepherd - Patient Representative

1(6)

Kath Newton - Patient Representative

2(6)

Visseh Pejhan-Sykes – Chief Finance
Officer

4(4)

Jo Harding – Director of Nursing and
Quality

1(4)

Dr Manjit Purewal, Joint Medical Director

4(4)

Dr Simon Stockill – Joint Medical Director

4(4)

Susan Robins – Director of
Commissioning, Strategy and Performance

4(4)

The membership includes the clinical members
of each CCG Governing Body as well as the Chief
Officer, Chief Finance Officer and Director of
Commissioning. Attendees include the lead GP
and nurse from each locality leadership team and
the CCG clinical leads.
The Clinical Commissioning Forum met four times
during 2017-18:
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Attendance
(eligible to
attend)

Primary Care Commissioning Committee

Performance and assessment of effectiveness

The Committee has been established in
accordance with statutory provisions to enable
the CCG to make collective decisions on the
review, planning and procurement of primary
care services within the CCG area, under
delegated authority from NHS England.

Each committee has completed a self-assessment
of its performance and effectiveness throughout
the year. The outcome of the reviews was largely
positive, however some issues were raised which
will be taken forward in implementing the
governance arrangements within the merged
CCG.

During 2017-18 the committee has met in
common with the equivalent committees from
NHS Leeds South and East and NHS Leeds West
CCGs. All three committees share a common chair
who is a lay member.

3.3.4 UK Corporate Governance Code
NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the
UK Code of Corporate Governance. However,
we have reported on our corporate governance
arrangements by drawing upon best practice
available, including those aspects of the UK
Corporate Governance Code we consider to be
relevant to the CCG and best practice.

The membership consists of all board members
apart from those who provide primary
medical services in Leeds (to avoid conflicts of
interest). The meetings are also attended by a
representative of the local Health and Wellbeing
Board, Healthwatch and NHS England.

3.3.5 Discharge of Statutory Functions
During establishment, the arrangements put in
place by the clinical commissioning group and
explained within the Corporate Governance
Framework were developed with extensive expert
external legal input, to ensure compliance with
the all relevant legislation. That legal advice also
informed the matters reserved for Membership
Body and Governing Body decision and the
scheme of delegation.

The Primary Care Commissioning Committee met
five times during 2017-18 (in common with NHS
Leeds South and East and NHS Leeds West CCGs):

Member Name

Attendance
(eligible to
attend)

Philip Lewer - Associate Lay member;
Primary Care

5(5)

Peter Myers - Lay member; Governance

3(5)

Graham Prestwich - Lay member; PPI

4(5)

Dr Mark Freeman - Secondary Care
Consultant

0(5)

Diane Hampshire - Non-Executive Board
Nurse

4(5)

Philomena Corrigan - Chief Officer

5(5)

Visseh Pejhan-Sykes - Chief Finance
Officer

4(5)

Jo Harding - Director of Nursing and
Quality

5(5)

Dr Simon Stockill - Joint Medical Director

5(5)

Susan Robins - Director of Commissioning,
Strategy and Performance

5(5)

In light of the Harris Review, the CCG has
reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers
conferred on it by the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated
legislative and regulations. As a result, I can
confirm that the CCG is clear about the legislative
requirements associated with each of the
statutory functions for which it is responsible,
including any restrictions on delegation of those
functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been
clearly allocated to a lead Director. Directorates
have confirmed that their structures provide the
necessary capability and capacity to undertake
all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory
duties.
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3.3.6 Risk management arrangements and
effectiveness

The GBAF provides an effective focus on strategic
and reputational risk rather than operational
issues highlighting any gaps in controls and
assurances. It provides the Governing Body with
confidence that the systems and processes in
place are operating in a way that is safe and
effective. A director lead is assigned to each
risk and they have overall responsibility for
their risk with support from a manager and the
governance leads. Each risk is regularly reviewed
to ensure the controls and assurances remain
valid and any identified gaps are mitigated by
timely implementation of clearly defined actions.
The updates are reported to the Leeds Health
Commissioning and System Integration Board,
Joint Quality and Performance Committee, Joint
Finance and Commissioning for Value Committee
and Audit Committee meetings. The controls,
assurances and gaps in controls and assurance
are scrutinised along with any actions required to
work towards improving the potential risk.

The CCG has adopted a risk management strategy
as well as a risk management process for the
robust monitoring of risks. This aims to:
• Ensure structures and processes are in place to
support the assessment and management of
risk throughout the CCG and across the three
CCGs in Leeds;
• achieve a culture that encourages all staff to
identify and control risks which may adversely
affect the operational ability of the CCG;
• assure the public, patients and their carers and
representatives, staff and partner organisations
that the CCG is committed to managing risk
appropriately.
The strategy sets out the process for identifying,
recording, reporting, quantifying, managing and
reviewing risks. Risks identified from a broad
range of sources including incidents, complaints,
internal audit reports and reports by external
bodies are recorded on the CCG risk register.
Risks that may affect the ability of the CCG to
meet its strategic objectives are recorded on the
Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF).

Following the development of the NHS Leeds
CCG Partnership, the three CCG organisation
objectives have been reviewed. The revised
objectives have been created as core ambitions
for the CCG Partnership to support delivery of the
Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021
and the Leeds Health and Care Plan. Throughout
this review the CCG risks have been captured
on the CCG corporate risk register whilst the
Governing Body develops the CCG ambitions
which will form the revised GBAF.

Risk management is embedded within the CCG
and into the wider working through a number of
different routes. For example the CCG operates
a city wide incident reporting system which
facilitates the review of incidents to identify any
as a potential risk to the CCG.

Risk registers

The CCG has two risk management processes
in place as described in the risk management
strategy; the risk register and the Governing Body
Assurance Framework (GBAF).

The risk register is a record of all the significant
risks faced by the organisation. In summary the
risk register contains a description of the risk,
the risk owner, the controls in place and any
outstanding actions as well as a risk score. All
identified risks have an executive director risk
owner and an appointed responsible manager
to ensure appropriate accountability for the
management of the risk.

The Governing Body Assurance Framework
(GBAF)
The Governing Body Assurance Framework
(GBAF) sets out how the CCG manages the
principle risks to delivering its strategic objectives.
The CCG Governing Body owns and determines
the content of the GBAF, identifying the strategic
risks to achieving the CCG’s objectives and
monitoring progress throughout the year.
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with the latest thought-leadership and emerging
methodologies, including the Government’s
National Fraud Strategy and Chartered Institute of
Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) ‘Managing
the Risk of Fraud’ document which are considered
best practice when countering fraud.

A web-based risk register system, Datix, is in
place within the CCG which enables all staff
to access and record risks. Staff have access
to a standardised risk assessment form for the
recording of risks and the Risk Management
Strategy provides a standard risk scoring matrix
for risk owners to use to score the level of each
particular risk to ensure consistency. All risks
that are added to the system are reviewed and
approved by a Director before being accepted as
an active risk on the CCG risk register.

Capacity to handle risk
The CCG fully appreciates its statutory obligations
towards risk management and the Governing Body
members, Executive Directors, managers and staff
work together to provide an integrated approach to
the management of risk and in developing a culture
of reporting risk, understanding and challenging
risk and providing opportunities for the analysis
of risk and discussions on risk across the whole
organisation.

The Strategy documents set levels of risk score
that determine which risks are managed at an
operational level on the risk register and those
that are escalated to the corporate risk register
for review by the Leeds Health Commissioning
and System Integration Board.

We have appointed an Executive Director lead for
risk management who reports to the Governing
Body on the risk management process.

The operational risks are managed within
directorates with support from the governance
team. When risks increase in score, red 15 or
above, these are escalated to the corporate risk
register. The risks are reviewed and updated on a
regular cycle with risk owners and the corporate
risk register is presented and reviewed by the CCG
committees and the Leeds Health Commissioning
and System Integration Board at each meeting.
Responsible managers utilise various data streams
to regularly assess the levels of risk they are
managing and update the risks to ensure that an
accurate position is presented.

The Audit Committee has responsibility for ensuring
that the CCG has an effective risk management
system and the individual Committees received the
high amber and red rated risks relevant to their
remit.
Risk assessment
The CCG recognises the need for a robust focus
on the identification and management of risks and
therefore places risk within an integral part of our
overall approach to quality.

During 2017-18 the risk registers across the three
CCGs were reviewed and a single risk register was
created to support the Leeds CCGs Partnership.
This enabled risks to be viewed on a city wide
basis and reflected the new organisational
structure. This review reduced duplication across
the individual risk registers enabling greater focus
by risk managers, with local variation reflected
within the synopsis of each risk.

Risk is assessed in accordance with the CCG Risk
Management Strategy. This requires managers to
identify risks through established reporting streams
and assess the likelihood and consequences of the
risk occurring. This is done using a measurement
matrix included in the strategy. This ensures a
consistent approach to risk assessment regardless
of the individual performing it. The likelihood and
consequence matrix reflects the organisation’s
agreed risk levels and those at which escalation to
senior managers and directors is required.

We are compliant with the Secretary of State’s
Directions for counter fraud and the requirement
for the provision for a Local Counter Fraud
Specialist (LCFS). The activities undertaken by
the LCFS during the year have been delivered
to ensure that they are risk-based and in line

As at 12 March 2018 five risks scored 16 or above,
as reflected in the CCG Corporate Risk Register,
and were escalated for review by the Leeds Health
Commissioning and System Integration Board, as
summarised below:
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Risk ID

Risk

Current
Score

Synopsis

339

There is a risk of under achievement of
overall performance 62 days urgent GP
referral to treatment of all cancers, Leeds
Teaching Hospital NHS Trust total, and not
local to Leeds patients.

16

The Trust total position continues to
underperform due to a variety of issues including
the number of patients who are cancelled due
to bed or theatre capacity due to the significant
bed and critical care pressures. There are still
concerns regarding late referrals of patients from
other providers that arrive at LTHT after day 38.
The national cancer intensive support team has
recently reviewed the lung pathway again, with
further recommendations and there is some
additional funding to increase the level of cancer
tracking within LTHT.

466

There is risk to the quality of care provided
to all patients requiring the assistance of
the Yorkshire Ambulance Service (YAS).
This is due to the continued failure of the
ambulance service to meet the national
performance targets across the city of
Leeds. As a result for patients requiring
this level of service there is an escalated
risk with the potential to impact on their
health condition, treatment and recovery.

16

The YAS Ambulance Response Pilot (ARP) is now
complete and national recommendations stated
that the new control measures will come into
effect as of the 1st April 2018. These standards
are focused on patients’ clinical needs and will
help to ensure consistent, rapid responses to
those who genuinely need them, reduce long
waits for ambulance responses and bring all 999
calls under a consistent national framework.

532

Failure to achieve the Referral to Treatment
Time standard of no more than 8% of
patients waiting more than 18 weeks from
Referral To Treatment in each reporting
specialty at month end either as a CCG
or within LTHT as lead provider for Leeds
residents.

16

A number of pathways with high volume
over 18 week waits are not commissioned by
the CCG. The CCG commissioned specialties
underperforming are: ENT; general surgery;
plastics; orthopaedics; urology; ‘other’ mostly
paediatric ENT. The Leeds CCG position improved
due to focus on outpatients, but has deteriorated
slightly because the inpatient/ overnight
stay capacity remains constrained, which is
impacting on the numbers of long waiters,
particularly those who cannot be operated on
in the independent sector. A number of patients
have been contacted and offered choice in the
independent sector where possible.

541

There is a continual risk to the delivery of
a resilient health and social care system
for the population of Leeds. This is due
to a multitude of factors that hinder the
system’s ability to maintain effective
system flow including: the increased
demand of referral into community
nursing services, capacity to respond to
increased pressures resulting from an
incident, demand exceeding capacity of
commissioned community beds at time
of surge and demand exceeding in area
capacity of Mental Health services at times
of surge. The impact is all partners' ability
to maintain quality care delivery and may
result in all partners' ability to maintain
elective, urgent and cancer activity, the
cancellation of services and in extended
waits for both routine and urgent care
and ultimately affecting the quality of care
provided to our patients.

16

To review the winter plan and associated
activities following a pressured period of winter
2017-18 to establish the effectiveness of actions
taken. This will inform future planning.
Reviews of pathways to identify the reasons for
delayed system flow
To review the effectiveness of the agreed
escalation process in managing current system
escalations and helping system recovery.
Specifically the quality of provider triggers,
reporting and the mutual aid principles which
require proactive provider to provider dialogue
outside of any CCG facilitated SitRep.
To obtain system wide participation in providing
daily information to aid identification of pressures
and the remedial actions required.
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Risk ID
659

Risk
There is a risk that surges in demand may
impact system capability and capacity
to respond to need. This is due to the
current situation of stretched services
and continued increasing demand,
which oftentimes occurs at inappropriate
points of access There are additional
risks that will be generated by variable
factors including, extreme weather, aging
population and acuity of need, flu and
workforce issues, i.e. industrial action.
The result of this risk is that patient safety
may be compromised and the system
is saturated and unable to deliver key
services such as cancer.

Current
Score
16

3.3.7 Other sources of assurance
Internal control framework

Synopsis
The EPRR steering group has been re-established
with member attendees from across the CCG and
will review the EPRR submission and associated
action plan. This group will also ensure that
escalation distribution list is up to date so that
key stakeholders receive weather alerts, keep a
record of which on call managers have completed
appropriate training/ upskill that enables them to
meet their obligation as a cat 2 responder in an
emergency or a system escalation, complete the
on call training programme for on call managers
so that they are able to respond effectively to
OOH emergencies, maintain an on call managers
register for Leeds Alert notifications so that they
are able to receive timely alerts independently of
notification from the unplanned care team

The majority of completed Internal Audit
Reports for the CCG have been given a rating of
significant assurance, with only one report being
rated as limited assurance.

A system of internal control is the set of
processes and procedures in place in the clinical
commissioning group to ensure it delivers its
policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to
identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the
likelihood of those risks being realised and the
impact should they be realised, and to manage
them efficiently, effectively and economically.

The Corporate Risk Register is a standing agenda
items on the LHCSIB and Audit Committee
agendas. This allows the CCG Governing Body
members to cross-check current identified risks
with any other significant developments that may
arise on these agendas to ensure any identified
problems are appropriately recorded on the risk
register.

The system of internal control allows risk to
be managed to a reasonable level rather than
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness.

Annual audit of conflicts of interest
management
The revised statutory guidance on managing
conflicts of interest for CCGs (published
June 2016) requires CCGs to undertake an
annual internal audit of conflicts of interest
management. To support CCGs to undertake this
task, NHS England has published a template audit
framework.

We have assigned both internal and external
auditors to provide the Governing Body with
independent assurance of its process of internal
control and to assure itself of the validity of this
Governance Statement.
Throughout the year a series of audits continue
to be undertaken to review the effectiveness
of governance systems. The finalised reports
and agreed action plans from these audits are
submitted to the Audit Committee. All audit
reports contain action plans of work required
as a result of the review findings. All actions are
assigned to a senior manager with responsibility
to complete within the designated timescales.
Managers are held to account by the Audit
Committee for completion of all actions.

During the year, interim and annual audits of
conflicts of interest have been undertaken. The
overall rating for the audits was ‘significant
assurance’ which reflects the robust
arrangements in place at the CCG. A number
of recommendations were made to further
strengthen the arrangements, which have been
implemented.
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Data quality

training is mandatory for all staff, to ensure that
staff are aware of their information governance
roles and responsibilities. Overall compliance
remains above the required target level.

The CCG receives a business intelligence service
from its commissioning support provider (eMBED)
and data is checked by informatics and planning
staff within the CCG. All of the CCG Committees
were reviewed in March 2018 and no concerns
were raised regarding data quality. The Quality &
Performance Committee and LHCSIB have noted
continued improvements in the CCG’s Integrated
Quality & Performance Report.

There is an Information Governance Committee
which reports to the Quality and Performance
Committee. These are formal meetings with
associated minutes and action tracking. The
CCG has bought in an expert IG practitioner and
advisory service from eMBED Health Consortium.
Any breaches of security are managed within the
CCG risk management policy and reported using
the Datix risk management system.

Information governance
The NHS Information Governance (IG) Framework
sets the processes and procedures by which the
NHS handles information about patients and
employees, in particular personal identifiable
information. The framework is supported by an
information governance toolkit and the annual
submission process provides assurances to the
clinical commissioning group, other organisations
and to individuals that personal information
is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and
effectively.

The CCG has arrangements in place to ensure
data security. The CCG has contractual
arrangements in place with an accredited IT
provider – eMBED Health Consortium and the
North East Commissioning Support Unit (NECS).
The required Data Processing Agreements are
in place. The IT provider has provided the IT
facilities required to store the data needed for
CCG business. The CCG does not hold ‘local’
data. NECS were approved by the Health and
Social Care Information Centre (HSCIC) to process
confidential data on the CCG’s behalf. The CCG
also uses national IT systems such as Oracle
financials. These are operated under nationally
stipulated security arrangements. All CCG staff
have undertaken the required IG training to
handle data securely.

The audit of the IG toolkit has provided an
opinion of significant assurance in relation to the
evidence to support the CCG’s submissions of its
IGT self-assessment on 31 March 2018. This was
based on a desk top review.
The CCG places high importance on ensuring
there are robust information governance systems
and processes in place to help protect patient
and corporate information. The CCG takes its
IG responsibilities seriously. The CCG has a suite
of approved IG policies and has provided the
associated staff awareness. The CCG continues to
use a specialist data centre to process any person
identifiable data.

Business critical models
The CCG has assessed its predictive business
models along with the associated level of
criticality. Examples are: risk stratification, activity
and contract plans/forecasts and cash forecasts.
Each business critical area has the required
level of professional and management input.
Data quality is monitored and there are service
level agreements associated with the external
provision of models such as Risk Stratification.
Some external models such as ONS population
forecasting are also classed as business critical,
though not provided internally or via an SLA.

The CCG has a governing body-level officer
responsible for information security and the
associated management processes, and this role
is known as the Senior Information Risk Owner
(SIRO). The CCG has a governing body-level
clinician responsible for ensuring that all flows of
patient information are justified and secure, and
this role is known as the Caldicott Guardian. IG
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Monthly finance reports are presented to the
Executive Management Team and LHCSIB each
month, with a copy being presented to each
meeting of the Audit Committee. Alongside the
financial position, risks and actions to mitigate
risks are reported and discussed. The CCG
is also required to provide monthly financial
information to NHS England.

The CCG has experience of robustly challenging
the quality and accuracy of such external models.
Third party assurances
We seek assurance from third party providers
about some of the services we receive. The
most recent controls assurance report relating to
the Payroll Service provided by Leeds Teaching
Hospitals NHS Trust provided assurance that
the service is properly controlled, managed and
resourced.

The CCG makes full use of internal and audit
functions to ensure controls are operating
effectively and to advise on areas for
improvement. Audit reports, action plans
and implementation of recommendations are
discussed in detail at meetings of the Audit
Committee.

3.3.8 Control Issues
The CCG did not identify any control issues within
the Month 9 Governance Statement return and
no issues have arisen subsequently that require
reporting in this Governance Statement.

The CCG’s annual accounts are reviewed by the
Audit Committee prior to formal approval by the
board.

3.3.9 Review of economy, efficiency &
effectiveness of the use of resources

The financial austerity which lies ahead is
recognised by the CCG and future plans reflect
the anticipated lower levels of growth and
transfer of resource to the local authority, as
part of the Better Care Fund.

The Board has overarching responsibility
for ensuring that the CCG has appropriate
arrangements in place to exercise its functions
effectively, efficiently and economically.
The ratings for the Quality of Leadership
indicator of the CCG Improvement and
Assessment Framework are published on MyNHS
(www.nhs.uk/servicesearch/ performance/search).
The latest data available is for Quarter 3 of
2017-18, and the CCG is rated as ‘Green’. The
year end results for 2017-18 will be available from
approximately July 2018.

CCG is actively engaged in discussions in this
regard to ensure resources are prioritised
in line with its strategic direction, including
opportunities for developing new models of care
across the spectrum of Healthcare Providers.
The CCG also recognises the need to achieve
cost reductions through improved efficiency and
productivity and work is ongoing to develop
schemes to achieve the QIPP targets and savings
from whole system transformation which form
part of future financial plans. A clear process
has been developed to ensure monitoring and
oversight of these schemes.

The CCG has developed and continues to refine
systems and processes to effectively manage
financial risks and to secure a stable financial
position.
The CCG’s financial plan was developed for
2017-18, and budgets set within this plan, and
signed off by the Governing Body prior to the
start of the financial year. These budgets were
subsequently communicated to managers and
budget holders within the organisation. The
Chief Finance Officer and their team have worked
closely with managers to ensure robust annual
budgets were prepared and delivered.
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3.3.10 Delegation of functions

Membership and attendance
The committee is made up of two representatives
from each of the CCGs – usually the CCG clinical
chair and the accountable officer. To make sure
that decision making is open and transparent,
the committee has an independent lay chair
and two lay members drawn from the CCGs.
Representatives from the HCP team and NHS
England also attend. The committee met for the
first time in public in July 2017 and continued to
meet every other month throughout 2017-18.

The CCG has a risk pooling arrangement in
place with Leeds City Council where governance
processes have been clearly outlined in a
formal agreement and control of the resources
remains with the three CCGs in Leeds who
make recommendations in partnership with the
Council to the Health and Wellbeing Board for
ratification.
Functions have been delegated to the West
Yorkshire and Harrogate Joint Committee to
support the Sustainability and Transformation
Partnership and ensure joined up and efficient
decision making.
Key responsibilities
The Joint Committee is part of the West Yorkshire
and Harrogate Health and Care Partnership
(HCP). The 11 CCGs established the committee
in May 2017, with delegated authority to take
commissioning decisions at a West Yorkshire
and Harrogate level on specific programmes
including cancer, elective care/standardisation
of commissioning policies, mental health, stroke
and urgent care. The committee aims to ensure
that its decisions include public and patient
engagement, clinical input and have authority
from the CCGs.
The committee has a work plan, memorandum
of understanding and terms of reference, which
were agreed by the members of each CCG. The
committee’s work plan reflects the partnership
priorities for which the CCGs believe collective
decision making is essential. During the year, the
committee reviewed its work plan and asked the
members of each CCG to approve changes to it
for 2018-19.
Although it can only make decisions on the
programmes of work that have been delegated to
it, the committee also makes recommendations
to the CCGs on other matters where it feels that
a West Yorkshire and Harrogate-wide approach
would be beneficial.
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West Yorkshire and Harrogate Joint Committee membership and attendance
Organisation and role

Member

Attendance
(eligible)

Independent Lay Chair

Marie Burnham

5 (5)

Fatima Khan-Shah

5 (5)

Richard Wilkinson

4 (5)

NHS Airedale, Wharfedale and Craven CCG - Clinical Chair

Dr James Thomas

5 (5)

NHS Bradford City CCG - Clinical Chair

Dr Akram Khan

3 (5)

NHS Bradford Districts CCG - Clinical Chair

Dr Andy Withers

5 (5)

Helen Hirst

5 (5)

CCG Lay member

NHS AW&C, Bradford City & Bradford Districts CCGs
Chief Officer
NHS Calderdale CCG
Clinical Chair

Dr Alan Brook

Chief Officer

Dr Matt Walsh

4 (5)

Chief Finance Officer

Neil Smurthwaite
(deputy for Matt Walsh)

1 (1)

Clinical Leader

Dr Steve Ollerton

5 (5)

Chief Officer

Carol McKenna

4 (5)

Chief Finance Officer

Ian Currell (deputy for Carol
McKenna)

1 (1)

Clinical Chair

Dr Alistair Ingram

5 (5)

Chief Officer

Amanda Bloor

5 (5)

NHS Leeds North CCG - Clinical Chair

Dr Jason Broch

3 (5)

NHS Leeds South and East CCG - GP Clinical Lead

Dr Alistair Walling

3 (5)

NHS Leeds West CCG - Clinical Chair

Dr Gordon Sinclair

4 (5)

Chief Executive

Philomena Corrigan

4 (5)

Chief Finance Officer

Visseh Pejhan-Sykes (deputy for
Philomena Corrigan)

1 (1)

Clinical Chair

Dr David Kelly

4 (5)

Chief Officer (to 5 September 2017 meeting)

Richard Parry

2 (2)

Chief Officer (from 7 November 2017 meeting)

Carol McKenna

3 (3)

Clinical Chair

Dr Phillip Earnshaw

5 (5)

Chief Officer

Jo Webster

2 (5)

Deputy Chief Officer

Pat Keane (deputy for Jo Webster)

2 (2)

5 (5)

NHS Greater Huddersfield CCG

NHS Harrogate & Rural District CCG

NHS Leeds CCGs Partnership

NHS North Kirklees CCG

NHS Wakefield CCG
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3.3.12 Head of Internal Audit Opinion

Public and patient engagement
Joint Committee meetings are held in public and
are also streamed ‘live’ on the committee’s web
pages. The committee invites questions about its
business and, where possible, these are answered
during the meeting. Full written answers to all
questions are published after each meeting.

Following completion of the planned audit
work for the financial year for the clinical
commissioning group, the Head of Internal
Audit issued an independent and objective
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of
the clinical commissioning group’s system of risk
management, governance and internal control.
The Head of Internal Audit concluded that:

There is a ‘patient story’ at most meetings, which
enables the committee to get the perspective
of patients and service users. For example, the
committee considered videos presenting the
experience of patients with cancer, highlighting
variation in general practice and the need
for effective early diagnosis. Reports to the
committee identify the patient and public
engagement that has already taken place or is
planned. For example, the committee received a
report on the major public engagement exercise
on stroke services. In this way, the committee
ensures that the voice of patients is at the centre
of its decisions.

Significant assurance can be given that there
is a generally sound system of internal control,
designed to meet the organisation’s objectives,
and that controls are generally being applied
consistently. However, some weaknesses in the
design and/or inconsistent application of controls,
put the achievement of particular objectives at
risk.
During the year, Internal Audit issued the
following audit reports:

Highlights of the committee’s work can be found
on their website www.wyh-jointcommiteeccgs.co.uk

3.3.11 Counter fraud arrangements
The CCG has contracted with Audit Yorkshire
who provide an accredited counter fraud
specialist (LCFS) to undertake counter fraud work.
The LCFS meets regularly with the Chief Finance
Officer who is responsible for overseeing and
providing strategic management and support
for all anti-fraud, bribery and corruption work
within the organisation. The LCFS also attends
all Audit Committee meetings and provides a
progress report on the work undertaken. This
includes a report on the outcome of the self
assessment against the NHS Protect Standards
for Commissioners. The last assessment was
presented in June 2016 with an overall score of
‘green’.

Area of Audit

Level of Assurance Given

Risk deep dive

Significant

Conflicts of interest
(interim)

Significant

Conflicts of interest (final)

Significant

Governance arrangements

Significant

Care home quality

Limited

Quality assurance

Significant

Contract management
QIPP

Significant

Commissioning support
contract management

Significant

Budgetary control and key
financial systems
Information governance
toolkit
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Significant (draft)

High
Significant

3.3.13 Review of the effectiveness of
governance, risk management and internal
control

The Corporate Risk Register is a regular agenda
item on the LHCSIB and Audit Committee
agendas. This allows the CCG Governing Body
members to triangulate current identified risks
with any other significant developments that may
arise on these agendas to ensure any identified
problems are appropriately recorded on the risk
register.

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control. My review of the effectiveness of
the system of internal control is informed by the
work of the internal auditors and the executive
managers and clinical leads within the clinical
commissioning group who have responsibility for
the development and maintenance of the internal
control framework. I have drawn on performance
information available to me. My review is also
informed by comments made by the external
auditors in their management letter and other
reports.

The CCG also seeks assurance from other areas
about some of the services it receives. Annual
assurance statements are received from the
CCG’s payroll provider and from the auditors of
the CCG’s principal provider of commissioning
support services (eMBED Health Consortium) in
respect of their internal controls.

3.3.14 Conclusion

The CCG risk register provides me with evidence
that the effectiveness of controls that manage
risks to the clinical commissioning group
achieving its principle objectives have been
reviewed.

No significant internal control issues have been
identified.
Philomena Corrigan
Accountable Officer
23 May 2018

I have been advised on the implications of the
result of my review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control by the Governing Body,
LHCSIB, the Audit Committee and the Quality &
Performance Committee, and a plan to address
weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement
of the system is in place.
We have assigned both internal and external
auditors to provide the Governing Body with
independent assurance of its process of internal
control and to assure itself of the validity of this
Governance Statement.
Throughout the year a programme of audits has
been undertaken to review the effectiveness
of governance systems. The reports from these
audits are submitted to the Audit Committee.
All audit reports contain action plans of work
required as a result of the review findings. All
actions are assigned to a senior manager with
responsibility to complete within the designated
timescales. Managers are held to account by the
audit committee for completion of all actions.
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3.4 Remuneration and staff report

All staff have an opportunity to participate in
consultation on policy development. New policies
which have been agreed in 2017-18 with support of
staff consultation include:
• Attendance Management
• Professional Registration
• Recruitment and Selection
• Employment Break
• Grievance

3.4.1 Our staff
Our workforce strategy has been developed
to ensure best practice in the management
and development of all staff, encompassing
human resources, workforce information and
intelligence, and learning and development. Our
strategy supports directly employed staff and
the wider workforce including governing body
members and GP leads.

Trade union facility time
A member of staff from the Leeds CCGs
Partnership has recently been appointed as a trade
union representative and completed two days of
paid training in March 2018.

Progress continues to be made against our four
key strategic workforce objectives:
• being a well governed and effective
organisation;
• being a collaborative organisation;

Training
We achieved an average of 62% compliance for
statutory and mandatory training for directly
employed staff against a target of 100%. This
position shows no change from the previous
year. In addition, employees and governing body
members have access to a full suite of IT training
modules and other soft skills modules through an
internal training system.

• supporting a healthy, happy, motivated and
highly performing workforce; and
• being an employer of choice.
Employee consultation
Recognising the benefits of partnership working,
the CCG is a member of the North Yorkshire,
Humber and Leeds, Yorkshire Social Partnership
Forum.

A number of staff have undertaken a variety of
learning and development opportunities linked to
their role and our strategic objectives. The personal
development review, based on objectives and
behaviours, has been embedded and is aligned
with changes to incremental pay progression for
staff on Agenda for Change terms and conditions
and reflecting those on non-Agenda for Change
terms and conditions. This system enables staff
to feel motivated and supported to achieve high
performance in relation to our strategic objectives
and priorities.

The aim of the Social Partnership Forum is to
provide a formal negotiation and consultation
group for the CCGs and the Unions to discuss and
debate issues in an environment of mutual trust
and respect. In particular it:
• Engages employers and trade union
representatives in meaningful discussion on the
development and implications of future policy
• Provides a forum for the exchange of
comments and feedback on issues that have a
direct or indirect effect on the workforce

Sickness absence data
In 2017, we lost a total of 284 FTE days to sickness
absence. With total staff years available of 59.4,
this gives the average number of working days lost
as 4.8 per employee. Line managers are committed
to providing support to staff through the managing
sickness policy to provide excellent working
conditions, balancing the health needs of staff
against the needs of the organisation.

• Promotes effective and meaningful
communication between all parties that can
be subsequently disseminated across the
membership
• The CCG continues to use the Social
Partnership Forum to approve policies as and
when they are finalised by the CCG
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Equality of opportunity
We are committed to eliminating unlawful
discrimination and promoting equality of
opportunity by creating a workforce that is
broadly representative of the population we
serve. We make sure that equality and diversity is
a priority when planning and commissioning local
healthcare and in respect of our workforce.

and equality analysis and in relation to the
commissioning of healthcare. We will ensure that
all records are updated to ensure compliance
among all staff, Governing Body members and
the Patient Assurance Group.
Annual workforce report
Number of senior managers by band

Policies
To ensure that our staff members do not
experience discrimination, harassment and
victimisation we ensure equality is integrated
across all our employment practices and have a
range of policies including:
• Acceptable Standards of Behaviour Policy (this
includes dignity at work);
• Equal Opportunities and Diversity in
Employment Policy;
• Managing Sickness Absence Policy; and

Pay band

Total

Band 8a

16

Band 8b

3

Band 8c

5

Band 8d

2

Band 9

0

Very senior managers

4

Governing body

7

Any other spot salary

6

• Recruitment and Selection.
Staff numbers and costs

Equality impact assessments have been carried
out on all relevant policies. We value diversity and
aim to support protected groups and recognise
that in order to remove the barriers experienced
by disabled people we need to make reasonable
adjustments for our disabled employees. We
do this on a case by case basis and involve
occupational health services as appropriate.
Reference to reasonable adjustments is made in
all relevant polices.

Assignment category

Equality training
CCG staff members have participated in
mandatory equality and diversity training. Senior
management team members, board members,
patient assurance group members and staff
directly involved in commissioning work have
attended a face to face training session, which
describes the implications of the Public Sector
Equality Duty for people commissioning health
services. All other staff have completed an
e-learning course. In addition regular briefings
and one to one guidance and support are
provided on Equality Impact Assessments
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Total

Permanent

58

Fixed term

15

Statutory office holders

0

Bank

3

Honorary

2

Gender breakdown

For 2018-19:

Gender

Total
(Female)

Total
(Male)

Band 8a

12

4

Band 8b

1

2

Band 8c

3

2

Band 8d

1

1

Band 9

0

0

Very senior managers

1

3

Governing body

1

6

Any other spot salary

4

2

All other employees (including
apprentice if applicable)

29

6

• benchmarking data has been collated to inform
pay levels;
• the outcomes of individual appraisal reviews
will be taken into consideration in considering
remuneration of senior managers, which will
be reviewed in March-April 2019.
Our senior managers’ pay has not been subject to
any performance related pay considerations.
All senior managers have been awarded standard
contracts based on a model developed across
West Yorkshire by the contracted out Human
Resources service, with standard terms, durations,
notice periods and termination payments.
Standard notice periods are currently three
months.
Remuneration of very senior managers
No senior managers are paid more than £150,000
per annum pro rata.

3.4.2 Remuneration report
Remuneration Committee
Details of our Remuneration and Nomination
Committee’s membership, number of meetings
during the year and individual attendance
records are provided in our Annual Governance
Statement.
Policy on remuneration of senior managers
To determine the level of remuneration, both
present and future, the Remuneration and
Nomination Committee takes into consideration
national guidance issued by NHS England and
benchmarking data from other CCGs.
In April 2017, a consolidated uplift of 1% was
agreed for senior managers in line with Agenda
for Change staff.
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Ex NHS Leeds South and East CCG
Clinical Chief Officer working with
LAHP to 31 July 17 *
West Yorkshire STP Core Team
Member *
Lead Financial Officer - System
Integration **
Lead Nursing Officer - System
Integration to 31 Jan 18 **
Interim Strategy Lead from
11 Dec 2017 **

Accountable Officer *
Chief Finance Officer *
Director of Commissioning *
Medical Director (shared role) *
Medical Director (shared role) *
Director of Quality and Nursing *
Public Health Representation *
Chief Officer - System Integration *
Clinical Chair
Lay Chair Leeds Health
Commissioning and System
Integration Board
Lay Member (Governance) *
Lay Member (Patient & Public
Involvement) *
Lay Member (Governance)
GP Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Board Nurse
Practice Manager Representative
Secondary Care Consultant

Title

8

5
5
2
5

5

4

1
3
2&7

2

Notes

5 - 10

15 - 20

25 - 30

30 - 35

10 - 15

10 - 15
15 - 20
10 - 15
5 - 10

0-5

0-5

5 - 10

40 - 45
10 - 15

45 - 50
35 - 40
25 - 30
25 - 30
25 - 30
25 - 30

£’000

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

2017-18

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4

1
0
1
0
1
-

£’00

-

-

-

31,108

-

-

-

-

-

-

£

Expense
Payments
(Rounded
to the
nearest
£100) Redundancy

-

-

-

-

10,923

-

-

198

-

-

£

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

£’000

Performance
Pay and
Payments
Bonuses
in Lieu of
(bands of
Notice
£5,000)

* Posts shared between NHS Leeds North CCG (33%), NHS Leeds South and East CCG (33%) and NHS Leeds West CCG (33%)
** Posts shared on population basis between NHS Leeds North CCG (25%), NHS Leeds South and East CCG (31%) and NHS Leeds West CCG (44%)
The information included in the table above represents the CCG’s share of salaries and allowances for these posts

Katherine Sheerin

Clare Linley

Martin Wright

Matt Ward

Andy Harris

Peter Myers
Dr Nick Ibbotson
Diane Hampshire
Petra Morgan
Dr Mark Freeman
Other Senior Managers:

Graham Prestwich

Chris Schofield

Philip Lewer

Governing Body Members:
Philomena Corrigan
Visseh Pejhan-Sykes
Sue Robins
Dr Simon Stockill
Dr Manjit Purewal
Jo Harding
Ian Cameron
Nigel Gray
Dr Jason Broch

Name

Salaries and allowances (subject to audit)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

£’000

Long Term
performance
pay and
Bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)

0 - 2.5

2.5 - 5

2.5 - 5

2.5 - 5

-

-

-

-

-

5 - 7.5
5 - 7.5

7.5 - 10

7.5 - 10
7.5 - 10
2.5 - 5
5 - 7.5

£’000

Note 6

All pension
related
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

5 - 10

20 - 25

25 - 30

65 - 70

20 - 25

10 - 15
15 - 20
10 - 15
5 - 10

0-5

0-5

10 - 15

45 - 50
15 - 20

50 - 55
40 - 45
30 - 35
30 - 35
25 - 30
35 - 40

£’000

-

-

-

-

-

35 - 40
-

-

-

-

125 - 130

0-5

£’000

Other
Remuneration
Total
(bands of
(Bands of
£5000) See
£5,000)
Note 1
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Accountable Officer *
Chief Finance Officer *
Director of Commissioning *
Medical Director (shared role) *
Medical Director (shared role) *
Director of Nursing and Quality *
Chief Officer - System Integration*
Lay Chair Leeds Health
Commissioning and System
Integration Board *
Lay Member *
Lay Member *
Ex NHS Leeds South and East CCG
Clinical Chief Officer working with
LAHP to 31 July 17 *
West Yorkshire STP Core Team
Member *
Lead Financial Officer - System
Integration **
Lead Nursing Officer - System
Integration to 31 Jan 18 **
Interim Strategy Lead from
11 Dec 2017 **

Philomena Corrigan
Visseh Pejhan-Sykes
Sue Robins
Simon Stockill
Dr Manjit Purewal
Jo Harding
Nigel Gray

8

5

4

3

2

Notes

25 - 30

75 - 80

100 - 105

100 - 105

30 - 35

10 - 15
10 - 15

65 - 70

£’000
140 - 145
105 - 110
85 - 90
80 - 85
85 - 90
85 - 90
125 - 130

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

2017-18

-

1

1

0

-

-

39

3

£’00
2
0
3
0

-

-

-

93,333

-

-

-

£
-

Expense
Payments
(Rounded
to the
nearest
£100) Redundancy

-

-

-

-

32,772

593
-

-

£
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

£’000
-

Performance
Pay and
Payments
Bonuses
in Lieu of
(bands of
Notice
£5,000)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

£’000
-

Long Term
performance
pay and
Bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)

0 - 2.5

7.5 - 10

15 - 17.5

10 - 12.5

-

-

-

27.5 - 30
17.5 - 20

£’000
22.5 - 25
25 - 27.5
12.5 - 15
17.5 - 20

Note 6

All pension
related
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

25 - 30

85 - 90

115 - 120

205 - 210

65 - 70

10 - 15
10 - 15

70 - 75

£’000
160 - 165
130 - 135
100 - 105
100 - 105
85 - 90
115 - 120
140-145

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

£’000
0-5
-

Other
Remuneration
Total
(bands of
(Bands of
£5000) See
£5,000)
Note 1

Notes											
1. Ian Cameron is a Consultant in Public Health at Leeds City Council, who works for the CCG under a Memorandum Of Understanding. No remuneration is payable by the CCG.
2. “Other Remuneration” for P Morgan, Dr J Broch and Dr M Purewal relates to payments paid directly to their GP Practice employer to reimburse the practice for the costs of covering their absence whilst they
are undertaking CCG roles
3. Salary for N Gray excludes the payment in lieu of notice figure of £63,068 agreed in the financial year 2017-18 but which will be paid in the financial year 2018-19
4. P Lewer is Lay Chair for NHS Leeds South and East CCG. He worked additional hours as part of the Leeds CCGs “One Voice” work, which includes payment made in 2017-18 for increased days worked in
previous financial year. The costs for this are shared between NHS Leeds North CCG (33%), NHS Leeds South and East CCG (33%) and NHS Leeds West CCG (33%). Remuneration for his NHS Leeds South and
East Chair only is within the band 40-45
5. Salary excludes payment in lieu of notice agreed in 2017-18 due to merger of Leeds CCGs on 1st April, but which will be paid in 2018-19. G Prestwich £593, M Freeman £328, D Hampshire £439 and N Ibbotson
£669
6. “All Pension Related Benefits” is the annual increase in pension entitlement determined in accordance with the method set out in section 229 of the Finance Act 2004
7. J Broch rejoined the NHS Pension scheme in July 2017.
8. As A Harris is now receiving an NHS pension, increases in pension benefits cannot be calculated											

Katherine Sheerin

Clare Linley

Martin Wright

Matt Ward

Andy Harris

Chris Schofield
Graham Prestwich

Philip Lewer

Title

Name

The total cost for these members of staff are:

90

Accountable Officer to 31 Mar 17
Chief Financial Officer to 31 Mar 17
Director of Commissioning
Director of Commissioning (New
Models of Care) to 31 Dec 16
Director of Commissioning
(Partnerships and Performance)
until 28 Feb 2017
Medical Director
Director of Nursing to 31 Mar 17
Public Health Consultant Lead to 31
Mar 17
Clinical Chair
Lay Member (Patient & Public
Involvement)
Lay Member (Governance)
GP Non-Executive Director
GP Non-Executive Director - to 31
Jan 17
Non-Executive Board Nurse
Practice Manager Representative
Secondary Care Consultant

Nigel Gray
Martin Wright
Sue Robins

4

8
10 - 15
5 - 10

10 - 15
-

-

-

-

10 - 15
10 - 15
15 - 20

-

-

1

2

1

£00
3
1
-

10 - 15

-

1
4

85 - 90
50 - 55

60 - 65

40 - 45

4
4

3

2

£’000
120 - 125
100 - 105
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

£
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

£
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

57.5 - 60

-

27.5 - 30

£’000
27.5 - 30
22.5 - 25
-

All Pension
Related
Benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

10 - 15
5 - 10

10 - 15

10 - 15
15 - 20

10 - 15

10 - 15

-

85 - 90
110 - 115

60 - 65

70 - 75

£’000
150 - 155
120 - 125
-

35 - 40
-

-

-

-

125 - 130

-

0-5
5 - 10

-

-

£’000
-

Other
Remuneration
(bands of
Total (bands
£5000) See
of £5,000)
Note 1

Notes
1. L Jackson is a Consultant in Public Health at Leeds City Council, who works for the CCG under a Memorandum Of Understanding. No remuneration is payable by the CCG.
2. G Davy acted up into the Director of Commissioning role until 31st December 2016
3. R Goodyear acted up into the Director of Commissioning role until 28th February 2017
4. “Other Remuneration” for C Linley relates to payments paid directly to her employer for her secondment in April - May 16. She has been employed by NHS Leeds North CCG from 8th September 2016
5. “Other Remuneration” for P Morgan, Dr J Broch and Dr M Purewal relates to payments paid directly to their GP Practice employer to reimburse the practice for the costs of covering their absence
whilst they are undertaking CCG roles
6. S Robins formally undertook the role of Director of Comissioning from 1st January 2017. S Robins is employed by NHS Leeds West CCG, and no remuneration is payable by NHS Leeds North CCG
7. “All Pension Related Benefits” is the annual increase in pension entitlement determined in accordance with the method set out in section 229 of the Finance Act 2004
8. There were no redundancies or payments in lieu of notice in 1617											

Diane Hampshire
Petra Morgan
Dr Mark Freeman

Dr Simon Robinson

Peter Myers
Dr Nick Ibbotson

Graham Prestwich

Dr Jason Broch

Lucy Jackson

Dr Manjit Purewal
Clare Linley

Rob Goodyear

Gina Davy

Title

Name

Long-term
Expense Performance Performance
Payments
Pay and
Pay and
Salary (taxable) (to
Bonuses
Bonuses
(bands of the nearest
(bands of
(bands of
£5,000)
£100)
£5,000)
£5,000)

2016-17

91
0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

-

0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5

£'000

45 - 50

30 - 35

30 - 35

15 - 20

-

50 - 55
30 - 35
25 - 30
20 - 25
30 - 35
55 - 60
12.5 - 15

£'000

115 - 120

100 - 105

105 - 110

40 - 45

-

150 - 155
75 - 80
80 - 85
45 - 50
85 - 90
170 - 175
35 - 40

£'000

Lump sum
at pension
age related
to accrued
pension at 31
March 2018
(bands of
£5,000)

714

610

656

210

-

912
520
535
301
490
1,053
192

£'000

* Posts shared between NHS Leeds North CCG (33%), NHS Leeds South and East CCG (33%) and NHS Leeds West CCG (33%)
** Posts shared on population basis between NHS Leeds North CCG (25%), NHS Leeds South and East CCG (31%) and NHS Leeds West CCG (44%)
However, the information included in the table reflects 100% of pension benefits for the shared posts

38

43

51

9

-

70
38
41
12
25
76
8

£'000

Cash Real Increase
Equivalent
in Cash
Transfer
Equivalent
Value at 1st
Transfer
April 2017
Value

1. Reimbursement for P Morgan is paid direct to her employer; Street Lane Practice under a contract of service. The CCG makes no direct pension contributions.
2. Lay Members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of pensions for Lay Members.
3. M Purewal is not a member of the NHS Pension Scheme
4. As A Harris is now receiving an NHS pension, increases in pension benefits cannot be calculated

0

2.5 - 5

2.5 - 5

0

-

5 - 7.5
0
2.5 - 5
0
0 - 2.5
2.5 - 5
0 - 2.5

£'000

Real Increase Total Accrued
Real Increase
in Pension
pension at
in Pension at
Lump Sum pension age
Pension Age
at pension at 31 March
(bands of
age (bands of 2018 (bands
£2,500)
£2,500)
of £5,000)

2017-18

Only Senior Managers for whom contributions are made to a Pension scheme are listed in the table.

Katherine Sheerin

Clare Linley

Martin Wright

Matt Ward

Ex NHS Leeds South and East CCG
Clinical Chief Officer working with
LAHP to 31 July 17 *
West Yorkshire STP Core Team
Member *
Lead Financial Officer - System
Integration **
Lead Nursing Officer - System
Integration to 31 Jan 18 **
Interim Strategy Lead from 11 Dec
2017 **

Accountable Officer *
Chief Finance Officer *
Director of Commissioning *
Medical Director (shared role) *
Director of Nursing and Quality *
Chief Officer - System Integration *
Clinical Chair

Governing Body Members:
Philomena Corrigan
Visseh Pejhan-Sykes
Sue Robins
Dr Simon Stockill
Jo Harding
Nigel Gray
Dr Jason Broch
Other Senior Managers:

Andy Harris

Title

Name

Pension benefits (subject to audit)

763

672

727

234

-

1,012
579
593
328
532
1,158
203

£'000

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31st
March 2018

£'000

Employer's
contribution
to
Stakeholder
Pension

92

Accountable Officer to 31 Mar 17
Chief Financial Officer to 31 Mar 17
Director of Commissioning (New
Models of Care) to 31 Dec 16
Director of Nursing to 31 Mar 17

Nigel Gray
Martin Wright

Clare Linley

Gina Davy

Title

Name

2.5 - 5

0 - 2.5

£'000
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5

7.5 - 10

0 - 2.5

£'000
5 - 7.5
4

30 - 35

10 - 15

£'000
50 - 55
30 - 35

Real Increase Total Accrued
Real Increase
in Pension
pension at
in Pension at
Lump Sum pension age
Pension Age
at pension at 31 March
(bands of
age (bands of 2017 (bands
£2,500)
£2,500)
of £5,000)

2016-17

100 - 105

25 - 30

£'000
160 - 165
100 - 105

Lump sum
at pension
age related
to accrued
pension at 31
March 2017
(bands of
£5,000)

542

116

£'000
979
608

61

13

£'000
56
34

Cash Real Increase
Equivalent
in Cash
Transfer
Equivalent
Value at 1
Transfer
April 2016
Value

Real Increase in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include the increase in accrued pension due to inflation
or contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another pension scheme or arrangement).

The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which
the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member
as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the
guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or
arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension
figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension
scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies.

Cash Equivalent Transfer Values
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member
at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable
beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme.

610

134

£'000
1,053
656

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March 2017

-

-

£'000
-

Employer's
contribution
to
Stakeholder
Pension

Compensation on early retirement or for loss
of office
The CCG did not make any payments for loss of
office in the financial year

Director - Highest paid ratio
Band of highest paid directors
total remuneration (£000's)
Median total remuneration
(£’000s)

Payments to past directors
The CCG did not make any payments to past
directors in the financial year

Ratio

2017-18

2016-17

142.5

142.5

39

35

3.71

4.1

Total remuneration includes salary, nonconsolidated performance-related pay, benefitsin-kind, but not severance payments. It does not
include employer pension contributions and the
cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.

Pay multiples 2017-18
Reporting bodies are required to disclose
the relationship between the remuneration
of the highest-paid director/Member in their
organisation and the median remuneration of
the organisation’s workforce. NHS Leeds North
CCG, NHS Leeds West CCG and NHS Leeds
South and East CCG have established transitional
collaborative management arrangements for the
2017-18 financial year and implemented a joint
management structure with shared employment
arrangements between the three separate
statutory organisations. For staff shared across
the organisations, their remuneration is included
within each CCGs pay multiple calculation.
Changes in the multiple year-on-year reflect these
new arrangements

The individual receiving the highest salary is a
part time employee. The highest paid salary is
calculated by grossing up their part time salary to
full time equivalent.
Senior managers of the CCG paid more than
£150,000 per annum
No senior managers in the CCG are paid more
than £150,000 per annum+

The banded remuneration of the highest paid
director/ member of NHS Leeds North CCG in the
financial year 2017-18 was £140k - £145k (2016-17,
£140k - 145k). This was 3.71 times, (2016-17, 4.1
times) the median remuneration of the workforce,
which was £39k, (2016-17, £35k).
In 2017-18 (and 2016-17) no employees received
remuneration in excess of the highest paid
member of the Board. Remuneration ranged from
a band of £140k - £145k to £5k - £10k, (2016-17,
£140k - £145k to £10k - £15k).

93

94

-

Other post-employment benefits

Other employment benefits

Net employee benefits expenditure excluding
capitalised costs

Less: Employee costs capitalised

Net employee benefits expenditure including
capitalised costs

Less: Recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note
4.1.2)

Gross Employee Benefits Expenditure

2,547

-

2,547

-

2,547

55

3

Apprenticeship Levy

Termination benefits

-

250

Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme

Other pension costs

220

Social security costs

65

-

65

-

65

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

65

£'000

£'000
2,019

Other

Admin
Permanent
Employees

Salaries and wages

Employee benefits and staff numbers

2,612

-

2,612

-

2,612

55

-

-

3

-

250

220

2,084

£'000

Total

611

-

611

-

612

-

-

-

-

-

63

50

499

£'000

Permanent
Employees

295

-

295

-

295

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

295

£'000

Other

Programme

2017-18

907

-

907

-

907

-

-

-

-

-

63

50

794

£'000

Total

3,159

-

3,159

-

3,159

55

-

-

3

-

313

270

2,518

£'000

Permanent
Employees

360

-

360

-

360

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

360

£'000

Other

Total

3,519

-

3,519

-

3,519

55

-

-

3

-

313

270

2,878

£'000

Total

95

-

Other employment benefits

Termination benefits

Net employee benefits expenditure excluding
capitalised costs

Less: Employee costs capitalised

Net employee benefits expenditure including
capitalised costs

Less: Recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note
4.1.2)

2,393

-

2,393

(50)

2,444

-

Other post-employment benefits

Gross Employee Benefits Expenditure

-

Apprenticeship Levy

227

Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme
-

204

Other pension costs

2,012

Social security costs

43

-

43

-

43

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

43

£'000

£'000

Salaries and wages

Other

Permanent
Employees

Admin

2,436

-

2,436

(50)

2,487

-

-

-

-

-

227

204

2,055

£'000

Total

759

-

759

-

759

-

-

-

-

-

80

54

625

£'000

Permanent
Employees

693

-

693

-

693

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

693

£'000

Other

Programme

2016-17

1,452

-

1,452

-

1,452

-

-

-

-

-

80

54

1,318

£'000

Total

3,153

-

3,153

(50)

3,203

-

-

-

-

-

307

258

2,638

£'000

Permanent
Employees

736

-

736

-

736

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

736

£'000

Other

Total

3,888

-

3,888

(50)

3,938

-

-

-

-

-

307

258

3,373

£'000

Total

Average number of people employed
2017-18

2016-17

Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

Number

Number

Number

Number

Number

Number

57

6

63

55

12

67

0

0

0

0

0

0

Total CCG

Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent
people engaged on capital
projects

Off Payroll Engagements
Table 1: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months
For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2018, for more than £245 per day and that last longer
than six months:
2017-18
Number
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2018

7

Of which, the number that have existed:
• For less than one year at the time of reporting

-

• For between one and two years at the time of reporting

2

• For between two and three years at the time of reporting

-

• For between three and four years at the time of reporting

1

• For four or more years at the time of reporting

4
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Table 2: New off-payroll engagements
For all new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between 1 April 2017
and 31 March 2018, for more than £245 per day and that last longer than six months:
Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between 1 April 2017 and 31
March 2018

3

Of which:
No. assessed as caught by IR35

-

No. assessed as not caught by IR35

3

No. engaged directly (via PSC contracted to the CCG) and are on CCG payroll

-

No. of engagement reassessed for consistency/assurance purposes during the year

-

No. of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following the consistency review

-

Table 3: Off-payroll board member/senior official engagements		
For any off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or, senior officials with significant financial
responsibility, between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018.
Number
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officers with significant financial
responsibility, during the financial year.

2

Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been deemed “board members, and/or, senior
officials with significant financial responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure should include both
on payroll and off-payroll engagements.

22
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Consultancy expenditure
During the year, the CCG incurred expenditure totalling £38,796

£

£

£

Cost of special payment
element included in exit
packages

Number of departures
where special payments
have been made

Total cost of exit packages

Cost of other departures
agreed

Number of other
departures agreed

Cost of compulsory
redundancies

Exit package
cost band (inc.
any special
payment
element

Number of
compulsory
redundancies

Table 1: Exit Packages

Total number of exit
packages

Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments
The CCG agreed seven exit packages during 2017-18 (none in 2016-17).

£

Less than
£10,000

-

-

5

8,163

5

8,163

-

-

£10,000 £25,000

-

-

1

15,844

1

15,844

-

-

£25,001 £50,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

£50,001 £100,000

-

-

1

63,068

1

63,068

-

-

£100,001 £150,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

£150,001 £200,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

>£200,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Totals

-

-

7

87,075

7

87,075

-

-

These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year. Severance costs have been paid in
accordance with the provisions of Section 16 of the Agenda for Change Terms and Conditions of Employment Handbook
and/or associated employer obligations. Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at
the latest in full, in the year of departure.
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Table 2: Analysis of Other Departures

Agreements
Number

Total Value of
agreements
£’000

Voluntary redundancies including early retirement contractual costs

-

-

Mutually agreed resignations (MARS) contractual costs

-

-

Early retirements in the efficiency of the service contractual costs

-

-

Contractual payments in lieu of notice

7

87,075

Exit payments following Employment Tribunals or court orders

-

-

Non-contractual payments requiring HMT approval

-

-

TOTAL

7

87,075

The exit packages reported here relate to NHS Leeds North CCG. However they relate to the merger of NHS Leeds North, NHS
Leeds South and East and NHS Leeds West CCGs with effect from 1 April 2018 and contributions have been made by all three
CCGs.
Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the latest in full in the year of departure.
The Remuneration Report includes disclosure of exit packages payable to individuals named in that Report.

Philomena Corrigan
Accountable Officer
23 May 2018

3.5 Parliamentary accountability and audit
report
NHS Leeds North CCG is not required to produce
a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report.
There are no applicable disclosures with regard
to remote contingent liabilities, losses and special
payments, gifts, and fees and charges. An audit
certificate and report is also included in this
annual report.
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4. Independent auditor’s report to the members of the
governing body of NHS Leeds Clinical Commissioning
Group in respect of NHS Leeds North Clinical
Commissioning Group
Report on the audit of the financial
statements

basis of accounting is inappropriate or there is an
undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast
significant doubt over the use of that basis for a
period of at least twelve months from the date
of approval of the financial statements. We have
nothing to report in these respects.

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of NHS
Leeds North Clinical Commissioning Group (“the
CCG”) for the year ended 31 March 2018 which
comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure, Statement of Financial Position,
Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity and
Statement of Cash Flows, and the related notes,
including the accounting policies in note 1.

Other information in the Annual Report
The Accountable Officer is responsible for the
other information presented in the Annual Report
together with the financial statements. Our
opinion on the financial statements does not
cover the other information and, accordingly,
we do not express an audit opinion or, except
as explicitly stated below, any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In our opinion the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the state of the
CCG’s affairs as at 31 March 2018 and of its
income and expenditure for the year then
ended; and

Our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our
financial statements audit work, the information
therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with
the financial statements or our audit knowledge.
Based solely on that work we have not identified
material misstatements in the other information.
In our opinion the other information included
in the Annual Report for the financial year is
consistent with the financial statements.

• have been properly prepared in accordance
with the accounting policies directed by the
NHS Commissioning Board with the consent
of the Secretary of State as being relevant
to CCGs in England and included in the
Department of Health & Social Care Group
Accounting Manual 2017-18.

Basis for opinion

Annual Governance Statement

We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs
(UK)”) and applicable law. Our responsibilities are
described below. We have fulfilled our ethical
responsibilities under, and are independent of the
CCG in accordance with, UK ethical requirements
including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is a
sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

We are required to report to you if the Annual
Governance Statement does not comply with
guidance issued by the NHS Commissioning
Board. We have nothing to report in this respect.

Remuneration and Staff Report
In our opinion the parts of the Remuneration and
Staff Report subject to audit have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Department of
Health & Social Care Group Accounting Manual
2017-18.

Going concern
We are required to report to you if we have
concluded that the use of the going concern
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Accountable Officer’s responsibilities

statements have been applied to the purposes
intended by Parliament and the financial
transactions conform to the authorities which
govern them.

As explained more fully in the statement set
out on page 65, the Accountable Officer is
responsible for: the preparation of financial
statements that give a true and fair view; such
internal control as they determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; assessing the
CCG’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern; and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless they have been informed
by the relevant national body of the intention
to dissolve the CCG without the transfer of its
services to another public sector entity.

Report on the CCG’s arrangements
for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources
Under the Code of Audit Practice we are required
to report to you if the CCG has not made proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources.
We have nothing to report in this respect.
Respective responsibilities in respect of
our review of arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the
use of resources
As explained more fully in the statement set
out on page 65, the Accountable Officer is
responsible for ensuring that the CCG exercises its
functions effectively, efficiently and economically.
We are required under section 21(1)(c) of the
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to
be satisfied that the CCG has made proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources.

Auditor’s responsibilities
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but
does not guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of the financial statements.

We are not required to consider, nor have we
considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in the use of resources are
operating effectively.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is
provided on the FRC’s website at www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities

We have undertaken our review in accordance
with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to
the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller
and Auditor General (C&AG) in November 2017,
as to whether the CCG had proper arrangements
to ensure it took properly informed decisions
and deployed resources to achieve planned and
sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local
people. We planned our work in accordance with
the Code of Audit Practice and related guidance.
Based on our risk assessment, we undertook such
work as we considered necessary.

Report on other legal and regulatory
matters
Opinion on regularity
We are required to report on the following
matters under Section 25(1) of the Local Audit
and Accountability Act 2014.
In our opinion, in all material respects, the
expenditure and income recorded in the financial
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Statutory reporting matters

Certificate of completion of the audit

We are required by Schedule 2 to the Code of
Audit Practice issued by the Comptroller and
Auditor General (‘the Code of Audit Practice’) to
report to you if:

We certify that we have completed the audit
of the accounts of NHS Leeds North CCG in
accordance with the requirements of the Local
Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code
of Audit Practice.

• we refer a matter to the Secretary of State
under section 30 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 because we have
reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer
of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a
decision which involves or would involve the
body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is
about to take, or has begun to take a course
of action which, if followed to its conclusion,
would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or
deficiency; or

Rashpal Khangura
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
1 Sovereign Square
Leeds
LS1 4DA

• we issue a report in the public interest
under section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014; or
• we make a written recommendation to the
CCG under section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014.
We have nothing to report in these respects.

The purpose of our audit work and to
whom we owe our responsibilities
This report is made solely to the Members of the
Governing Body of NHS Leeds CCG, as a body,
in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has
been undertaken so that we might state to the
Members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as
a body, those matters we are required to state
to them in an auditor’s report and for no other
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law,
we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the Members of the Governing
Body, as a body, for our audit work, for this
report or for the opinions we have formed.
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5. Annual accounts
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2018
2017-18

2016-17

Note

£’000

£’000

Income from sale of goods and services

2

(5,293)

(5,714)

Other operating income

2

(64)

(82)

(5,357)

(5,796)

Total operating income
Staff costs

4

3,519

3,938

Purchase of goods and services

5

292,109

280,719

-

-

Provision expense

5

274

315

Other Operating Expenditure

5

100

131

Depreciation and impairment charges

Total operating expenditure

296,002

Net Operating Expenditure

290,645

285,103
279,307

Finance income

-

-

Finance expense

-

-

290,645

279,307

-

-

290,645

279,307

Net expenditure for the year
Net Gain/(Loss) on Transfer by Absorption
Total Net Expenditure for the year
Other Comprehensive Expenditure
Items which will not be reclassified to net operating costs
Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of PPE

-

-

Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of Intangibles

-

-

Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of Financial Assets

-

-

Actuarial (gain)/loss in pension schemes

-

-

Impairments and reversals taken to Revaluation Reserve

-

-

-

-

Items that may be reclassified to Net Operating Costs
Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of available for sale financial assets
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets

-

-

Sub total

-

-

290,645

279,307

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2018
The notes on the following pages form part of this statement.
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2018
Note

2017-18

2016-17

£’000

£’000

Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Investment property
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets

-

-

-

-

Total non-current assets

-

-

854
-

1,643
-

Current assets:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

8

9

84

32

938

1,675

-

-

Total current assets

938

1,675

Total assets

938

1,675

10

(17,144)
-

(17,258)
-

11

(250)

(183)

Total current liabilities

(17,394)

(17,441)

Non-Current Assets less Net Current Liabilities

(16,456)

(15,766)

10

-

-

11

(289)

(307)

(289)

(307)

(16,745)

(16,073)

(16,745)
-

(16,073)
-

-

-

(16,745)

(16,073)

Total current assets
Non-current assets held for sale

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities
Assets less Liabilities
Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Revaluation reserve
Other reserves
Charitable Reserves
Total taxpayers' equity:
The notes on the following pages form part of this statement.

The financial statements on the following pages were approved by the Governing Body on 23 May 2018 and signed on its
behalf by:
Philomena Corrigan
Chief Executive (Accountable Officer)
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers’ Equity for the year ended 31 March 2018
General Revaluation
fund
reserve
£’000
£’000

Other
reserves
£’000

Total
reserves
£’000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18
Balance at 1 April 2017
Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from
closed NHS bodies
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 1
April 2017

(16,073)
-

-

-

(16,073)
-

(16,073)

-

-

(16,073)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’
equity for 2017-18
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(290,645)

-

-

(290,645)

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve

-

-

-

-

Net gain/(loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals
Net actuarial gain/(loss) on pensions
Movements in other reserves
Transfers between reserves
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial
assets
Transfers by absorption to/(from) other bodies
Reserves eliminated on dissolution
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group
Expenditure for the Financial Year

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(290,645)

-

-

(290,645)

289,973

-

-

289,973

(16,745)

-

-

(16,745)

Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2018
The notes on the following pages form part of this statement.
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers’ Equity for the year ended 31 March 2018 (continued)
General Revaluation
fund
reserve
£’000
£’000

Other
reserves
£’000

Total
reserves
£’000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17
Balance at 1 April 2016
Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from
closed NHS bodies
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at
1 April 2016

(12,967)
-

-

-

(12,967)
-

(12,967)

-

-

(12,967)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’
equity for 2016-17
Net operating costs for the financial year

(279,307)

-

-

(279,307)

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve

-

-

-

-

Net gain/(loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals
Net actuarial gain/(loss) on pensions
Movements in other reserves
Transfers between reserves
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale
financial assets
Transfers by absorption to/(from) other bodies
Reserves eliminated on dissolution
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group
Expenditure for the Financial Year

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(279,307)

-

-

(279,307)

276,201

-

-

276,201

(16,073)

-

-

(16,073)

Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2017
The notes on the following pages form part of this statement.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2018
Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments and reversals
Movement due to transfer by Modified Absorption
Other gains/(losses) on foreign exchange
Donated assets received credited to revenue but non-cash
Government granted assets received credited to revenue but non-cash
Interest paid
Release of PFI deferred credit
Other Gains & Losses
Finance Costs
Unwinding of Discounts
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities
Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net Cash Inflow / (Outflow) from Operating Activities

8
10
11
11

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest received
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
(Payments) for intangible assets
(Payments) for investments with the Department of Health
(Payments) for other financial assets
(Payments) for financial assets (LIFT)
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: intangible assets
Proceeds from disposal of investments with the Department of Health
Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets (LIFT)
Loans made in respect of LIFT
Loans repaid in respect of LIFT
Rental revenue
Net Cash Inflow / (Outflow) from Investing Activities
Net Cash Inflow / (Outflow) before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net Funding Received
Other loans received
Other loans repaid
Capital element of payments in respect of finance leases and on Statement of Financial
Position PFI and LIFT
Capital grants and other capital receipts
Capital receipts surrendered
Net Cash Inflow / (Outflow) from Financing Activities
Net Increase / (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

The notes on the following pages form part of this statement.
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2016-17
£’000

(290,645)
789
(114)
(225)
274
(289,921)

(279,307)
(235)
3,107
(80)
315
(276,200)

-

-

(289,921)

(276,200)

289,973
-

276,201
-

-

-

289,973
9

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash equivalents held in foreign
currencies
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year

2017-18
£’000

276,201

52

1

32

31

-

-

84

32

Notes to the financial statements
1 Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of
clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting
requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued
by the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC).
Consequently, the following financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with the Group Accounting
Manual 2017-18 issued by the Department of Health and
Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the Group
Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting
Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and
appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as determined
by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting
Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting Manual
permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting
policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the
particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning group
for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been
selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical
commissioning group are described below. They have
been applied consistently in dealing with items considered
material in relation to the accounts.

1.2 Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical
cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories
and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.
1.3 Acquisitions & Discontinued Operations
Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are
taken on from outside the public sector. Activities are
considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely.
They are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they transfer
from one public sector body to another.
1.4 Movement of Assets within the Department of
Health and Social Care Group
Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for
by use of absorption accounting in line with the Government
Financial Reporting Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The
Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require
retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions (which
have been accounted for under merger accounting) have not
been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities
account for their transactions in the period in which they
took place, with no restatement of performance required
when functions transfer within the public sector. Where
assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting
is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from operating costs.

1.1 Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern
basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns
where the continuation of the provision of a service in the
future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial
provision for that service in published documents.

Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department
of Health and Social Care Group are accounted for in line
with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to income and expenditure
entries.

Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it
considers whether or not its services will continue to be
provided (using the same assets, by another public sector
entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going
concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If services
will continue to be provided the financial statements are
prepared on the going concern basis.

1.5 Pooled Budgets
Where the clinical commissioning group has entered into a
pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National
Health Service Act 2006 the clinical commissioning group
accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and
expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget,
identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.

On the 7th March 2018, NHS England granted the
application for the merger of NHS Leeds West Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG), NHS Leeds South and East
CCG and NHS Leeds North CCG and the related dissolution
of NHS Leeds North CCG in exercise of the power conferred
on it by section 14G of the National Health Service Act
2006, and all other powers exercisable by NHS England.
On the 1st April 2018 NHS Leeds North CCG ceased to exist
and NHS Leeds CCG was established.
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1.7 Revenue

If the clinical commissioning group is in a “jointly controlled
operation”, the clinical commissioning group recognises:

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised
when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is
measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.

• The assets the clinical commissioning group controls;
• The liabilities the clinical commissioning group incurs;

Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be
delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

• The expenses the clinical commissioning group incurs;
and,

1.8 Employee Benefits

• The clinical commissioning group’s share of the income
from the pooled budget activities.

1.8.1 Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are
recognised in the period in which the service is received
from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet
taken.

If the clinical commissioning group is involved in a “jointly
controlled assets” arrangement, in addition to the above,
the clinical commissioning group recognises:
• The clinical commissioning group’s share of the jointly
controlled assets (classified according to the nature of the
assets);

The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the
end of the period is recognised in the financial statements
to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward
leave into the following period.

• The clinical commissioning group’s share of any liabilities
incurred jointly; and,

1.8.2 Retirement Benefit Costs

• The clinical commissioning group’s share of the expenses
jointly incurred.

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions
of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded,
defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General
Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of
the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme
is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS
bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme
assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for
as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the
clinical commissioning group of participating in the scheme
is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme
for the accounting period.

1.6 Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of
Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s
accounting policies, management is required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from those estimates and the estimates and
underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period or in the period of the revision and future periods if
the revision affects both current and future periods.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health
the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the
scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional
costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical
commissioning group commits itself to the retirement,
regardless of the method of payment.

1.6.1 Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting
Policies

Some employees are members of the Local Government
Superannuation Scheme, which is a defined benefit pension
scheme. The scheme assets and liabilities attributable to
those employees can be identified and are recognised in
the clinical commissioning group’s accounts. The assets
are measured at fair value and the liabilities at the present
value of the future obligations. The increase in the liability
arising from pensionable service earned during the year
is recognised within operating expenses. The expected
gain during the year from scheme assets is recognised
within finance income. The interest cost during the year
arising from the unwinding of the discount on the scheme
liabilities is recognised within finance costs. Actuarial gains
and losses during the year are recognised in the General
Reserve and reported as an item of other comprehensive
net expenditure.

Where critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations that management has made in the process of
applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting
policies that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements, details are
provided in the relevant notes to the accounts.
1.6.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
Where key estimations that management has made in the
process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial statements, details
are provided in the relevant notes to the accounts.
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1.9 Other Expenses

1.12 Inventories

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the
extent that, the goods or services have been received. They
are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised
when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal
or constructive obligation, which occurs when all of the
conditions attached to the payment have been met.

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial
institution repayable without penalty on notice of not
more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that
mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with
insignificant risk of change in value.

1.13 Cash & Cash Equivalents

1.10 Government Grants
The value of assets received by means of a government
grant are credited directly to income. Deferred income is
recognised only where conditions attached to the grant
preclude immediate recognition of the gain.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents
are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and that form an integral part of the clinical
commissioning group’s cash management.

1.11 Leases

1.14 Provisions

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning
group has a present legal or constructive obligation as
a result of a past event, it is probable that the clinical
commissioning group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a
provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to
settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate
as follows:

1.11.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases
are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair
value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease
payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation
to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between
finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so
as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining
balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised
in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/
deficit.

• Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive):
Minus 2.42% (2016-17: minus 2.70%)

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives
are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a
reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

• Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive):
Minus 1.85% (2016-17: minus 1.95%)
• Timing of cash flows (over 10 years):
Minus 1.56% (2016-17: minus 0.80%)

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the
period in which they are incurred.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursements will be received and the
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and
building components are separated and individually
assessed as to whether they are operating or finance leases.
1.11.2 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessor

A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical
commissioning group has developed a detailed formal plan
for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation
in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring
by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main
features to those affected by it. The measurement of a
restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures
arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts
that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and
not associated with on-going activities of the entity.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recorded as receivables at the amount of the clinical
commissioning group’s net investment in the leases. Finance
lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to
reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the clinical
commissioning group’s net investment outstanding in
respect of the leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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1.15 Clinical Negligence Costs

Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are
disclosed at their present value.

NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under
which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual
contribution to NHS Resolution which in return settles all
clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to
expenditure. Although NHS Resolution is administratively
responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability
remains with the clinical commissioning group.

1.20 Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical
commissioning group becomes party to the financial
instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when
the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets
are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or
the asset has been transferred.

1.16 Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the
Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third
Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under
which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual
contribution to NHS Resolution and, in return, receives
assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual
membership contributions, and any excesses payable
in respect of particular claims are charged to operating
expenses as and when they become due.

Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
• Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
• Held to maturity investments;
• Available for sale financial assets; and,
• Loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of
the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial
recognition.

1.17 Continuing Healthcare Risk Pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme was introduced by NHS
England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim
periods prior to 31 March 2013. Under the scheme clinical
commissioning groups contribute annually to a pooled
fund, which is used to settle the claims.

1.20.1 Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and
Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and
characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with
embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot be
ascertained, are treated as financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any
resultant gain or loss recognised in calculating the clinical
commissioning group’s surplus or deficit for the year. The net
gain or loss incorporates any interest earned on the financial
asset.

1.18 Carbon Reduction Commitment Scheme
Carbon Reduction Commitment and similar allowances
are accounted for as government grant funded intangible
assets if they are not expected to be realised within twelve
months, and otherwise as other current assets. They are
valued at open market value. As the clinical commissioning
group makes emissions, a provision is recognised with an
offsetting transfer from deferred income. The provision is
settled on surrender of the allowances. The asset, provision
and deferred income amounts are valued at fair value at the
end of the reporting period.

1.20.2 Held to Maturity Assets
Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturity, and there is a positive intention and ability to
hold to maturity. After initial recognition, they are held at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest
method.

1.19 Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the
clinical commissioning group, or a present obligation that
is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment
will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of
the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A
contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a
payment is remote.

1.20.3 Available For Sale Financial Assets
Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial
assets that are designated as available for sale or that
do not fall within any of the other three financial asset
classifications. They are measured at fair value with changes
in value taken to the revaluation reserve, with the exception
of impairment losses. Accumulated gains or losses are
recycled to surplus/deficit on de-recognition.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from
past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the clinical
commissioning group. A contingent asset is disclosed where
an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

1.20.4 Loans & Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an
active market. After initial recognition, they are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest
method.
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Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market
prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.

1.21.2 Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit
and Loss

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset, to the initial fair value of the financial
asset.

Embedded derivatives that have different risks and
characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with
embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot be
ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any
resultant gain or loss recognised in the clinical commissioning
group’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any
interest payable on the financial liability.

At the end of the reporting period, the clinical
commissioning group assesses whether any financial
assets, other than those held at ‘fair value through profit
and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and
impairment losses recognised if there is objective evidence
of impairment as a result of one or more events which
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which
has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
asset.

1.21.3 Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, except for loans from Department of Health and
Social Care, which are carried at historic cost. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the
net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is
recognised using the effective interest method.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of
the impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original
effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in expenditure
and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through a
provision for impairment of receivables.

1.22 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are
outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does
not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable.
Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure
category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of
fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input tax is
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount
of the receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.

1.23 Foreign Currencies
The clinical commissioning group’s functional currency and
presentational currency is sterling. Transactions denominated
in a foreign currency are translated into sterling at the
exchange rate ruling on the dates of the transactions. At the
end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the spot exchange rate
on 31 March. Resulting exchange gains and losses for either
of these are recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s
surplus/deficit in the period in which they arise.

1.21 Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of
financial position when the clinical commissioning group
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial
instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the
goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are
de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that
is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

1.24 Losses & Special Payments

1.21.1 Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would
not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health
service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items
that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to
special control procedures compared with the generality of
payments. They are divided into different categories, which
govern the way that individual cases are handled.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently
measured at the higher of:
• The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the
guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and,
• The amount of the obligation under the contract, as
determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant
functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis,
including losses which would have been made good through
insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not
been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then
being included as normal revenue expenditure).
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1.25 Joint Operations
Joint operations are activities undertaken by the clinical
commissioning group in conjunction with one or more
other parties but which are not performed through a
separate entity. The clinical commissioning group records
its share of the income and expenditure; gains and losses;
assets and liabilities; and cash flows.
1.26 Research & Development
Research and development expenditure is charged in the
year in which it is incurred, except insofar as development
expenditure relates to a clearly defined project and the
benefits of it can reasonably be regarded as assured.
Expenditure so deferred is limited to the value of future
benefits expected and is amortised through the Statement
of Comprehensive Net Expenditure on a systematic
basis over the period expected to benefit from the
project. It should be re-valued on the basis of current
cost. The amortisation is calculated on the same basis as
depreciation.
1.27 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But
Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The DHSC Group Accounting Manual does not require
the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied
in 2017-18. These standards are still subject to Financial
Reporting Manual (FReM) adoption and early adoption is
not therefore permitted.
• IFRS 9: Financial Instruments
(application from 1 January 2018)
• IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts
(not applicable to DHSC group bodies)
• IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(application from 1 January 2018)
• IFRS 16: Leases
(application from 1 January 2019)
• IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts
(application from 1 January 2021)
• IFRIC 22: Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration
(application from 1 January 2018)
• IFRIC 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
(application from 1 January 2019)
The application of the Standards as revised would not have
a material impact on the accounts for 2017-18, were they
applied in that year.
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2 Other Operating Revenue
2017-18

2016-17

£’000

£’000
Restated

5,293
64
5,357

50
5,714
32
5,796

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Patient transport services
Prescription fees and charges
Dental fees and charges
Education, training and research
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: NHS
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: non-NHS
Receipt of donations for capital acquisitions: NHS Charity
Receipt of Government grants for capital acquisitions
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Continuing Health Care risk pool contributions
Income generation
Rental revenue from finance leases
Rental revenue from operating leases
Non cash apprenticeship training grants revenue
Other revenue
Total other operating revenue
The comparative figures have been restated in line with NHS England reporting guidelines.

NHS Leeds CCGs Collaborative Arrangements
Collaborative arrangements exist between NHS Leeds North CCG, NHS Leeds South and East CCG and NHS Leeds West CCG
(the Leeds CCGs) whereby each CCG leads on an area of commissioning on behalf of all the CCGs:
• NHS Leeds South and East CCG leads on continuing health care, children's and community services;
• NHS Leeds West CCG leads on acute services; and
• NHS Leeds North CCG leads on mental health and urgent care.
Recharges in relation to the collaborative arrangements across the three Leeds CCGs are classified as “Non-patient care
services to other bodies”.
For the 2017-18 financial year the Leeds CCGs have established transitional collaborative management arrangements and
implemented a joint management structure with shared employment arrangements between the three separate statutory
organisations. Costs are shared between the three organisations on the following basis:
• Executive director appointments to joint governance and committee in common arrangements – equal split basis (1/3 each);
• All other posts within the shared management structure - weighted capitation split (25.18% Leeds North CCG,
31.39% Leeds South and East CCG and 43.43% Leeds West CCG); and
• Non pay running cost expenditure (with the exception of external audit fees which are charged to the specific CCG to which
they relate) - weighted capitation split.
All related transactions are actioned on a net accounting basis.

3 Revenue

From rendering of services
From sale of goods
Total
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2017-18
Total

2016-17
Total

£'000
5,330
27
5,357

£'000
5,707
89
5,796

4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1.1 Employee benefits

Total

2017-18
Permanent
Employees

Other

Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship Levy
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

£’000
2,878
270
313
3
55
3,519

£’000
2,518
270
313
3
55
3,159

£’000
360
360

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Net employee benefits including capitalised costs

3,519

3,159

360

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

3,519

3,159

360

Total

2016-17
Permanent
Employees

Other

Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship Levy
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

£’000
3,373
258
307
3,938

£’000
2,638
258
307
3,203

£’000
736
736

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Net employee benefits including capitalised costs

(50)
3,888

(50)
3,153

736

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

3,888

3,153

736
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4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits

Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme
Other pension costs
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Total recoveries in respect of employee benefits

Total

2017-18
Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

£’000
-

£’000
-

£’000
-

£’000
(40)
(4)
(6)
(50)

2016-17

Expenditure in the note above is reflective of the collaborative management arrangements described in note 2.
4.2 Average number of people employed

Total

Total

2017-18
Permanently
employed

Other

Total

Number

Number

Number

Number

63

57

6

67

-

-

-

-

2016-17

Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people
engaged on capital projects
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4.3 Exit packages agreed in the financial year
2017-18
Other agreed departures

Compulsory redundancies
Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£100,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Over £200,001
Total

Number
-

£
-

Number
-

Total

£
8,163
15,844
63,068
87,075

2016-17
Other agreed departures

Compulsory redundancies
Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£100,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Over £200,001
Total

Number
5
1
1
7

£
-

Number
-

Number
-
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£
8,163
15,844
63,068
87,075

Total
£
-

2017-18
Departures where special
payments have been made
Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£100,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Over £200,001
Total

Number
5
1
1
7

£
-

Number
-

£
-

2016-17
Departures where special
payments have been made
Number
-

£
-

4.3 Exit packages agreed in the financial year (continued)
Analysis of Other Agreed Departures
2017-18
Other agreed departures

2016-17
Other agreed departures

Number

£

Number

£

Voluntary redundancies including early retirement contractual costs

-

-

-

-

Mutually agreed resignations (MARS) contractual costs

-

-

-

-

Early retirements in the efficiency of the service contractual costs

-

-

-

-

Contractual payments in lieu of notice

7

87,075

-

-

Exit payments following Employment Tribunals or court orders

-

-

-

-

Non-contractual payments requiring HMT approval

-

-

-

-

Total

7

87,075

-

-

These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year. Severance costs have been paid in
accordance with the provisions of Section 16 of the Agenda for Change Terms and Conditions of Employment Handbook
and/or associated employer obligations. Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at
the latest in full, in the year of departure.
The exit packages reported here relate to Leeds North CCG. However they relate to the merger of Leeds North, Leeds South
and East and Leeds West CCGs with effect from 1st April 2018 and contributions have been made by all three CCGs.
The Remuneration Report includes the disclosure of exit payments payable to individuals named in that Report.

4.4 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions
of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits
payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS
Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.

4.4.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by
the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s
Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This
utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting
period in conjunction with updated membership and
financial data for the current reporting period, and is
accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial
reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability
as at 31 March 2018, is based on valuation data as at
31 March 2017, updated to 31 March 2018 with summary
global member and accounting data. In undertaking this
actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS
19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate
prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.

Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover
NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed
under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and
Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would
enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying
scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a
defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body
of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the
contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting
period.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is
contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms
part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These
accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and
are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from
The Stationery Office.

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised
in the financial statements do not differ materially from
those that would be determined at the reporting date by
a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the
period between formal valuations shall be four years, with
approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline
of these follows:

4.4.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability
in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking
into account recent demographic experience), and to
recommend contribution rates payable by employees and
employers.
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4.4 Pension costs (continued)
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the
NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending
31 March 2012. The Scheme Regulations allow for the
level of contribution rates to be changed by the Secretary
of State for Health, with the consent of HM Treasury,
and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary
and employee and employer representatives as deemed
appropriate.
The next actuarial valuation is to be carried out as at
31 March 2016 and is currently being prepared. The
direction assumptions are published by HM Treasury which
are used to complete the valuation calculations, from which
the final valuation report can be signed off by the scheme
actuary. This will set the employer contribution rate payable
from April 2019 and will consider the cost of the Scheme
relative to the employer cost cap.
There are provisions in the Public Service Pension Act 2013
to adjust member benefits or contribution rates if the cost
of the Scheme changes by more than 2% of pay. Subject to
this ‘employer cost cap’ assessment, any required revisions
to member benefits or contribution rates will be determined
by the Secretary of State for Health after consultation with
the relevant stakeholders.
For 2017-18, employers’ contributions of £313k were
payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2016-17: £307k)
at the rate of 14.38% of pensionable pay. The scheme’s
actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every
four years and now based on HMT Valuation Directions,
following a full scheme valuation. The latest review used
data from 31 March 2012 and was published on the
Government website on 9 June 2012. These costs are
included in the NHS pension line of note 4.1.1.
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5. Operating expenses
2017-18
£’000

2016-17
£’000
Restated

3,175
344
3,519

3,320
618
3,938

17,498
52,303
133,486
27,284
96
31
937
39
1,432
7
229
-

17,132
48,726
123,176
29,665
99
26
883
12
833
10
142
-

45

54

29,917
28,675
114
15
97
274
4

1
32,066
27,468
96
31
103
315
326
1

Total other costs

292,483

281,165

Total operating expenses

296,002

285,103

Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits
Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Sustainability Transformation Fund
Services from other WGA bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Purchase of social care
Chair and Non Executive Members
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Impairments and reversals of receivables
Inventories written down and consumed
Depreciation
Amortisation
Impairments and reversals of property, plant and equipment
Impairments and reversals of intangible assets
Impairments and reversals of financial assets
• Assets carried at amortised cost
• Assets carried at cost
• Available for sale financial assets
Impairments and reversals of non-current assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals of investment properties
Audit fees
Other non statutory audit expenditure
• Internal audit services
• Other services
General dental services and personal dental services
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
General ophthalmic services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Other professional fees excl. audit
Legal fees
Grants to Other bodies
Clinical negligence
Research and development (excluding staff costs)
Education and training
Change in discount rate
Provisions
Funding to group bodies
CHC Risk Pool contributions
Non cash apprenticeship training grants
Other expenditure

The comparative figures have been restated to show local council expenditure within purchase of healthcare from
non-NHS bodies in line with NHS England reporting guidelines.
Expenditure in this note is reflective of the collaborative arrangements described in note 2.
Of the Audit fees disclosed above, £42.6k relates to the 2017-18 audit.
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6 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

2017-18

2016-17

Number

£’000

Number

£’000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

4,492
4,425
98.5%

61,554
61,352
99.7%

4,652
4,535
97.5%

61,817
61,288
99.1%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

2,458
2,452
99.8%

203,860
203,854
100.0%

2,779
2,765
99.5%

191,900
191,776
99.9%

7 Operating Leases
7.1 As lessee
The CCG vacated property leased and managed by NHS Property Services Ltd in December 2017.
There are no future commitments due.
7.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
Land

2017-18
Buildings
Other

Total

Land

2016-17
Buildings
Other

Total

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

Payments recognised
as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Contingent rents
Sub-lease payments

-

88
-

7
-

95
-

-

34
-

2
-

36
-

Total

-

88

7

95

-

34

2

36

2016-17
Buildings
Other
£’000
£’000

Total
£’000

Expenditure in the note above is reflective of the collaborative arrangements described in note 2.
7.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
Land
£’000

2017-18
Buildings
Other
£’000
£’000

Total
£’000

Land
£’000

Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five
years
After five years

-

-

-

-

-

-

1
-

1
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total

-

-

-

-

-

-

1

1

As a result of the merger of the Leeds CCGs, the CCG has relocated in the year to premises leased by NHS Leeds West CCG.
In 2017-18 the future minimum lease payments for this building have been disclosed in the accounts for NHS Leeds West CCG.
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8 Trade and other receivables
2017-18
Current
£’000

2016-17
Current
£’000

55
570
172
1
10
46

792
691
93
4
59

-

-

1
854

4
1,643

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS receivables: Capital
NHS prepayments
NHS accrued income
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Capital
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income
Provision for the impairment of receivables
VAT
Private finance initiative and other public private partnership arrangement prepayments and
accrued income
Interest receivables
Finance lease receivables
Operating lease receivables
Other receivables and accruals
Total Trade & other receivables
As at 31 March 2018 there were no non-current trade and other receivables (none as at 31 March 2017).
There are no prepaid pensions contributions.
The great majority of trade is within the DHSC Group. No credit scoring of them is considered necessary.
8.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

2017-18
DHSC Group
Non DHSC
Bodies
Group Bodies

2016-17
All receivables
prior years

£’000

£’000

£’000

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months

51
1
-

-

49
4
6

Total

52

-

59

None of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.
The Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 2018
(none at 31 March 2017).
8.2 Provision for impairment of receivables
The clinical commissioning group has no provision for impairment of receivables as at 31 March 2018 (nil as at 31 March 2017).
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9 Cash and cash equivalents

Balance at 1 April 2017
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2018

2017-18
£’000
32
52
84

2016-17
£’000
31
1
32

84
84

32
32

-

-

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash with Commercial banks
Cash in hand
Current investments
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position
Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service
Bank overdraft: Commercial banks
Total bank overdrafts
Balance at 31 March 2018

84

32

10 Trade and other payables
2017-18
Current
£’000
Interest payable
NHS payables: revenue
NHS payables: capital
NHS accruals
NHS deferred income
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Capital
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred income
Social security costs
VAT
Tax
Payments received on account
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

882
1,297
1,988
12,526
43
39
369
17,144

As at 31 March 2018 there were no non-current trade and other payables (none as at 31 March 2017).
Other payables include £344k outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2018 (£300k at 31 March 2017).
Included in the note above are balances which are reflective of the collaborative arrangements described in note 2.
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2016-17
Current
£’000
369
1,254
713
14,331
36
34
521
17,258

11 Provisions
2017-18
Current
£’000
185
65
250

Pensions relating to former directors
Pensions relating to other staff
Restructuring
Redundancy
Agenda for change
Equal pay
Legal claims
Continuing care
Other
Total
Total current and non-current

2016-17

Non-current
£’000
289
289

539

Current

Non-current

£’000
183
183

£’000
307
307

490
Continuing
Care

Other

Total

£’000

£’000

£’000

490

-

490

488
(225)
(279)
-

65
-

553
(225)
(279)
-

Balance at 31 March 2018

474

65

Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Balance at 31 March 2018

185
289
474

65
65

Balance at 1 April 2017
Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Unwinding of discount
Change in discount rate
Transfer (to)/from other public sector body
Transfer (to)/from other public sector body under absorption

539

250
289
539

The Continuing Care provision relates to potential costs for continuing care case reviews, where the uncertainty and timings
relate to outcomes of the individual case reviews.
Other provisions relate to the following:
Current
£65k relates to HMRC’s ongoing review of supplies made under the Lead Provider Framework agreements.
Non Current
Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible for accounting
for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims relating to periods of care before the establishment of clinical
commissioning groups. However, the legal liability remains with the CCG. The total value of legacy NHS Continuing Healthcare
provisions accounted for by NHS England on behalf of this CCG at 31 March 2018 is £14k (31 March 2017: £231k).
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12 Other financial commitments
The CCG has entered into non-cancellable contracts (which are not leases, private finance initiative contracts or other service
concession arrangements) which expire as follows:
2017-18
£’000
2,217
195
2,412

In not more than one year
In more than one year but not more than five years
In more than five years
Total

2016-17
£’000
1,074
1,074

13 Financial instruments
13.1 Financial risk management

13.1.2 Interest rate risk

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of
the role that financial instruments have had during the
period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in
undertaking its activities.

The clinical commissioning group borrows from government
for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed
by NHS England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in
line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is
charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life
of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has
low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

Because the clinical commissioning group is financed
through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the
degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also,
financial instruments play a much more limited role in
creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed
companies, to which the financial reporting standards
mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has
limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and
financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day
operational activities rather than being held to change the
risks facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking
its activities.

13.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the clinical commissioning group’s
revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the clinical
commissioning group has low exposure to credit risk. The
maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are
in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and
other receivables note.
13.1.4 Liquidity risk
The clinical commissioning group is required to operate
within revenue and capital resource limits, which are
financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The
clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover
expenditure, as the need arises. The clinical commissioning
group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the
finance department, within parameters defined formally
within the clinical commissioning group standing financial
instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body.
Treasury activity is subject to review by the clinical
commissioning group and internal auditors.
13.1.1 Currency risk
The clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic
organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets
and liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The
clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations.
The clinical commissioning group therefore has low
exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
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13 Financial instruments (continued)
13.2 Financial assets
2017-18
At ‘fair value
through profit
and loss’

Loans and
Receivables

Available for Sale

Total

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

Embedded derivatives
Receivables:

-

-

-

-

• NHS
• Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2018

-

228
11
84
1
324

-

228
11
84
1
324

2016-17
At ‘fair value
through profit
and loss’
£’000

Loans and
Receivables
£’000

Available for Sale
£’000

Total
£’000

-

-

-

-

-

885
4
32
4
925

-

885
4
32
4
925

At ‘fair value
through profit
and loss’

Other

Total

£’000

£’000

£’000

-

-

-

-

2,179
14,883

2,179
14,883

-

-

-

-

17,062

17,062

Embedded derivatives
Receivables:
• NHS
• Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2017
13.3 Financial liabilities

2017-18

Embedded derivatives
Payables:
• NHS
• Non-NHS
Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease
obligations
Other borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2018

2016-17
At ‘fair value
through profit
and loss’

Other

Total

£’000

£’000

£’000

-

-

-

-

1,624
15,564

1,624
15,564

-

-

-

-

17,188

17,188

Embedded derivatives
Payables:
• NHS
• Non-NHS
Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease
obligations
Other borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2017
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14 Operating segments
The CCG considers that it has only one operating segment: commissioning of healthcare services.

15 Pooled budgets
The CCG has entered into pooled budget arrangements with Leeds City Council and the other two Leeds CCGs (NHS Leeds
South & East CCG and NHS Leeds West CCG). The Pools are hosted by either one of the CCGs or Leeds City Council. Under the
arrangement funds are pooled under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006 for the Better Care Fund.
The contributions made by NHS Leeds North CCG in the financial year are as follows:
Pooled Budget Fund 1 CCG Hosted s75 Agreements
Income
Expenditure
Pooled Budget Fund 2 Leeds City Council Hosted s75 Agreements
Income
Expenditure

2017-18
£’000
5,213
(5,213)

2016-17
£’000
5,011
(5,011)

2017-18
£’000
5,730
(5,730)

2016-17
£’000
5,717
(5,717)

As part of the initial development of the Better Care Fund (BCF) in Leeds, a Partnership Agreement with Leeds City Council
and the other two Leeds CCGs has been put in place that describes the commissioning arrangements for a range of health
and social care services.
The 2 funds are hosted by either Leeds City Council or one of the Leeds CCGs. The BCF Partnership Agreement is based on
the national template developed by NHS England and Bevan Brittan.
All funds are overseen by a joint BCF Partnership Board. A summary is tabled below:

Fund 1 CCG Hosted s75 Agreements
Fund 2 Council Hosted s75 Agreements
Total

Fund 1 CCG Hosted s75 Agreements
Fund 2 Council Hosted s75 Agreements
Total

Leeds South
& East CCG

Leeds
West CCG

Contributions
Leeds
North CCG

Leeds City
Council

£’000
7,891
7,328
15,219

£’000
8,724
8,844
17,568

£’000
5,213
5,730
10,943

£’000
9,077
9,077

Leeds South
& East CCG

Leeds
West CCG

Expenditure
Leeds
North CCG

Leeds City
Council

£’000
7,891
7,328
15,219

£’000
8,724
8,844
17,568

£’000
5,213
5,730
10,943

£’000
9,077
9,077

Total
£’000
21,828
30,979
52,807

Total
£’000
21,828
30,979
52,807

£16.2m was paid as a whole of Leeds direct grant, to the local authority during 2017-18 as determined by the 2017 Spring
Budget in relation to an increased allocation to the Improved Better Care Fund (IBCF). This was not included in the BCF Section
75 agreement between the local authority and the CCG during 2017-18 and therefore is not included in the above figures.
A further £7.5m, relating to non-elective admissions, also forms part of the BCF but is not included in the Section 75 agreement
and is therefore also excluded from the above figures.
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16 Related party transactions
During the year the following key individuals of the CCG were either related to, or were themselves members of medical
practices or other organisations with which the CCG had material transactions concerning the provision of medical services
and the purchase of healthcare. The total value of transactions with these organisations are listed below:

Payments to Receipts from
Related Party Related Party

Amounts
owed to
Related Party

Amounts
due from
Related Party

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

1,290
16,532
2,081
11,579
682
70

2,348
2,408
396
-

1
71
1,545
24
-

103
-

1,564
213
1,940
616

-

77
74
42

-

548
654
1,795
473
629
2,578
1,255
810
1,852
1,443
496
535
1,395
1,186
669
793
893
460
766
792
1,114

-

33
28
81
55
24
154
103
29
121
71
24
27
480
86
22
34
33
21
52
41
38

-

Entities related to collaborative governing body (GB)
members or senior managers:
NHS Leeds West CCG - All joint GB members
NHS Leeds South & East CCG - All joint GB members
North Leeds Medical Practice - Manjit Purewal
Leeds City Council - Ian Cameron
St Gemma's Hospice - Chris Schofield
Leodis Care Ltd - Andy Harris
Other entities related to NHS Leeds North CCG governing
body members or senior managers:
Street Lane Practice - Petra Morgan
Enhance Primary Healthcare Ltd - Petra Morgan
Oakwood Lane Medical Practice - Jason Broch
The Surgery (Wetherby) - Nick Ibbotson
The CCG also had transactions and balances with its
member practices as follows:
Aireborough Family Practice
Allerton Medical Centre
Alwoodley Medical Centre
Bramham Medical Centre
Chapeltown Family Surgery
Chevin Medical Practice
Church View Surgery
Foundry Lane Surgery
Meanwood Health Centre
New Medical Centre
Newton Surgery
Oakwood Surgery
One Medicare LLP
Rutland Lodge Medical Centre
Shadwell Medical Centre
Spa Surgery
St Martins Practice
The Avenue Surgery
Westfield Medical Centre
Westgate Surgery
Woodhouse Health Centre
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16 Related party transactions (continued)
The DHSC is regarded as a related party. During the year the CCG has had a significant number of material transactions with
entities for which the Department is regarded as the parental Department. These entities are listed below:
• NHS England
• NHS North of England CSU
• Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust
• Mid Yorkshire Hospitals NHS Trust
• Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust
• Bradford Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
• Leeds and York Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
• Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust
• Yorkshire Ambulance Service NHS Trust
• Tees Esk & Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust
• York Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

17 Events after the end of the reporting period
There are no adjusting post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements of the clinical
commissioning group (£nil in 2016-17).
On the 7th March 2018, NHS England granted the application for the merger of NHS Leeds West Clinical Commissioning Group
(CCG), NHS Leeds South and East CCG and NHS Leeds North CCG and the related dissolution of NHS Leeds North CCG in
exercise of the power conferred on it by section 14G of the National Health Service Act 2006, and all other powers exercisable
by NHS England.
On the 1st April 2018 NHS Leeds North CCG ceased to exist, NHS Leeds CCG was established and the Staff Transfer Scheme
and Property Transfer Scheme for NHS Leeds North CCG took effect and the following transfers were made to NHS Leeds CCG:
2017-18
£’000
938
(17,394)
(289)
(16,745)

Total Assets
Total Current Liabilities
Total Non Current Liabilities
Total Taxpayers’ Equity
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18 Losses and special payments
18.1 Losses
The total number of losses and special payments cases, and their total value, was as follows:

Administrative write-offs
Fruitless payments
Store losses
Book Keeping Losses
Constructive loss
Cash losses
Claims abandoned
Total

Total Number
of Cases
Number
1
1

2017-18
Total Value
of Cases
£’000
4
4

Total Number
of Cases
Number
-

2016-17
Total Value
of Cases
£’000
-

Total Number
of Cases
Number
-

2017-18
Total Value
of Cases
£’000
-

Total Number
of Cases
Number
1
1

2016-17
Total Value
of Cases
£’000
1
1

18.2 Special payments

Compensation payments
Extra contractual Payments
Ex gratia payments
Extra statutory extra regulatory payments
Special severance payments
Total

Expenditure in the note above is reflective of the collaborative management arrangements described in note 2.

19 Financial performance targets
NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
The CCG’s performance against those duties was as follows:
2017-18

2016-17

Target
£’000

Performance
£’000

Target
£’000

Performance
£’000

297,659

296,002

293,657

285,103

-

-

-

-

292,302

290,645

287,861

279,307

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does
not exceed the amount specified in Directions

-

-

-

-

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does
not exceed the amount specified in Directions

-

-

-

-

4,396

4,023

4,383

3,604

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the
amount specified in Directions

Revenue administration resource use does not
exceed the amount specified in Directions

In 2017-18 the CCG has moved to in-year reporting as required by NHS England, therefore the CCG Allocation Directions only
make reference to in year allocations as opposed to in year allocations plus accumulated surplus (as in 2016-17 and earlier).
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